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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2014

The directors present their annual report tagether with the Strategec report and the financial statements of Aptiv Solutions
(UK) Limited ('the company') for the year ended 31 December 2014

Statement of directors' responsibilities

The directars are responsible for preparing the Directors' report, the Strategic report and the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice {Umted Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the directors must not approve
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of the profit or loss of the company for that perrod  In prepaning these financial statements, the directors are required
to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
. state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal departures

disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s Inappropnate to presume that the company
will continue in business

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient 1o show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregulanties

Results

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £1,385,000 (2013 - £NIL)
Directors

The directors who served dunng the year were as follows

C Belcher

C Nowell

M Gleeson (appointed 7 May 2014)

S Holmes (appointed 7 May 2014)

D Cunningham {appomnted 7 May 2014}
N Murphy (appointed 7 May 2014, resigned 31 October 2014}
J A Devhin (resigned 31 January 2014)
P Birch {resigned 7 May 2014)

P Donnelly {resigned 7 May 2014)

D Black {resigned 7 May 2014)

M Bond (resigned 31 May 2014)

A Weston (resigned 31 May 2014)

L Goodman (resigned 7 May 2014)
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Directors’ report
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Disclosure of information to auditor

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Directors' report ts approved has confirmed that

. so far as that director 1s aware, there (s no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor 1s unaware,
and

. that director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a drector in arder to be aware of any relevant
audit Information and to establish that the company’s auditor 1s aware of that information

This report was approved by the board on 3,“‘ Sae'ruhr 20!5 and signed on its beha'f

M Gleeson

Director
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Strategic report
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Principal activities
The Company's prncipal activities are the provision of clinical tnal services to the pharmaceutical industry
Business review

Effective 7th May 2014, Aptiv Solutions Inc, Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited's ultmate parent was acquired by the ICON group
This has increased the level of qualified professional, scientfic and technical operating staff available to the company,
leaving the company better placed to compete in the global CRO marketplace

Principal risks and uncertainties

The management of the business and the execution of the Company's strategy are subject to a number of nsks  Whilst the
Climcal Research business sector remains buoyant, the management team are aware that the market could be influenced
by any detenoration of the funding climate for biotech and smaller pharmaceutical companies, and the knack on effect of
their ability to start or maintain clinical tnals and management have taken appropnate steps to mitigate these nsks As a |
globat CRO, Aptiv Solutions 1s iImpacted by any changes in health regulations, that may affect the uncertainty and cost for

drug development programmes

Financial key performance indicators

The Key Performance Indicators (KPIs') of the company are fee sales and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, and
amaortisation (EBITDA")

Year ended 31 Year ended 31

December 2014 December 2013
£ £
Fee sales 11,581,000 12,614,000
EBITDA 794,000 234,000

Thss report was approved by the board on ?;otk ST\“’ 20\( and signed on its behalf

(el G~

M Gleeson
Director
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Buzzacott

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited
for the year ended 31 December 2014

We have audited the financia! statements of Aptiv Soluttons (UK) Limited for the year ended 31 December 2014, which
compnse the Profit and loss account, the Balance sheet and the related notes The finanwal reporting framework that has
been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice)

This report 1s made solely to the company's members, as a body, In accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies
Act 2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those matters we are
required to state to thern in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit
work, for this repont, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilittes set out in the directors’ repart, the directors are

responsible for the preparation of the financizl statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Our |
responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and Intematonal Standards on Auditing |
(UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's {(APB's) Ethical Standards for

Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements I1s provided on the Financial Reporting Council's website at
www frc org uk/auditscopeukprivate

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements

. give a true and fair view of the state of the company's affairs as at 31 December 2014 and of its result for the year
then ended,

. have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Opimion on other matter prescrbed by the Companies Act 2006 |

In our opimion the information given in the Directors' report and the Strategic report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared 15 consistent with the financial statements
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Buzzacott

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS

Independent auditor's report to the shareholders of Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing te report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you If,
in our opinion

. adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by us, or

. the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and retumns, or

. certamn disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made, or

. we have not received all the infermation and explanations we require for our audit

S

Mark Wo (Senior statutory auditor)
for and on behalf of

Buzzacoft LLP

Statutory Auditor

130 Wood Street

London

EC2V 6DL

Date ’& S =z s 5“7:-2 ‘g-’
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Profit and loss account
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Turmover
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Selling expenses

Administrative expenses

Profit on ordinary activities before taxation
Tax on profit on ordinary activities

Profit for the financial year

All amounts relate to continuing gperations

Note

1.2

15

2014 2013
£000 £000
11,581 12,614
(5,269) (6,104)
6,322 6,510
(911) (1,261)
(4,879) (5,249)
532 -
853 -
1,385 .

There were no recognised gains and losses for 2014 or 2013 other than those induded in the Profit and loss account.

The notes on pages 8 to 16 form part of these financal statements
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited - Registered number 03735819
Balance sheet
as at 31 December 2014
2014 2013
Note £000 £000 £000 £000
Fixed assets
Intangible assets ] 269 342
Tangible assets 9 114 357
Investments 10 - -
333 699
Current assets
Debtors 1M 8,054 5,385
Cash at bank 693 240
8,747 5,625
Creditors' amounts falling due within one year 12 (6,472) (5,051)
Net current assets 2,275 574
Net assets 2,658 1,273
Capltal and reserves
Called up share capital 14 - -
Profit and loss account 15 2,658 1,273
Shareholders’ funds 16 2,658 1,273

The financial statements were approved and authonsed for 1ssue by the board and were signed on its behalf on '30“' g?kﬂlr Qﬂ\g

Alus—

M Gieeson
Director

The notes on pages 8 to 16 form part of these financial statements
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Aptiv Sclutions (UK) Lirited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Accounting policies

11

1.2

13

14

15

Accounting convention

The financial statements are prepared under the histencal cost canvention and in accordance with applicable
United Kingdom Accounting Standards

Consolidated financial statements have not been prepared as the company i1s a wholly owned subsidiary of a
company Incorporated in Great Britain and the results of the company are consclidated in the financial
statements of the ulimate parent undertaking These financial statements present information about the
company as an individual undertaking

Cash flow statement

The financial statements do not include a cash flow statement because the company 1s a wholly owned
subsidiary and the consolidated financial statements of its ultimate parent undertaking, in which it 1s included,
are publicly available |t ts therefore exempt from the requirement to prepare such a statement under Financial
Reporting Standard 1 'Cash flow statements’

Turnover

Turnover, which 1s stated net of value added tax, represents amounts inveoiced to third parties, excluding pass-
through costs of suppliers, except in respect of long-term contracts where turnover represents the sales value
of work perfermed in the penod, iIncluding estimates in respect of amounts not invoiced Turnover in respect
of long-term contracts i1s calculated as that proportion of total contract value which costs incurred to date bear
to total expected costs for that contract

Pass-through costs are costs incurred by the Company while acting as an agent on behalf of customers
Accordingly, these are excluded from the profit and loss account, along with any revenue generated

Profit on long-term contracts 1s taken as the work is carmed out If the final outcome can be assessed with
reasonable certainty The profit ncluded 1s calculated on g prudent basis to reflect the proportion of the work
carned out at the period end, on a contract by contract basis by recording turnover and related costs as
contract activity progresses Revenue denved from vanations on contracts 1s recognised only when they have
been accepted by the customer Full provision 1s made for losses on all contracts in the penad m which they
are first foreseen

Milestone payments due under contracted relatronships are recorded to revenue when all work related to the
milestone 1s completed

The company eams service fees from a fellow group undertaking in respect of sales activiies and chncal tnal
services carned out in the UK Service fee revenue Is recognised as earned

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction  Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date

Pensions

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme and the pension charge represents the
amounts payable by the Company to the fund in respect of the year
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

1 Accounting policies (continued)

1.6

17

1.8

1.9

Deferred taxation

Full provision is made for deferred tax assets and liabilities ansmg from all tming differences between the
recognition of gains and losses in the financial statements and recogrition 1n the tax computation

A net deferred tax asset 1s recogmsed only If it can be regarded as more likely than not that there will be
surtable taxable profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated at the tax rates expected to be effechive at the time the timing
differences are expected to reverse

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost, net of depreciation and provision for impatrment Depreciation 1s

provided on tangible fixed assets, al rates calculated {o wnte off the cost, less estmated residual value, of
each asset on a straight line basis over its expected useful ife, as follows

Leasehold improvements - between five years and over the lease term
Fixtures and fitings - five - eight years
Computer equipment - two - five years

investments

Fixed asset investments are shown at cost less provision for impaiment
Operating leases

Rentals payable under aperating leases are charged to the profit and loss account on a straight line basis over
the lease term

4 10 Intangible fixed assets

Goodwill anses on the acquisition of the businesses of Averion International (UK) Limited and SRA Global
Chnicat Development Limited Goodwill represents the excess of the consideration paid aver the net
identifiable assets and biabilities acquired Acgurred goodwill 1s wnitten off in equal annual instalments over its
estimated useful economic life of 7 years

2 Turmover

The whole of the tumover s attributable lo the prinaipal activily of the Company

A geographical analysis of turnover is as follows

2014 2013

£000 £000

United Kingdom 4,326 3,454
Rest of Eurgpe 3,003 5372
Rest of the world 1,912 325
North Amenca 2,156 2,518
Japan 184 945
11,581 12,614
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

3 Operating result

The operating result is stated after charging

Amortisation - mtangible fixed assets
Depreciation of tangible fixed assets
- owned by the company
Operating lease rentals
- other operaiing leases
- land and buildings
Foreign exchange losses

4. Auditor's remuneration

Fees payable to the company's audiior and #ts associates for the audit of
the company’s annual accounts
Fees payable to the company's auditor and its associates for
all other non-audit services not included above

k. Staff costs

Staff costs, including directors' remuneratian, were as follows

Wages and salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

The average monthly number of employees, including executive directors, dunng the year was as follows

Project management
Sales and administration

2014 2013
£000 £000
73 73
189 191
11 19
606 459
23 68
2014 2013
£000 £000
54 23
2 2
2014 2013
£000 E£0C0
4,840 5532
551 608
386 415
5,777 6,555
2014 2013
No. No
50 62
26 22
76 84
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

6. Directors' remuneration
2014 2013
£000 £000
Remuneration 364 724
Company pension contnbutions to defined contribution pensicn
schemes 25 40

Dunng the year retirement benefits were aceruing to 4 directors (2013 - 4) in respect of defined contnbution pension
schemes

The highest paid director received remuneration of £125,625 (2013 - £280,078)
The value of the company's contnbutions paid to a defined contnbution pension scheme in respect of the highest
paid director amounted to £9,453 {2013 - £9,051).

The costs of the remaining directors were boume by other subsidianes of the ICON Group and are disclosed i its
annual report and accounts
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Aptwv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

7. Taxation

Analysis of tax charge In the year

Deferred tax

Difference between capital allowances and depreciation
Tax losses
Other short term timing differences

Total deferred tax (see note 13)

Tax on profit on ardinary activities

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

2014
£000

(134)
(715)
4)

2013
£000

(853)

(853)

The tax assessed for the year s lower than (2013 - lower than) the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of

21 49% (2013 - 23 25%) The differences are explamed below

Profit on ordinary activities before tax

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax

in the UK of 21 49% (2013 - 23 25%)

Effects of.

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Differences between capiial allowances and depreciation
Unrelieved tax losses camed forward

Current tax charge for the year (see note above)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Tax losses availabie lo be carned forward by the company at 31 December 2014, against future profits, are

estimated at £3,600,000 (2013 - £4,200,000)

2014 2013
£000 £000
632 -
114 -
23 4
- (9)
(137) 5
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. Intangible fixed assets

Cost
At 1 January 2014 and 31 December 2014

Amortisation

At 1 January 2014
Charge for the year

At 31 December 2014
Net book value

At 31 December 2014

At 31 December 2013

9 Tangible fixed assets

Cost

At 1 January 2014
Addtions
Disposals

At 31 December 2014

Depreciation
At 1 January 2014

Charge for the year
On disposals

At 31 December 2014
Net book value

At 31 Decernber 2014

At 31 December 2013

10. Fixed asset investments

Goodwill
£000
509
167
73
240
269
342
Computers
& office
Leasehold fixtures &
improvements fithngs Total
£000 £000 £000
368 957 1,325
- 22 22
(127) {761) (888)
241 218 459
133 835 968
152 7 189
{(123) {689) {812)
162 183 345
79 315 114
235 122 357

The company owns 100% of the ordinary share capial of Tno Chinical Resourcing Limited Trio Chnical Resourcing
Limited transferred its trade and assets to an associated company, DOCS International UK Limited on 30 June 2014
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

11.

12,

13.

Debtors

Trade debtors

Amounts owed by group undertakings
Other debtors

Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset (see note 13)

2014 2013
£000 £000
2,289 1,435
3,601 2,397
251 182
1,060 1,371
853 .
8,054 5,385

Included in other debtors are rent deposits which total £179,041 (2013 - £179,041) These are recetvable after more

than 1 year

Creditors
Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors

Amounts owed to group undertakings
Other taxation and social secunty
Other creditors

Accruals and deferred income

Deferred taxation

At beginning of year
Released during year (P&L)

At end of year

Tax effect of timing difference because of

Diffarence between capital allowances and
depreciation

Tax losses

Other short term timing differences

Total

2014 2013
£000 £000
355 1,456
3,781 577
111 252
138 504
2,089 2,262
6,472 5,051
2014 2013
£000 £000
853 -
853 -
Amount Amount Amount Amount
provided unprovided unprovided unprovided
2014 2014 2013 2013
£000 £000 £000 £000
134 - 134
715 - 842
4 - -
853 - 976
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Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

14.

15.

16

17,

18.

19

Share capital
2014 2013
£000 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid
375 Ordinary shares of £1 each - -
Reserves
Profit and
loss account
£000
At 1 January 2014 1,273
Profit for the financial year 1,385
At 31 December 2014 2,658
Reconciliatton of movement in shareholders’ funds
2014 2013
£000 £000
QOpening shareholders' funds 1,273 1,273
Profit for the financial year 1,385 -
Closing shareholders' funds 2,658 1,273

Pension commitments

The company makes coniributions to individual personal! pension plans The total charge for the penod was
£386,000 (2013 - £415,000) There are unpaid contnbutions outstanding at the penod end of £33,000 (2013 -
£55,000)

Operating lease commitments

At 31 December 2014 the company had annual commitments under non-cancelable operating leases as follows

Land and buiidings

2014 2043
£000 £000
Expiry date
Between 2 and § years 434 409

Related party transactions

The company has taken advantage of the exemption available under FRS 8, "Related party disclosures”, where it 1s
not required to disclose transactions entered into between two or more members of a group, provided that any
subsidiary undertaking which 1s a party to the transaction 1s wholly owned by a member of that group

Page 15




Aptiv Solutions (UK) Limited

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

20.

Ultimate parent undertaking and controlhing party

in the penod from 1 January 2014 to 7 May 2014 the ultimate parent undertaking and ultmate controlling party was
Aptiv Solutions, Inc , incarporated in the state of Delaware, US From 7 May 2014, follewing the acquisiiion of Aptiv
Solutions, Inc by the ICON Group, the ultimate parent undertaking and ultmate controlling party was ICON plc.

The company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary undertaking of Geld Medal Acquisitions UK Limited, and was controlled
from 7 May 2014 by ICON plc, a company incerporated and operating in Ireland  The largest and smallest group
into which the resuits of the company are consolidated 1s that headed by ICON plc and the consclidated financial
statements may be oblained from the Companies Registration Office, Pamell Square, Dublin 1, Ireland
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Directors’ Report

The Directors present ther report and audited Consolidated and Company financial statements of ICON plc (“the
Company” or “ICON"), a public imited company incorporated in the Republic of Ireland, and its subsidiary undertakings
(“the Subsidianes”, with the Company and the Subsidianes being together “the Group”} for the year ended 31
December 2014

The Company's ordinary shares are traded on the NASDAQ market The Company 1s considered a foreign private issuer
in the US and accordingly 1t 15 not subject to the same ongeoing regulatory requirements as a US registered company
with a primary listing on the NASDAQ market

These Consolidated and Company financial statements (together “the financial statements”) for the year ended

31 December 2014 are prepared In accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and meet the reporting requirements
pursuant 10 Insh Cempany Law In addition to the consolidated financial statements contaned in this annual report, we
also prepare separate consolidated financial statements on Form 20-F pursuant to the rules and regulations of the U S
Secunties and Exchange Commission (SEC) and in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (U S GAAP) The Form 20-F under US GAAP 1s a separate document, a copy of which may be obtained
from the Company’s website www iconplc com IFRS differs m certain respects from U S GAAP, detaills of which are set
out on pages 112 to 115 of this annual report

Principal activities, business review and future developments

The Group 18 a contract research organisation {(*CRO"), providing outsourced development senaces on a global basis o
the pharmaceutical, brotechnology and medical device iIndustnes The Group specialises In the strategic development,
management and analysis of programmes that support all stages of the clinical development process - from compound
selection to Phase |-V clinical studies The Company’s mission 1s to accelerate the development of drugs that save Iives
and improve the quality of ife Cur vision 1s to be the Global CRO partner of choice for the Biopharma industry by
delivenng best in class information, solutions and performance in chmcal and outcomes research

The Group believes that it 15 one of a select number of CRO's with the expertise and capability to conduct climical tnals
in most major therapeutic areas on a global basis and has the operational flexibiiity to provide development services
on a stand alone basis or as part of an integrated “full service” sclution At 31 December 2014, the Group had
approximately 10,600 employees, n 81 locations m 38 countnes Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014, the
Group denved approximately 40 2%, 48 8% and 11 0% of its net revenue in the United States, Europe and Rest of
World, respectively

Headquartered in Dublin, Ireland, the Group began operations in 1990 and has expanded the business predominately
through internal growth, together with a number of strategic acquisitions to erhance ts capabilities and expertise In
certain areas of the clinical development process Its pnncipat executive office s located at Scuth County Business
Park, Leopardstown, Dublin 18, Republic of Irefand The contact telephone number of this office 1s 353 (1) 291 2000

On 19 September 2014, the CGompany announced that it had completed a $40 0 million redemption of the Gompany's
ordinary shares and that & had entered into a further program under which the Company can acquire up to an addhional
$100 milion of its outstanding ordinary shares (by way of redemption), m accordance with United States secunties laws
through cpen market share acquisitions During the year ended December 31, 2014, 2,640,610 ordinary shares were
redeemed by the Company under the programs for a total consideration of $140 0 million

On 27 February 2015 the Company acquired MediMedia Pharma Solutions for a total cash consideration of

$120 0 miton Headquartered in Yardley, Pennsyivania, MediMedia Pharma Solutions includes MediMedia Managed
Markets and Complete Heatthcare Communications MediMedia Managed Markets 1s a leading provider of strategic
payer-validated market access solutions Complete Heafthcare Communications 1s one of the leading medical and
sclientific communication agencies working with medical affairs, commercial and brand development teams within life
SCIance companies

On 7 May 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the common stock of Aptiv Solutions {"*Aptiv™), a global
biopharmaceutical and medical device development services company and leader in adaptive chnical tnals Aptiv offers
tull-service clinical tnal consulting and regulatory support for drugs, medical devices and diagnostics with a specific

1CON pic end Subsidiartes Annual Report 2014




Directors’ Report (continued)

focus on strategy to Increase product development efficiency and productivity it 1s a market leader in the ntegrated
design and execution of adaptive clinical tnals for exploratory and late phase developrment as well as being an industry
leader in medical device and diagnostic development In key medical technology segments

On 17 December 2012 the Company's shareholders voted in favour of terminating the Company's ADR prograrmme and
replacing its ADRs with a direct bsting of its shares on NASDAQ The company also decided to cancel the Company's
secondary listing on the official list of the Insh Stock Exchange, manly due to the very low levels of lquidity in the
Company’s shares on this exchange This followed a review by the Company of its share trading arrangements with the
cbjective of ensunng that the arrangsments in place are appropnate to the size, scale and locatons of the business, are
conducive to supperting a iquid market in the Company’s shares, enhance the Company’s profile and attractions for a
wide range of international nvestors, and that the costs and mamntenance of the asscciated trading arrangements are
proportionate to the expected benefits The last day of trading of the Company’s shares on the Insh Stock Exchangs
was 29 January 2013 with the Company’s delisting from the Insh Stock Exchange being effected as of 30 January
2013 Direct trading of the Company's shares on NASDAQ commenced on 4 February 2013

In 2015, the Group looks forward to increasing its gecgraphic presence through the addtion of new offices and
expanding the scale and range of its service offering

Results and dividends

The results for the year are as shown on page 25 of these financial statements The Directors do not propose the
payment of a dmdend for the year ended 31 December 2014

The following table sets forth for the penods indicated certain financial data as a percentage of net revenus and the
percentage change in these items compared to the prior period, being the key performancs ndicators used by
management The trends illustrated in the following table may not be ndicative of future results

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December Percentage
2014 2013 change
As a percentage of net revenue In penod
Net revenue 100% 100% 12 5%
Direct costs (excluding exceptiona! items) 601 % 63 2% 6 8%
QOther operating expenses {excluding exceptional iterms) 25 %% 27 0% 8 0%
Operating profit (excluding exceptional items} 14 0% 9 8% 617%
Exceptional items 06% 07% (2 6)%
Operating profit (including exceptional items) 13 4% 91% 66 5%

Twelve months ended 31 December 2014 compared to twelve months ended 31 December 2013

Net revenus for the year increased by $167 2 million, or 12 5%, from $1,336 1 million for the year ended 31 Decemnber
2013 to $1,503 3 milion for the year ended 31 December 2014 For the year ended 31 December 2014 we denved
approximately 40 3%, 48 8% and 10 9% of our net revenue in the Unrted States, Europe and Rest of World,
respectively Direct costs {excluding exceptional items) for the year ended 31 December 2014 increased by

$57 9 million, or 6 8%, from $845 1 milion for the year ended 31 December 2013 to $203 0 milion for the year ended
31 December 2014 Direct costs consist pnmanty of compensation, associated fnnge benefits and share based
compensation expense for project-refated employees and other direct project dnven costs The increase in direct costs
dunng the penod arose from an increase in headcount and a comesponding increase n personnei related expenditure of
$52 5 million and an increase in other direct project related costs of $12 4 mdlon, offset by a decrease in laboratory
costs of $7 0 millon As a percentage of net revenus, direct costs (excluding exceptional items) have decreased from
63 2% for the year ended 31 December 2013 to 60 1% for the year ended 31 December 2014
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Directors’ Report (continued)

Other operating expenses (excluding exceptional items) for the year ended 31 December 2014 increased by

$28 8 million, or 8 0%, from $360 3 mullion for the year ended 31 December 2013 to $389 1 mulion for the year ended
31 December 2014 The increase in other operating expenses (excluding exceptional items) for the penod arose
primanly from an increase in personnel related expenditure of $15 3 millon, an increase in facimes and related costs of
$9 7 milion, a decrease in other general overhead costs of $2 2 mullion and an increase in depreciation and amortisation
expense of $6 0 milkon, ansing pnncipally as a result of the Increased amortisation of acquired intangibles and our
continued investment In faciliies and equpment to support the Company’s growth As a percentage of net revenue,
other operating expenses {excluding exceptional items), decreased from 27 (0% for the year ended 31 Dacember 2013
to 25 9% for the year ended 31 December 2014

Exceptional charges of $8 8 millon were recognised during the year ended December 31, 2014 Following the closure
of the Company’s European Phase 1 services In 2013, the Company recognised a charge dunng the current year In
relation to its Manchester, United Kingdom facility, $5 6 milion in relation to asset impairments and $3 2 million in
relation to an onerous lease charge associated with this faciity

As a result of the above, operating profit increased by $80 9 million, or 66 5%, from $121 6 milion for the year ended
31 December 2013 {$130 6 millon excluding restructunng charges) to $202 5 million for the year ended 3t December
2014 ($211 3 million, or 61 7% excluding restructunng charges) As a percentage of net revenue, Income from
operations Increased from 8 1% of net revenues for the year ended 31 December 2013 (8 8% excluding restructurng
charges) to 13 4% of net revenues for year ended 31 December 2014 (14 0% excluding restructuring charges)

Financing expense for the pencd decreased from $1 3 million for the year ended 31 December 2013 to $0 8 millon for
the year ended 31 December 2014 Financing income for the year increased from $1 0 million for the year ended
31 December 2013 to $1 2 million for the year ended 31 December 2014

Provision for income taxes for the period increased from $14 2 million for the year ended 31 December 2013 to

$27 8 millon for the year ended 31 December 2014 The Company’s effective tax rate for the year ended 31 December
2014 was 13 7% compared with 11 7% for the year ended 31 December 2013 Excluding the impact of exceptional
items recognised during the year ended 31 December 2014 the Company's effective tax rate was 14 3% for the year
ended 31 December 2014 compared with 12 3% for the year ended 31 December 2013 The Company's effective tax
rate 18 principally a function of the distnbution of pre-tax profits in the temtones i which it operates

Risks and uncertainties

Details of the pnneipal nsks and uncertainties facing the Group are set out In Appendix A of this annual report

Financial nsk management

The Group’s financial Instruments compnse cash and cash equivalents, current asset investments, finance lease
obhgations and negotiated bank faciites The main purpose of these financial instruments 1s to fund the working capital
requirements of the Group, the cost of new acquisitions and continued growth The principal financial nsks facing the
Group include currency rate risk, interest rate nsk, credit risk and hquidity nisk, further detalls of which are set out In note
25 to the Gonsolidated financial statements and note 10 to Company financial statements The Group does not
undertake any trading activity in financial nstruments The Group did not enter into any matenal denvative transactions
dunng 2013 or 2014

Subsequent events

Details of subsequent events are set out in note 30 to the financial statements
Directors and Secretary

In January 2013 Mr Thomas Lynch was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company replacing
Dr Bruce Given who retired as Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Gompany on 31 December 2012
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On 21 February 2013 Professor Willam Hall was appointed a Director of the Company On 18 February 2014 Mary
Pendergast was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company On 29 Apni 2014 Dr Hugh Brady was appointed
a Non-Executive Director of the Company

On 22 July 2013 Dr Bruce Given retired as a Director of the Company On 24 January 2014, Cathnn Petty resigned as
a Drector of the Gompany

Details of Directors’ imterests in the Group's shares are set out in note B to the financial statements

Directors’ remuneration

Details of the Directors' remuneration are set out in the note 8 to the Consolidated financial statements

Directors power to purchase and allot company shares

Subyject to the provisions of the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013 the Company may purchase any of its shares Every

contract for the purchase of shares, or under which the Company may become entitled or obliged to purchase shares

in the Company shall be authonsed by a spacial resolution of the Company The Company may cancel any shares so

purchased or may hold them as treasury shares or re-i1ssue them \

On 19 September 2014 the Company announced that it had completed a $40 million redemption of the Company's
ordinary shares and that it had entered into a further program under which the Company can acquire up to an additional
$100 million of its outstanding ordinary shares (by way of redemption), n accordance with United States secunties laws
through open market share acquistions Further details of the share repurchase programme can be found in note 23 to
the financial statements

Rights and Obkligations attaching to the Company’s shares

The share caprtal of the Company 1s €6,000,000 divided into 100,000,000 ordinary shares of €0 06 Holders of ordinary
shares will be entitled to receive such dividends as may be recommended by the board of Directors of the Company
and approved by the shareholders and/or such intenm dividends as the board of Directors of the Company may decide
Cn quidation or a winding up of the Gompany, the par value of the ordinary shares will be repaid out of the assets
available for distnbution among the holders of the Company's ordinary shares Holders of ordinary shares have no
conversion or redemption nghts On a show of hands, every holder of an ordinary share present in person or proxy

at a general mesting of shareholders shall have one vote with no mdividual having more than one vote

Change of control provisions in significant agreements :

Certain of the Group’s customer contracts altow the customer to terminate the contract in the event of a change in
control of the Gompany

The Group has negotiated a banking facility with a humber of financial institutions, detaills of which are set out In note 22
to the financial statements This facility requires repayment in the event that the Company becomes controlled by any
person or persons acting in concert by whom it was not controlled at the date the facility was entered into

Furthermaore certain Group compantes have entered capital grant agreements with the Insh government agency,
Enterprise Ireland, whereby the Group covenants that the controling interest in the Company will not change without
Enterpnse Ireland’s pnor wntten consent, which will not be unreasonably withheld

Additronally, the Company's share option and restncted share unit plans contain change in control provisions which
provide for the acceleration of the vesting and exercisability of outstanding options and awards of restncted share units
in the event that a change in control occurs with respect to the Company
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Corporate Governance

The Gompany 1s Iisted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market The Company complies with the corperate governance
isting requirements under the NASDAQ marketplace rules NASDAQ may provide exemphions from certain NASDAC
corporate governance standards to a foreign private 1ssuer in certain crcumstances provided that the foreign pnvate
issuer property notifies NASDACGH and makes the required disclosure except to the extent that such exemptions would
be contrary to United States federal secunties laws

The exemptions that the Company relies on, and the practices the Company adheres to, are as follows

= The Company is exempt from prowsions set forth i NASDAQ Rule 5620(c), which requires each i1ssuer (other
than imited partnerships) to provide for a quorum in its by-laws for any meeting of the holders of commeon stock,
which shall n no case be less than 33 33% of the outstanding shares of the 1ssuer's commeon voting stock The
Company's Articles of Association require that only 3 members be present, in person or by proxy, at a
shareholder meeting to constitute a quorum This quorum requirement 1s 1N accordance with Insh law and
generally accepted business practices In Ireland

* The Company s exempt from provisions set forth in NASDAQ Rule 5635{c) which requires {other than for certan
specified exceptions} shareholder approval pnor to the establshment or matenal amendment of a stock option or
purchase plan or other equity compensation arrangement made or matenally amended, pursuant to which stock
may be acquired by officers, directors, employees or consultants Insh law does not require shareholder approval
with respect to equity compensation arrangements Accordingly, the 2013 Employees Restncted Share Unit Plan
was adopted by the Board of Directors without shareholder approval

* The Company 1s exempt from provisions set forth in NASDAQ Rule 5605{b){2), which requires Independent
directors to hold regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are present Insh law does
not require independent directors to hold regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are
present The Company holds regularty scheduled meetings which all of the directors may attend

The Company's practices with regard to these requirements are not prehibited by Insh law

Significant shareholdings

The Company has been notified of the following shareholdings In excess of 3% of the 1ssued share capital of the
Company at 31 December 2014

Name % Number of Shares
Earnest Partners, LLC 90 5,394,081
Neuberger Berman LLC 80 4,827,558
Robeco Investment Management, Inc 37 2,193,812
Wasatch Adwisors, Inc 36 2,182,206
All Directors and Officers as a group 33 2,000,004

Subsidiary undertakings

The information required by the Companies Act, 1963 in relation to subsidiary undertakings 1s presented in note 31 to
the financial statements

Political donations

The Group made no disclosable political donations in the pencd
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Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for the
foreseeable future For this reason, the Group continues to adopt the going concern basis in prepanng the financial
staterments

Books of account

The Directors believe that they have complied with the requirements of Section 202 of the Companies Act, 1990 with
regard to books of account by employing accounting personnel with appropnate expertise and by prowviding adequate
resources to the financial funchion The books of account of the Company are maintained at the registered office

Auditors

In accordance with Section 160{2) of the Companies Act, 1963, the auditors, KPMG, Chartered Accountants, will
continue N office

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon Ciaran Murray
Director Director
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

Directors’ Responsibilities Statement

The Directors are responsible for prepanng the Consolidated and Company financial statements, in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and Company financial staternents for each financial year Under
that law the Directors are required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with Intermational Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS") as adopted by the EU and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and as appled in accordance with the Compames Acts 1963 to 2013

The Group and Company financial statements are required by law and IFRSs as adopted by the EU to present farly the
financial positicn and performance of the Group and Company The Companies Acts 1963 to 2013 provide in relation to
such financial staternents that references in the relevant part of that Act to financial statements gving a true and farr
view are references to therr achieving a far presentation

In prepanng each of the Group and Company financial statements, the Directors are required to
* seleci sutable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
* make judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

= state that the financial staterments comply with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and in the case of the
Company, as appled in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013, and

+ prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis unless It 1s inappropnate to presume that the Group
and Company will continue in business

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper bocoks of account that disclose with reascnable accuracy at any time
the financial positton of the Company and the Group and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply
with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation
They are also responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group
and Company and to prevent and detect fraud and other iregulanties

The Directors are responsible for the mantenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on
the Company’s website Legislation in the Republic of Ireland governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legisiation in other junsdictions

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon Ciaran Murray
Director Director
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members of ICON plc

We have audited the Group and Company financial statements (“financial statements”) of ICON Plc for the year ended
31 December 2014 which compnse the Statement of Accounting Pelicies, Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consohdated Statements of Comprehensive Income, the Consohdated and Company Statements of Financial Position,
the Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flow, the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes in
Equity and the related notes The financial reporting framewaork that has been applied in ther preparation 1s Insh law and
International Financial Reporting Standards {FRSs) as adopted by the European Umion, and, as regards the Company
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013

This report 1s made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 193 of the Companies
Act 1890 Cur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we
are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we
do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members as & body, for
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed

Respective responsibilihes of directors and auditor

As explained more fully n the Directors’ Responsibiiities Statement set out on page 9 the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements gmng a true and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit and express an
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with Insh law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaning evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give
reascnable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting pohicies are appropnate to the Group's and Company’s
circumstances and have been consistently appled and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements In addrhion,

we read all the financial and non-financial information In the annual report to 1dentify matenal inconsistencies with the
audited financial statements and to identify any information that 1s apparently matenally incorrect based on, or matenally
inconsistent with the knowledge acquitted by us in the course of performing the audt If we become aware of any
apparent matenal misstaternents or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opmmon on financial statements

In our opinion

= the Group financial statements give a true and far view, In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU, of the
state of the Group’s affars as at 31 December 2014 and of its profit for the year then ended,

+ the Company statement of financial position gives a true and farr view, In accordance with IFRSs as adopted by
the EU as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013, of the state of the
Company's affairs as at 31 December 2014, and

* the financial statements have been property prepared in accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Matters on which we are required to report by the Comparnies Acts 1963 to 2013

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of our audit

The Company's statement of financial position 1s i agreement with the books of account and, 1 our opinion, proper
books of account have heen kept by the Company

In cur opimon the iInformation given in the Directors' Report 1s consistent with the financial statements
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of ICON plc (continued)

The net assets of the Company, as stated in the statement of financial poesition are more than half of the amount of its
called-up share capital and, in our opinion, on that basis there did not exist at 31 December 2014 a financtal situation
which under Section 40(1) of the Companies (Amendment} Act, 1983 would require the convening of an extraordinary
general meeting of the Company

Matters on which we are required to report by excephon

We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013 we are required to report to you If, in our cpinion, the disclosures of Directors’
remuneration and transactions specified by law are not made

Sean O'Keefe

For and on behalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
23rd Apni 2015

1 Stokes Place

St Stephen’s Green

Dubin 2

refand
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Statement of Accounting Policies

Statement of compliance

The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Internationat Financial Reporting Standards
{IFRS) that are adopted by the European Umion (EU) that are effective at 31 December 2014 The Directors have elected
to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and as applied n
accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013 In accordance with the Companies Acts 1963 to 2013, a company
that publishes its Group and Company financial statements together, can lake advantage of the exemption in Section
148(8) of the Companies Act 1963 from presenting to its members a Company income statement and related notes
that form part of the approved Company financial statements

The Group financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the amendment to IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements This amendment sets cverall requirements for the presentation of financial statements, guidelines
for therr structure and minimum requirements for their content The revised standard aims to improve users’ ability to
analyse and compare information given in financial statements

Basis of preparation

These Group and Company financial statements are presented n U S dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand {3 '000), except where otherwise indicated, this being the reporting cumrency of the Group They are prepared
on the histoncal cost basis, except for the measurement at farr value on date of grant of share options, the UK defined
benefit pension plan and certain contingent consideration payable on acquisiions Accounting policies are applied
consistently with the pror year

Key accounting pohcies which involve significant estimates and judgments

The preparation of consobdated financial statements requires management to make estmates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets and Iiabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses dunng the reported period

Estimates and judgments are based on histoncal expenence and on other factors that are reasonable under current
circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates If these assumptions prove to be incorrect or if condittons
develop other than as assumed for the purposes of such estimates The fallowing are the critical areas requinng
estimates and judgments by management

Revenue Recogrition

Significant management jJudgments and estimates must be made and used in connection with the recognition of
revenue In each accounting penod Matenal diferences In the amount of revenue in any given penod may result if these
Judgments or estimates prove to be ncorrect or if management’s estimates change on the basis of development of the
business or market conditions To date there have been no matenal differences ansing from these judgments and
estimates Revenues are earned by providing a number of different services to clients These services Include clircal
tnals management, biometnc actvities, consulting, imaging, contract staffing, informatics and fahoratory services
Revenue for services, as rendered, are recognised only after persuasive ewdence of an arrangement exists, the sales
pnce is fixed or determinable, nsks and rewards have transfemred and collectability 1s reasonably assured

Customers are invoiced upon the achievernent of specified contractual milestones This mechanism, which allows the
Group to receve payment from customers throughout the duration of the contract, 1s not reflective of revenue earned
Revenues are recognised over the penod from the awarding of the customer's contract to study completion and
acceptance This requires an estimate of the total expected revenue, time inputs, contract costs, profitabiity and
expected duration of the clirical tnal The Group regularly reviews the estimate of total contract time o ensure such
estimates remamn appropriate taking into account actual contract stage of completion, remaining tme to complete and
any identified changes 1o the contract scope Remaining time to complete depends on the specific contract tasks and
the complexity of the contract and can include geographical stte selection and intiatton, patient enrolment, patient
testing and level of results analysis required While the group may routinely adjust time estimates, the estimates and
assumptions have histoncally been accurate in all matenal respects in the aggregate
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Key accounting policies which involve significant estimates and judgments {continued)

If the Group does not reasonably estimate the resources required or the scope of the work to be performed, or does
not manage its projects properly within the planned cost or satisfy obligations under the contracts, then futurs results
may be significantly and negatively affected

Googwilfl

Goodwill 18 reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if facts or circumstances warrant such a review
Goodwill 1s evaluated for impairment by companng the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to the carrying
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates If the recoverable amount i1s less than the carrying
amount an imparment 1s determined

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 1s determined using a value-in-use ¢omputation based upen
discounted net present value cash flow projections for the business The cash flow projections are for a penod of five
years forward together with a terminal value calculated n accordance with the Gordon's terminal value model
Management's estimates of future cash flows are based upon anticipated growth rates within the CRO industry,
expected growth in the Group’s market share and past expenence The key assumptions applied in determining
expected future cash flows include management's estimate of future profitability, replacement capstal expenditure
requirements, trade working capital investment needs and tax considerations The Group's cash flow mode! 1s adjusted
each year for actual and expected changes in performance

Use of different estimates or judgments, particularly with respect to expected profitabiiity could result n a matenal
imparment charge The Group believes reasonable estimates and judgments have been used in assessing the
recoverable amounts of its cash-generating units

Taxation

Given the global nature of the business and the multiple taxing junsdictions In which the Group operates, the
determination of the Group's provision for Income taxes raquires signrficant jJudgments and estimates, the ultimate tax
outcome of which may not be certain  Although estimates are believed to be reasonable, the final outcome of these
matters may be different than those reflected in the histoncal income tax provisions and accruals Such differences
could have a matenal effect on the iIncome tax provision and results in the penod dunng which such determination 1s
made

Deferred tax assets and iabilities are determined using enacted tax rates for the effects of net operating losses and

temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and labilites In assessing the realisabiity of deferred

tax assets, management considers whether it 1Is more likely than not that some portion cr all of the deferred tax assets

will not be realised The ultimate realisation of deferred tax assets 1s dependent upon the generation of future taxable .
income dunng the penods in which those temporary differences become deductible While management considers the i
scheduled reversal of deferred tax habilities, and projected future taxable income in making this assessment, there can

be no assurance that these deferred tax assets may be realisable

In addition, the Group may alse be subject to audits In the multiple taxing junsdictions In which It operates These audits
can involve complex issues which may require an extended penod of time for resolution Management believe that
adequate provisions for Income taxes have been made In the financial statements
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Key accounting policies which involve significant estimates and judgments {continued)

Contingent Considsration relating to Business Cornbinations

The Group has concluded a number of business combinations in recent years The fair valug of the consideration of a
business combination 1s measured as the aggregate of the far values at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilies
incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued in exchange for control The farr vatue of the consideration of a
business combination may include a portion which 1s contingent upen the achievement of certain future events, such as
the achievement of a particular revenus or earmings target Where a business combination agreement provides for such
additional consideration, the amount of the estimated consideration 1s recognised on the acquisition date at fair value
The accounting treatment of any changes to the estmate In subsequent penods will depend on the classification of the
contingent consideration If the contingent consideration 1s classified as equity it shall not be re-measured and the
settlement shall be accounted for within equity If the contingent constderation 1s classified as a hability any adjustment
will be accounted for through the consolidated income statement

Significant management judgments and estimates are required in estimating the acquisition date fair value of the
addtional consideratton Changes in business conditons or the performance of the acquired business could lead to a
significant change between our estmate of the acguisiion date far valug and amounts payable, which could have a
sencus impact on our results of operations

Adoption of new IFRS’s and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
Interpretations

IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations adopted dunng the financial year

The Group has adopted the following new and rewised IFRS and IFRIC interpretations in respect of the 2014 financal
year-end

IAS 27 Separate Financial Staternents effective 1 January 2014

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Jaint Ventures effective 1 January 2014

Qffsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (Amendment to IAS 32) effective 1 January 2014

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements effective 1 January 2014

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements effective 1 January 2014

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities effectve 1 January 2014

Consolidation for investment entities (Amendments to JFRS 10, IFRS 12, and 1AS 27} effective 1 January 2014
IAS 36 Imparment of Assets (amendment) effective 1 January 2014

Novation of denvatives and continuation of hedge accounting (amendment to tAS 39) effective 1 January 2014
IFRIC nterpretation 21 Levies effective 1 January 2014

IAS 19 Employee benefits {amendment) effective 1 July 2014

L R R B N I RN I I N I

The application of the standards and interpretations noted above did not result in matenal changes in the Group’s
Consoldated Financial Statements

IFRS and IFRIC Interpretations effective in respect of the 2015 and future financial year-ends
The Group has not applied the following standards and interpratations that have been i1ssued which are not yet effective

¢ |JFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers effective 1 January 2017~

+  Property, Plant and Equipment {Amendment 1o [AS 16} effective 1 January 2016*

« (Clanfication of acceptable methods of depreciation and amortisation {amendment to IAS 16 and 1AS 38) effective
1 January 2015*

¢ |FRS 11 Accounting for acquistions of intarests in Joint Operations effective 1 January 2016~

* |FRS 9 Financial Instruments {2009, and subsequent amendments in 2010 and 2013) effective 1 January 2018*

* Not yet EU endorsed The Group only apply EU endorsed IFRS

The appltcation of the standards and interpretations noted above 15 not expected to result n signrficant changes in the
Group's Consolidated Financial Statements
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continuea)

Accounting policies

The following accounting policies have been apphed consistently in dealing wath items which are considered matenal in
relation to the Group's financial statements

Basis of consclidation

The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of ICON plc and tts subsidianes Subsidianes are
consolidated from the date on which control 1s transferred to the Group and cease 1o be consolidated from the date on
which control 1s transferred out of the Group The Group contrals an entity when it 1s exposed to, or has nghts to,
vanable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through s power over
the entity Financial statements of subsidianes are prepared for the same reporting year as the Company and where
necessary, adjustments are made 1o the results of subsidianes to bnng their accounting polhicies into line with those
used by the Group The Group will continue to prepare the individual statutory financial statements of subsidiary
companies under GAAP applicable in ther country of incarporation but adjustments have been made to the resulis
and financial positicn of such companies to bnng therr accounting policies into ine with those of the Group

All inter-company balances and transactions, including unrealised profits ansing from inter-group transactions, have
been eliminated In full Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same manner as unreakised gains except to the extent
that there 1s evidence of imparment

Foreign currency translation

The presentation currency of the Group and Company 1s US doltars ($) The functional cumrency of the Company 1s
Euros The Company financial statements have been presented in US dollars due to the Company’s internationat
operations and profile Results and cash flows of non-dollar denominated undertakings are translated into dollars at

the actual exchange rates at the transaction dates or average exchange rates for the year where this 1s a reasonable
approximation The related statements of financial position are translated at the rates of exchange rulng at the reporting
date Goodwill and far value adjustments ansing on acquisttion of a foreign operation are regarded as assets and
abiities of the foreign operation, are expressed In the functional currency of the foreign operation and are recorded

at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction, and subsequently retranslated at the applicable closing rates
Adjustments ansing on translation of the results of non-dollar undertakings at average rates, and on the restatement

of the opening net assets at closing rates, are dealt with In a separate translation reserve wathin equrty

Transactions in currencies different to the functional curmrencies of operations are recorded at the rate of exchange ruting
at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated into the
functional currency at the rate of exchangs at the reporting date All translation differences, with the exception of
translation differences on long term intercompany balances where repayment 1s not foreseen, are taken to the income
statement Translaton differences on long term intercompany balances where repayment is not foreseen are treated as
other comprehensive ncome in the statement of comprehensive ncome

The principal exchange rates used for the translation of results, cash flows and statements of financial position into US
dollars were as follows

Average Year end
Year to Year to Year to Year to
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2014 2013 2014 2013
Euro1$ 1.3361 1 3254 1.2098 13743
Pound Sterling 1 % 1.6548 15653 1.5577 1 6557
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Fareign currency translation (continued}

On disposal of a foreign operation, accumulated currency translation differences, together with any exchange differences
on foreign curmency borrowings that prowvide a hedge of the net investment are recognised in the income statement as
part of the overall gan or 1oss on disposal, the cumulative currency transtation differences ansing pnor to the transrtion
date have been set to zero for the purposes of ascertaning the gain or loss on disposal of a foreign operation
subsequent to 1 June 2004

Property, ptant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provisions for
mparment losses

Depreciation 1s calculated to wnte off the onginal cost of property, plant and equipment less its estimated residual value
over its expected useful Iife on a straight Iine basis Residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are
reviewed and adjusted If appropnate at each reporting date At present #t is estimated that all tems of property, plant
and equipment have no residual value The estimated useful ives applied in determining the charge to depreciation are
as follows

Years
Buildings 40
Computer equipment 2-8
Office furniture and fixtures 8
Laboratory equipment 5
Motor vehicles 5

Leasehold improvements are amortised using the straight-ine method over the estmated useful life of the asset or the
lease tenm, whichever 1s shorter Assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over the shorter of ther useful
economic life and the jease term

On disposal of property, ptant and equipment the cost and related accumulated depreciation and impairments are
removed from the financial statements and the net amount, less any proceeds, 1s taken to the income statement

The carrying ameunts of the Group's property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there Is any Indication of impaiment Where such an indication exists an impairment review is carried out An
impairment loss s recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or ts cash generation unrt exceeds its
recoverable amount Imparment losses are recognised in the ncome statement unless the asset 1s recorded at a
revalued amount in which case it 1s firstly dealt with through the revaluation reserve with any residual amount being
transferred to the income statement

Subsequent costs are Included in an asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropnate, only
when 1t 1s probable that future economic benefits associated with the tem will flow to the Group and the cost of the
replaced item can be measured relably All other repar and maintenance costs are charged to the mcome statement
dunng the financial penod in which they are incurred

Leased assets — as lessee

Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the nsks and benefits of ownership of the leased asset, are
caprtalised at the inception of the lease at the far value of the leased asset or if lower the present value of the mimmum
lease payments The comesponding hability to the lessor s included in the statement of financial posihon as a finance
lease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaning balance of the hability Finance charges are charged to the
income statement as part of finance costs

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term

ICON pic and Subsidianes Annual Report 2014




Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Leased assets ~ as lessee (continued)

Leases where the lessor retains substantially all the nsks and benefits of ownership of the assets are classified as
operating leases Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the Income statement on a strarght ine
basts over the lease termn Lease incentives are recognised over the term of the lease as an integral part of the total
lease expense

Investments in subsidiaries - company

Investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost less prowvision for imparment in the Company’s statement of
financial position Loans to subsidiary undertakings which are deemed long term investments in nature, are nthally
recorded at farr value in the Gompany statement of financial position and subsequently at amortised cost using an
effective interest rate methodology

Business combinations

The far value of a business combination 1s measured as the aggregate of the far values at the date of exchange of
assets given, labiiies incurred or assumed and equity instruments 1ssued In exchange for control plus the fair value of
any mvestment previously held in the entity Where a business combination agreement provides for an adustment to the
cost of the acquisition which 1s contingent upon future events, the amount of the estimated adjustment 1§ recognised on
the acqurisition date at the acquisition date fair value of this contingent consideration The accounting treatment of any
changes to this estimate In subseguent penods will depend on the classification of the cantingent constderation I the
contingent consideration 1s classified as equity it shall not be re-measured and the settlement shall be accounted for
within equity If the contingent consideration is classified as a liability any adjustments will be accounted for through the
consolidated income statement

The assets, llabilittes and contingent labiites of businesses acquired are measured at ther far values at the date of
acqusition In the case of a business combination which 1s completed in stages, the fair values of the Identifiable assets,
hatiities and contingent habiliies are re-determined at the date of each transaction When the initial accounting for a
business combination 1s determined provisionally, any subsequent adjustments to the provisional values allocated to the
identifiable assets, labilites and contingent liabilities are made within twelve months of the acquisition date and
presented as adjustments to the onginal acquisition accounting Acquisition costs are expensed as incurred

Goodwill

The Group measures goodwill at the acquistion date as the far value of the consideration transferred plus the
recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, plus if the business combination 1s achieved in
stages, the far value of the pre-existing equity interest in the acquiree, less the net recognised amount (generally far
value} of the dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed Goodwill on the acquisition of subsidianes 15 included in
‘iIntangible assets — goodwill and other'

At the acquisihion date, any goodwill acquired 1s allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit from
the combination’s synergies Imparment 1s determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
to which the goodwill relates Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that
unit 1s disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of Is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determiring the gain or loss on disposal of the operation Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance s
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the proportion of the cash-generating unit
retained

Folliowing initial recognition, goodwall 1s measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses Goodwill relating to
acquismicons post 1 June 2001 and the deemed cost of goodwill carned in the statement of financial position at 1 June
2001 1s not amortised Goodwill 1s reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently If events or changes in
crcumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continuea)

Impairment of non financial assets

The carmying amounts of the Group's assets, other than deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting dats to
determine whether there 1s any indication of mparment if any such indication exsts, the asset's recoverable amount 1S
estimated An estimate of the recoverable amount of goodwill 1s camed out at each reporiing date

An impairment loss I1s recogrised in the mcome statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash
generatmg unit exceeds its recoverable amount Impairment logses recognised In respect of cash generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash generating units and then, to reduce the
camying amount of other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis

The recoverable value of assets, other than receivables carned at amortised cost and short term receivables, 1s the
greater of therr net seling price and value in use Value In use Is assessed by discounting estimated future cash flows of
the asset to their present value or discounting the estimated future cash flows of the cash generating unit where the
asset does not generate iIndependent cash flows Estimated cash flows are discounted using a pre tax discount rate
reflecting current market estimates of the time value of money and the nsks specific to the asset

The recoverable amount of receivables camed at amortised cost Is calculated by discounting the present value of
estimated future cash flows of the asset to therr present value, discounted at the onginal effective interest rate
Recewvables with a short duration of less than six months are not discounted

Impairment losses In respect of recewvables camed at amortised cost are reversed f subsequent increases In the
recoverable amount of the asset can be related objectively to an event occocumng after the mpairment loss was
recognised

Impairment losses In respact of other assets, other than goodwill, are reversed if there has been a change In the
estimates used to determine recoverable amount Impairment losses are reversed only to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset does not exceed the carmying value that would have been determined, net of depreciation or
amortisabion, If no iImpairment loss had been recognised Impaiment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed

Intangible assets

Other intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses Useful lives of
ntangibles are reviewed and adjusted f appropnate at each reporting date  Amortisation s charged to the income
staterment on a straight ine basis over the estimated usefu! lives of ntangible assets, currently estmated as follows

Years
Computer software 2-8
Customer relationships 3-11
Volunteer list 6
Order backlog 08-4
Technology Asset 75
Tradename 4 5-5
Non-compete arrangements 3-5

Inventones

Inventones, which compnse laboratory inventones, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost 1s
based on the first-in, first-out pnnciple and includes all expenditure incurred in acquinng the inventones and bnnging
them to their present location and condition Cost in the case of raw matenals compnses the purchase pnce and
attnbutable costs, less trade discounts Net realisable value 1s the estimated sefling pnce in the ordinary course of
business, less selling expenses
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other recevables are inmally measured at far value and are thereafter measured at amortised cost using the
affective interest rate method less any provision for imparment A prowsion for impairment of trade receivables 1s
recognised when there 1s objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
ongingl terms of the receivables Imparment losses, and any subsequent recovery of such losses, are recognised n the
income statement within ‘other operating expenses’

Current asset investments - available for sale

Financial instrumenits held are classified as current assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss
recogrised as other comprehensive iIncome in the statement of comprehensive Income The far value of finanaal
instruments classified as avalable-for-sale 1s therr market pnce at the reporting date

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and highly liquid investrnents with ongmnal matunties of thrée months or less
and are stated at cost, which approximates market value

Trade payables

Trade payables are recognised ihally at far value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
nterest rate method

Government grants

Government grants received that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are recognised in the statement of
financial postion initally as deferred income when there i1s reasonable assurance that it will be received and that the
Group will comply with the conditions attaching to it Such grants are recognised in the income statement over the
useful economic life of the asset which 1s consistent with the depreciation policy of the relevant asset

Grants that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recogrused in the income statement in the same penods
in which the expenditure to which they relate 1s charged

Under grant agreements amounts receved may become repayable in full or in part should certain circumstances
specified within the grant agreerents occur, ncluding downsizing by the Group, dispesing of the related assets,
ceasing to carry on its business or the appointment of a recever over any of its assets The Group has not recognised
any such loss contingency having assessed as remote the Iikelihood of these events ansing

Interest bearing loans and borrowings

Interest beanng borrowings are recognised nitially at far value Subsequent to mimal recognition, current and non-
current interest beanng loans and borrowings are measured at amorhsed cost with any difference between cost and
redemption value being recognised in the Income statement over the penod of the borrowings on an effective Interest
basis

Borrowings ara classified as current liabiities unless the Group has an unconditional nght to defer settlement of the
hability for at least 12 months after the reporting date
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Provisions

A prowvision 1s recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group has a present or legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event, and it 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to setile
the obligation If the effect of the time value of money 1s matenal, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects the time value of money and, where appropnate, the nsks specific to the
Iability Where discounting 1s used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time 1s recognised as a finance
cost

A provision for restructunng Is recognised when the Group has approved a detalled and formal restructunng plan, and
the restructunng has erther commenced or has been announced publicly Future operating costs are not provided for

A provision for onerous contracts i1s recogrused when the expected benefits to be denved by the Group from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of mesting its obligations under the contract

Provisions may also include an element of contingent acquisition consideration

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attnbutable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown 1n equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Where ordinary shares are repurchased by the Company they are cancelled and the nominal value of the shares 1s
transferred to a capital redemption reserve fund within equity

Employee benefits

(a) Pensiorr and other post-employment benefits

Gertain companies within the Group operate defined contribution pension plans A defined contnbution plan 1s a
pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contnbutions Into a separate entity The Group has no legat or
constructive obligations to pay further contnbutions If the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current and pnor penods  Contributions to defined contnbution pension
plans are expensed as incurred

The Company operates a defined benefit pension plan for certain of its United Kingdom employees through a
subsichary A defined benefit plan 1s a pension plan that 1s not a defined contnbution plan Typically defined benefit plans
define the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receve on retirement, usualty dependent on one or more
factors such as age, years of service and compensation Obligations for contnbutions to defined benefit contnbution
pension plans are recognised as an expense In the income statement as service 1s recenved from the relevant
employees

The Group's net obligation in respect of the defined benefit pension plan Is calculated separately by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service In the current and pnor penods, that
benefit 1s discounted to determine its present value, and the far value of plan assets deducted The discount rate used
15 the yield at the reporting date on iboxx AA 15 index plus 20 basis points The calculation 1s performed by a qualified
actuary using the projected unit credit method Under IAS 19R the net finance ncome/cost are recorded in operating
costs In the Income Statement When benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the ncreased benefit relating to the
past service by employees 15 recognised as an expense In the iIncome Statement on a straght line basis over the
average penod until the benefits become vested To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense is
recognised immediately in the Income Statement
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Employee benefits {continued}

All actuanal gains and losses as at 1 June 2004, the date of transiton to IFRSs, were recognised and adjusted aganst
retained eamings Actuanal gains and losses ansing after this date are recognised as other comprehensive Income
immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Incoma

IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’ was revised 1in June 2011 and was effective for the Group's financial statements for the year
commengcing 1 January 2013 with restatement of the pnor year comparatives

{b) Share-based payments

Share-based payments compnse options to acquire ordinary shares in the Company, restncted share units (RSUs) and
performance share units {(PSUs) in the form of ordinary share entittements after a certain penod of time These are
awarded to certan key employees of the Group based on service condtions such as term of employment and individual
performance The farr value of options, RSUs and PSUs granted 1s recognised as an employee expense with a
corresponding increase in equity The farr value 1s measured at grant date and spread over the penod dunng which the
Oirectors and other employees become unconditionally entitied to the options, RSU or PSU The fair value of options
granted 15 measured using a binomial lathice model, taking mto account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted The farr value of RSUs and PSUs 1s equal to the market pnce at date of grant The total amount
10 be expensed 18 determined by reference to the far value of the options, RSUs or PSUs granted, excluding the impact
of any non-market service and performance vesting condrtions {for example profitability, sales growth targets) There are
no such non-market vesting conditions dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 in relation to options or RSUs that
are expected to vest The amount recognised as an expense 1s adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options,
RSUs or PSUs that vest

Share-based payments - Company

The Company operates a number of share-based payment plans the details of which are presented in note 10 Share-
Based Payments tc the Consolidated Financial Statements The share-based payment expense associated with the
share-based payment plans 1s recognised by the entity which receives services in exchange for the share-based
compensation Share-based payment expense Is recognised over the requisite service penod for awards of equrty
instruments to employees based on the grant date farr value of those awards expected to uthmately vest Forferitures
are estimated on the date of grant and rewsed if actual or expected forfaiture actmty differs matenally from onginal
estimates

The income statement of the Company 1s charged with the expense related to the services received by the Gompany
The remaining portions of the share-based payments represent a contnbution to Company entities and are added to the
carnrying amount of those investments Under an agreement, the subsidianes pay the Company an amount equal to the
value of the ordinary shares 1ssued that 1s In excess of the award exercise pnce with such amount reducing the
Company's iInvestment in its subsidianes The net effect of the grant date fair value of the Company's share-based
cormpensation to employees of the Company’s subsidianes and recharges receved from those subsidianes 1s presented
as a movement In financial fixed assets For more information on financial fixed assets see note 3, Investment in
subsidianes, in the company only financial statements below

Revenue recogmition

The Group prnmanly earns revenues by prowiding chinical research services to its customers Clinical research services
include chinical tnals management, biometnc actvittes, consulting, iImaging, contract staffing, nformatics and laboratory
services Contracts range in duration from a number of months to several years Revenue 1s recognised according to
the type of service provided as follows
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue recognition {continued)

Clinical tnals management revenus Is recognised on a proportional performance method Depending on the contractual
terms, revenue 1s either recognised on the percentage of completion method, based on the relatonship between hours
incurred and the total estimated hours of the tnal, or on the unit of delivery method Biometncs revenue is recognised on
a fee-for-service method on the basis of the number of units completed in a pencd as a percentage of the total number
of contracted units Imaging revenus 1s recognised on a fee-for- service basis Consulting revenue 1S recogrised on a
fee-for-service basis as the related service s performed Contract staffing revenue s recognised on a fee-for-service
basis, over the tme the related semvice 1s performed, or In the case of permanent placement, once the candidate has
been placed with the chent

Informatics revenue i1s recognised on a fee-for-service basis Informatics contracts are treated as multiple element
arrangements, with contractual elerments compnsing licence fee revenue, support fee revenue and revenue from
software senices, each of which can be sold separately Sales pnces for contractual elements are determined by
reference to objective and reliable ewidence of therr sales pnce Licence and support fes revenues are recognised
rateably over the penod of the related agreement Revenue from software services 1s recognised using the percentage
of completion method based on the relationship between hours incurred and the total estimated hours required to
perform the service

Laboratory service revenue i1s recognised on a fee-for-service basis The Group accounts for laboratory service
contracts as multiple element arrangements, with contractual elements compnsing laboratory kits and laboratory testing,
each of which can be sold separately Far values for contractual elements are determined by reference to objective and
relable evidence of therr farr values Non-refundable set-up fees are allocated as additional consideration 1o the
contractual slements based on the proportionate fair values of each of these elements Revenues for contractual
elements are recognised on the basis of the number of deliverable units completed n the penod

Contracts generally contain provisions for renegotiation in the event of changes in the scope, nature, duration, volume of
services or conditions of the contract Renegotiated amounts are recognised as revenue by revision to the total contract
value ansing as a result of an authonsed customer change order Provisions for losses to be incurred on contracts are
recognised in full in the penod in which it 1s determined that a loss will result from performance of the contractual
arrangement

The difference between the amount of revenue recognised and the amount billed on a particular contract i1s included in
the statement of financial position as unbilled revenue Normally, amounts become biltable upon the achigvement of
certain miestones, N accordance with pre-agreed payment schedules included in the contract or on submission of
appropnate biling detal Such cash payments are not representative of revenue earned on the contract as revenues
are recognised over the penod i which the specified contractual obligations are fulfiled Amounts included in unbilled
revenue are expected 1o be collected within one year and are included within curent assets Advance bilings to
customers, for which revenus has not been recognised, are recognised as payments on account within current habilities

In the event of contract termunation, If the value of work performed and recognised as revenue 1s greater than aggregate
milestone bifings at the date of termination, cancellation clauses provide that the Group s paid for all work performed to
the termination date

Reimbursable expenses

Reimbursable expenses compnse investigator payments and certain other costs which are rambursed by clients under
terms spectfic to each contract and are deducted from gross revenue I amving at net revenue investigator payments
are accrued based on patient enrolment over the Ife of the contract Investigator payments are made based ¢n
predetermined contractual arrangements, which may differ from the accrual of the expense

Direct costs

Cirect costs consist of compensation, assoctated employee benefits and share-based payments for project-related
employees and other direct project-related costs
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Statement of Accounting Policies continued)

Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses consist of compensation, associated employee bensfits and share-based payments for
non-project-related employees and other indrect costs associated with the business Other operating expenses also
includes depreciation expense and the amertisation of intangble assets

Excephonal items

The Company has used the term *exceptional” to descnbe certain items which, in management's view, warrant separate
disclosure by virtue of therr size or incidence, or due to the fact that certain gans or losses are determined to be
non-recuning in nature Exceptional iterns may inctude restructunng, significant imparments, and matenat changes in
estimates

Research and development credits

Research and development credits that are provided under the income tax law of the junsdictions in which the Group
operates generally are recognised as a reduction of Income tax expense However, certan tax junsdictions provide
refundable credits that are not dependent on the Group's ongoing tax status or tax posiion In these circumstances the
credits are recognised In the income statement in the same penods in which the expenditure to which they related to i1s
charged as a deduction against the related expense

Financing expense

Financing expense compnses interest payable on borowings calculated using the effective interest rate method, finance
charges on finance leases, foreign exchange gans and losses on bank loans, non-cash finance charges in respect of
contingent consideration and gains and losses on hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement

Financing expense also includes fees paid on the establishment of loan faciities which are recognised as transaction
costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn down These fees are
deferred and recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and are then armortised to the Consolidated Income
Statement over the term the facility 1s avalable to the Group

Financing income

Interest iIncome is recognised In the ncome statement as it accrues, using the effective interest rate method and
includes interast recevable on funds invested

Income tax

Income tax expense In the income statement represents the sum of Income tax currently payable and deferred income
tax

Income tax currently payable 1s based on taxable profit for the year Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported n
the income statement because it excludes tems of iIncome or expense that are taxable or deductible n other years and
further excludes items that are not taxable or deduchble The Group's habiity for Income tax 1s calculated using rates
that have been enacted or substantally enacted at the reporting date Income tax 1s recognised n the income
statement except to the extent that 1t refates to items recogrised directly in equity

Deferred income tax s provided, using the lability method, on all differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and habiiies for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes except those ansing from
non-deductible goodwill or on initial recognition of an asset or liabilty which affects neither accounting nor taxable profit

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply n the year when the
asset 1s expected to be realised or the lability to be settled
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Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses, to the extent that it 1s probable that taxable profit will be avaitable against which the deductible temporary
differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised The carrying amount of
deferred income tax assets 1s reviewed at gach reporting date and reduced to the extent that 1t 1s no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit would be avalable to allow all or part of the deferred iIncome tax asset to be utiised

Earnings per ordinary share

Basic earnings per share 1s computed by dviding the profit for the financial year attributable to ordinary shareholders of
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding dunng the financial period

Diluted earnings per share 1s computed by dividing the profit for the financial year attnbutable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 1ssue after adjusting for the effects of all potential
dilutve ordinary shares that were outstanding dunng the financial penod

Segment reporting

An operating segment Is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the Group's other
components The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that internally 1s
provtded to the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ}, Chief Financial Officer (CFQO) and Chief Operating Officer (COQ) who
together are considered the Group's chief operating decision makers An operating segment’s operating results are
reviewed regularly by the CEQ, CFQO and COO to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and
assess s perfermance, and for which discrete financial information 1s avallable

Segment results that are reported to the CEC, CFO and COO include rtems directly attnbutable to a segment as well as
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis Segment capital expenditure 1s the total cost incurred durning the
penod to acquire property, plant and equipment and intangible assets other than goodwill
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Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended Year ended | Year ended Year ended
31 December Year ended |31 December [31 December  Year ended |31 December
2014 31 December 2014 2013 31 December 2013
Excluding 2014 Including Excluding 2013 Including
Exceptional Exceptional | Exceptional | Exceptional  Exceptional Excaptional
tems tems items items items items
Continuing Operations Note $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Gross revenue 2,030,286 - 2,030,286 1,784,345 - 1,784,345
Retmbursable expenses (526,970) - {526,970) (448,287} - (448,287)
Net revenus 1 1,503,316 - 1,503,316 1,336,058 - 1,336,058
Girect costs 7 (902,956) - (902,956} (845,146) {3,791} {848,937)
Other operating expenses 7 (389,106) (8,796) (397,902} (360,285) (5,242) (365,527)
Operating profit 211,254 (8,796) 202,458 130,627 (9,033} 121,594
Financing income 3 1,151 - 1,151 286 - 986
Financing expense 4 (785) - (785) (1,288) - (1,288)
Profit before taxation 2 211,620 (8,796} 202,824 130,325 (9,033) 121,292
Income tax expense 5 {27,798) - {27,798) {16,084) 1,850 (14,234)
Profit for the financial year 183,822 (8,796) 175,026 114,241 {(7,183) 107,058
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 24 183,822 (8,796) 175,026 114,241 (7,183) 107,058
Earnings per ordinary share
Basic & - - 285 - - 176
Diluted 6 - - 2,76 - - 171

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon
Director
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2014

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
Note $'000 $'000
Other Comprehensive Income
tems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:
Re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations g (3,850) 1,439
Total items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (3,850) 1,439
Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences 24 (45,038) 10,725
Currency impact on long-term intercompany funding 24 9,806 (1,046)
Tax on currency impact on long-term funding 24 (178) (87)
Unrealsed capital gain/(loss) on investments 24 20 {239)
Total items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss (35,390) 9,353
Cther comprehensive {loss)/income far the year, net of tax (39,240) 10,792
Profit for the financial year 175,026 107,058
Total comprehensive Income for the financial year 135,786 117,850
Attnibutable to:
Equity holders of the Company 135,786 117,850
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 135,786 117,850

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon Ciaran Murray
Director Dyrector
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2014

31 December

31 December

2014 2013
ASSETS Note $'000 $'000
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 11 109,829 120,624
Intangble assets — goodwill and other 12 565,408 443,092
Other non-current assets 16 17,089 12,307
Deferred tax assets 5 45,728 30,337
Total non-current assets 738,054 606,360
Current assets
Inventones 14 1,664 2,198
Accounts receivable 15 370,956 342,581
Unbilled revenue 146,163 113,238
Other current assets 16 38,786 31,306
Current taxes recewable 30,776 34,221
Current asset investments 17 97,100 138,317
Cash and cash equivalents 18 118,900 182,519
Total current assets 804,345 844,381
Total assets 1,542,399 1,450,741
EQUITY
Share capital 23 5,037 5,168
Share premium 221,965 199,785
Share based payment reserve 24 70,178 52,407
Capital redemption raserve 24 305 100
Other reserves 24 6,741 8,068
Foreign currency translation reserve 24 {31,205) 4,205
Current asset investment - far value reserve 24 20 -
Retaned eamings 24 700,154 659,817
Total equity attnbutable to equity holders 973,195 929,550
LIABILITIES
Non-current habihties
Non-current other habilites 19 14,295 12,557
Deferred tax habilihes 5 4,387 2,143
Total non-current liabilities 18,682 14,700
Current habilities
Accounts payable 2,795 4,597
Payments on account 280,097 297,347
Accrued and cther liabilthes 19 247,388 189,167
Prowisions 20 3,704 5,675
Current tax payable 16,538 9,705
Total current habilities 550,522 506,491
Total labilities 569,204 521,191
Total equity and habilities 1,542,399 1,450,741

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon Craran Murray
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
Note $'000 $000
Profit for the financial year 175,026 107,058
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash generated from
operating activities
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 248 662
Depreciation 11 23,138 24,196
Amortisation of intangible assets 12 29,404 22,318
Amortisation of grants (213) {349)
Share based payment 10 22,359 13,734
Financing income 3 (1,151} (986)
Financing expense 4 785 1,288
Defined benefit pension service costs 9 9 251
Defined benefit pension finance costs 231 189
Defined benefit past service cost 359 -
Income tax expense & 27,798 14,234
Qperating cash inflow before changes in working capital 278,075 182,585
Increase In accounts recevable (7,032) (37,538)
Increase in unbilled revenue (13,671) 4,015)
Increase in other current assets (8,367) (3,301)
Increase i1 other non current assets {2,264) {1,1486)
Decrease in inventory 534 765
Decrease in accounts payable (11,006) (2,057)
(Decrease)/increase 1n payments on account (47,548) 76,066
{Decrease)/increase in accrued and other halilities and provisions (5,293) 20,9840
Increase in non current other habilhes and provisions 988 899
Cash provided by operations 184,416 233,208
Income taxes pad (17,829) {14,103)
Employer contnbution defined benefit pension scheme 9 {155) {225)
Interest receved 4,050 2,894
Interest paid (533) {(547)
Receipt of government grants - 225
Net cash inflow from operating activities 169,949 221,452
Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equpment {18,798) {18,040)
Purchase of ntangible assets {13,982) (11,448)
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings {124,301) (93,553)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings 3,527 1,039
Sale of current asset nvestments 102,565 109,795
Purchase of current asset investments (61,328) {172,168)
Net cash used in investing activities {112,317) {184,375)
Fmancing activities
Tax benefit from the exercise of share options 2,404 1,651
Proceeds from exercise of share options 22,274 26,993
Share 1ssuance costs {20} (70)
Repurchase of ordinary shares (140,030) -
Shars repurchase costs {1,032] -
Net cash (used in)/ provided by financing activities {116,404 28,574
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (58,772) 65,651
Effect of exchange rate changes (4,847) 2,821
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 182,519 114,047
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 118,900 182,519
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014

1

Segmental information

The Group 1s a contract research orgamisation (‘CRQ"), providing outsourced development services on a global
basis to the pharmaceutcal, biotechnology and medical device industnes It specialises in the strategic
development, management and analysis of programmes that support all stages of the clinical development process
- from compound selection to Phase I-IV clinical studies The Group has expanded predominately through internal
growth, together with a number of strategic acquisitions to enhance its expertise and capabiliies in certan areas of
the chinical development process The Group has the ability to conduct cimcal tnals in most major therapeutc areas
on a global basis and has the operational flexability to provide development services on a stand-alons basis or as
part of an integrated “full service” solution These services include clinical tnals management, biometnc actmties,
laboratory services, consulting, imaging, contract staffing, and informatics

The Group determines and presents cperating segments in accordance with IFRS 8 Operating Segments based on
the information that internally 1s provided to the Chief Executive Officer (CEQ), Chief Financial Officer (CFO) and
Chief Operating Officer (GCOC} who together are considered the Group's chief operating decision makers The Group
has determined that it has one operating segment - Clinical Research

The Group's listing for its shares 1s the NASDAQ market in the Unrted States Consequently, nformation reviewed
by the chief operating decision makers I1s prepared in accordance with US generally accepted accounting pnnciples
(“US GAAP") however the information presented below 1S prepared in accordance with IFRS reporting standards
Reconcihations of the Group's profit for the financial year and shareholders’ equity from US GAAP to IFRS are set
out on pages 112 to 115 of this report

The Company's areas of operation outside of Ireland nclude the United States, United Kingdom, France, Germany,
ltaly, Span, The Netherlands, Sweden, Turkey, Poland, Czech Republic, Lithuania, Latvia, Russia, Ukraine, Hungary,
israel, Romania, Switzerand, Canada, Mexico, Brazil, Colombia, Argentina, Chile, Peru, India, China, South Korea,

Japan, Thalland, Tawan, Singapore, The Philippines, Australia, New Zealand, and South Afnca

{CON pic and Subs:ciartas Annual Report 2014
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Segmental information {continued)

Geographical segment information

(EU IFRS) (EU IFRS)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$000 $'000
External revenue

Ireland 360,376 272,683
Rest of Europe 372,634 333,543
Urnited States 605,815 582,250
Rest of World 164,491 147,582
Total 1,503,316 1,336,058
{EU IFRS) (EL IFRS)
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2M3
$'000 $'000

Non-current assets
Ireland 145,129 165,802
Europe 132,307 134,849
United States 431,864 276,197
Rest of World 28,754 29,412
Total 738,054 606,360

Major customers

The following table sets forth the chents which represented 10% or more of the Group's net revenue in each of the

penods set out below

31 December

31 December

2014 2013
Cllent A 31% 26%
Clent B -* 10%

* Net revenue did not exceed 10%
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Notes to Consolidated

Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2014

2 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation i1s stated after charging the following

Year ended 31 December 2014

Year ended 31 December 2013

Group Affiliated Group Affilated

auditor firms Total audstor firms Total
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $000

Auditors’ remuneration:
Audit fees (1) (2) 1,545 330 1,875 1,183 314 1,497
Cther assurance fees (3) 171 102 273 31 109 140
Tax advisory fees (4) 878 826 1,704 723 96 819
Other non-audit fees (5) 156 - 156 78 - 78
Total fees 2,750 1,258 4,008 2,015 519 2,534

(1) Audit fees include annual audit fees for ICON pic and comparies based in ireland and the US
(2) Audtt fees for the Company for the year 1s set af $30,000 (2013 $30,000}

(3} Other assurance fees prncipally consist of fees for the audit of remaining subsidiaries and fees for the audit of
the financial staterments of empiloyee benefit plans

{4) Tax advisory fees are for tax comphance and tax advisory services

(5) Other non-audit fee principally consist of fees for financial due diigence

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Directors’ emoluments
Fees 1,161 798
Other emoluments and benefits in kind 6,658 2,470
Pension contnbutions 148 118
Share based payments 5,982 3,666
Tota! Directors’' emoluments 13,949 7,052

For adaitional information regarding Directors’ shareholdings, share options and compensation, please refer to note

8 — Payroll and related benefits
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2. Profit before taxation (continued)

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Depreciation and amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 23,138 24,196
Amortisation of ntangible assets 29,404 22,318
Total depreciation and amortisation 52,542 416,514

Operating lease rentals

Year ended Year ended

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Premises 46,654 45,976

Motor vehicles 6,339 7,244

Plant and equipment 1,299 1,645

Total operating lease rentals * 54,292 54,865
Government grants

Government grants - 225

Total government grants - 225

* Operating lease rentals includes rate expenses incurred dunng the year

3. Financing income

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Interest receivable 1,151 986

1,151 986

All of the above relates to tems not at far value through profit and loss
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

4,

1ICON

Financing expense

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Interest and facility fees on bank overdraft and credit facilities 785 1,048
Farr value movement on acquisition contingent consideration - 240
785 1,288

Al of the above relates 1o items not at far value through profit and loss

Income tax expense

The components of the curent and deferred tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 2013 were

as follows
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Current tax expense
Current year
- Ireland 20,780 7.847
— Other 17,680 19,526
Over/Under provided in prior years
— lreland (1,218) 1,311
- Other 906 (158)
38,148 28,526
Deferred tax credit
Ongination and reversal of temporary differences (10,110) (13,091)
Over provided in pnor years (240) (1,201}
(10,3590) (14,292)
Total income tax expense In the consolidated income statement 27,798 14,234
Current tax recognised in equity
Share based payment {2,404) (1,651}
Total current tax recognised In equity (2,404) (1,651}
Current tax recognised in other comprehensive iIncome
Tax on currency impact on long term funding 178 a7
Total current tax recognised in other comprehensive income 178 87
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

5 Income tax expense (continued)

The total tax expense of $27 8 million and $14 2 milion for the years ended 31 December 2014 and 31 December
2013 respectively, reflects tax at standard rates on taxable profits in the junsdictions in which the group operates,
foreign wiathholding tax and the avalabilty of tax losses

The deferred tax credit of $10 4 millon for the year ended 31 December 2014 and the deferred tax credit of

$14 3 million for the year ended 31 December 2013, relates to deferred tax ansing in respect of net operating
losses and temporary differences in capital items, the tming of certan goodwill amortisation on US acquisiions and
the tming of tax deductions available relating to the Group's shars based compensation schemes No deferred tax
asset has been recognised on the defined benefit pension scheme as 1t 1s not probable that suffictent taxable profit
will be avaitable against which the deductible temporary difference can be utlised

A reconciiahion of the expected tax expense, computed by applying the standard Insh tax rate to income before tax
to the actual tax expense, 15 as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Profit before tax 202,824 121,292
Insh standard tax rate 12.5% 12 5%
Taxes at Insh standard tax rate 25353 15,162
Reversal of pnor year over prowision n respect of current foreign taxes (552) (48)
Foreign and other income taxed at higher rates 2,662 5,514
Recognition of previously unrecognised tax bensfits for uncertain tax positions (1,779) -
Effect of change in tax rates 543 1,553
Increase in unrecognised tax benefits 2,869 (5,499)
Non taxable income and non tax deductible expenses 1,854 (2,214)
Losses for which no bensfit has been recognised {1,964) 2,389
Research and development tax incentives {1,810) (2,598)
Cther 623 25)
Tax expense on profit for the year 27,798 14,234
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2014

5.

Income tax expense (continued)

The net deferred tax asset at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 was as follows

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets
Net operating losses camed forward 8,672 6,696
Accrued expenses and payments on account 37,296 29,458
Property, pltant and equipment 3,448 2,161
Deferred compensation 1,853 1,187
Share based payment 17,700 11,287
Other 891 -
Total deferred taxation assets 69,860 50,789
Less offset against deferred tax habilities (24,132) {20,452)
Deferred tax asset disclosed on Statement of financial position 45,728 30,337
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Deferred taxation habilihes
Propenrty, plant and equipment 4,270 6,501
Goodwill and related assets 18,645 14,013
Other ntangible assets 3,657 970
Other - 4
Accruals to cash method adjustment 1,947 1,107
Total deferred taxation habilities 28,519 22,595
Less oifset against deferred tax assets (24,132) (20,452)
Deferred tax llability disclosed on Statement of financial position 4,387 2,143
Net deferred taxation asset 41,341 28,194
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2014

8.

Income tax expense {continued)

The movement in temporary differences dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 was as follows

Recognised
Balance Recognised in Other
1 January Recognised on Comprehensive Recognised Balance

2014 inIncome Acquisition Income in Equity 31 December

$000 $000 $000 $000 $'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets
Net operating loss carry forwards 6,696 (67) 2,043 - - 8,672
Accrued expenses and payments
on account 29,458 7,829 - - 9" 37,296
Property, plant and equipment 2,161 1,261 - - 26" 3,448
Deferred compensation 1,187 666 - - - 1,853
Share based payment 11,287 4,876 - - 1,837 17,700
Cther - 891 - - - 891
Total deferred taxation assets 50,789 15,456 2,043 - 1,572 69,860
Deferred taxation habilihies
Property, plant and equipment 6,501 (3,015) 530 - 254* 4,270
Goodwill on acguistion 14,013 4,632 - - - 18,645
Accruals to cash method
adjustment 1,107 840 - - - 1,947
Cther intangible assets 970 2,687 - - - 3,657
Other 4 (38) 34 - - -
Total deferred taxation
habilities 22,505 5,106 564 - 254 28,519
Net deferred taxation asset/
(liability) 28,194 10,350 1,479 - 1,318 41,341

* These adjustments relate to foreign currency transfation on the deferred tax assets and labiities
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

5 Income tax expense {continued})

The movement in temporary differences dunng the year ended 31 December 2013 was as follows

Recognised
Balance tn Other Balance
1 January Recognised Comprehensive Recognised 31 December
2013 In Income Income in Equity 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets
Net operating loss carry forwards 6,776 (103) 237 - 6,696
Accrued expenses and payments
on account 19,375 10,075 8* - 29,458
Property, plant and equipment 1,875 275 11" - 2,161
Deferred compensation 1,136 51 - - 1,187
Share based payment 3,444 4,524 - 3,318 11,287
Other 98 (08) - - -
Total deferred taxation assets 32,704 14,724 42 3,319 50,789
Deferred taxation liabihties
Property, plant and eqLipment 6,631 (163) 33* - 6,501
Goodwill on acquisition 11,467 2,546 - - 14,013
Accruals to cash method
adjustment 1,237 (130) - - 1,107
Other intangble assets 2,707 (1,737) - - 970
QOther 88 84) - - 4
Total deferred taxation habilibes 22,130 432 33 - 22,595
Net deferred taxation asset/(iability) 10,574 14,292 9 3,319 28,194

*These adustments relate to foreign currency transiation on the deferred tax assets

Unrecogrised deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets relating to the following net operating losses have not been recognised to the extent that it 1s
considered unlikely that a benefit will be recewved in the future

At 31 December 2014, non-US subsidianes had operating loss carry-forwards for income tax purposes that may
be camned forward indefinttely, avaltable to offset aganst future taxable income, if any, of approximately $76 7 mullon
(31 December 2013 $88 5 millon) At 31 December 2014, non - US subsidianes also had additional operating loss
carry forwards of $5 8 million which are due tc expire between 2015 and 2017

in total, the Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets at 31 December 2014 of $24 O million and $22 6 million at
31 December 2013 The Group has not recogrised the remaining deferred tax assets because 1t beleves that it s
more likely than not that the losses and other deferred tax assets will not be utbised given their history of operating
losses
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

5 Income tax expense (continued)

Unrecogrised deferred tax habilities

At 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 respectively, there were no recognised or unrecognised deferred 1ax
labilittes for taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earmings of certain of the Group's subsidianes The
Group 1s able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences of its subsidianes and it is probable
that these temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

6. Earnings per share

The following table sets forth the computation for basic and diuted net earnings per share for the year ended 31

December 2014
31 A 31 31
December 31 | December December 31 December
2014 December 2014 2013 December 2013
$'000 2014 $'000 $°000 2013 $'000
Excluding $'000 Including Excluding $'000 Including
Exceptional Exceptional |Exceptional | Exceptional Exceptional | Exceptional
items items items tems tems tems
Numerator computations
Basic and diluted eamings
per share
Profit for the pencd 183,822 {8,796) 175,026 114,241 (7,183) 107,058
Profit attnbutable to equity
holders 183,822 (8,796) 175,026 114,241 (7,183} 107,058
Denominator computations Number of Shares
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding -
basic 61,496,115 61,496,115 | 61,496,115 | 60,907,274 60,907,274 | 60,907,274
Effect of dilutive potential
ordinary shares 1,830,295 1,830,295 1,830,295 1,544,503 1.544,503 1,544,503
Weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding -
diluted 63,326,410 63,326,410 | 63,326,410 | 62,451,777 62,451,777 | 62,451,777
Earnings per Share $ $ $ 3 $ 3
Basic earnings per ordinary
share 2.99 (0.14} 285 188 {012) 176
Diluted earnings per ordinary
share 2.90 {0.14) 2.76 183 {012) 171

The Company had 558,224 ant-dilutive shares in 1ssue at 31 December 2014 (31 December 2013 839,189}
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 Decernber 2014

7.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items incurred dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 compnsed the following

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Restructunng charges 8,796 9,033
Income tax - (1,850)
Exceptional items (net) 8,796 7,183

Restructunng Charges

A restructunng charge of $8 8 millon was recognised dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 Following the
closure of the Company's European Phase 1 senaces in 2013, the Company recognised a charge in 2014 1in
relation to ts Manchester, United Kingdom facility, $5 6 million in relatien to asset impairments and $3 2 million in
relation to an onerous lease charge associated with this facility We expect this to be paid by 2024

Onerous Asset

Lease Impairment Total
(in thousands)

Total provision recognised 3,167 5,629 8,796

Asset wnte-off - (5,629) {(5,629)
Cash payments - . .

Provision at Decerber 31, 2014 $3,167 3- 3,167

Prior Perniod Restructuring Charges

Restructuring and other tems of $9 0 million were racorded dunng the year ended 31 December 2013 Dunng
2013 the Company conducted a review of its operations This review resulted in the adoption of an nitial
restructunng plan, which included the closure of its Phase | faciity n Omaha, Nebraska This followed the
expansion of the Company's Phase f facility n San Antonio, Texas and the consclidation of the Company's US
Phase | capabiliities in this location The restructunng plan also included rescurce rationalisations in certan areas
of the business to iImprove resource utiisation A further restructunng plan was also adopted dunng 2013 which
resulted in resource rationalisations in order to improve operating efficiencies and reduce expenses Details of the
movement in this restructunng plan recognised are as {ollows

ICON plc and Subsichanas Annual Report 2014
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 371 December 2014

7. Exceptional items (continued)

Workforce Office
Reductions Consohdations Total
{in thousands}

Q1 Plan - Iniral provision recognised $3,903 $509 $4,412
Q2 Plan - Initial provision recognised 4,228 393 4,621
Total provision recognised 8,131 902 9,033
Cash payments (6,544) (199) {6,743)
Amounts released {93) - (93)
Foreign exchange movement {3) - (3)
Prowvision at December 31, 2013 $1,401 $703 $2,194
Cash payments {1,319) {337} {1,656}
Amounts released - - -
Foreign exchange movement {1) - (1)
Proviston at December 31, 2014 3171 $366 $537

8 Payroll and related benefits

Payroll costs

The aggregate payroll costs of employees of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2014 were as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

Note $'000 $'000

Wages and salanes 839,264 736,597
Social welfare costs 114,068 110,035
Pension costs for defined contnbution pensicn schemes 32,690 30,109
Pension costs for defined benefit pension schemes g 681 460
Jermination payments - 8,131
Share based payment* 10 22,359 13.734
Total charge to income 1,009,062 899,066
Re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations g 3,850 {1,439)
Total payroll and related henefit costs 1,012,912 897,627

*IFRS 2 Share based Payments requires that the farr value of share options and restricted share units 1s calculated

and amortised over the vesting penod of the refated share option or restnicted share unit
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. Payroll and related benefits (continued)

Average employee numbers

The average number of employees, including executive Directors, employed by the Group dunng the year ended
31 December 2014 was as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Marketing 193 190
Administration 1,203 1,288
Chnical research processing 8,766 8,342
Laboratory 452 422
Total 10,624 10,242

Directors' remuneration

Remuneration policy

The Compensation and Organisation Commuttee seeks to achieve the following goals with the Company’s executive
compensation programs 1o attract, motivate and retamn key executives and to reward executives for value creation
The Committee seeks to foster a performance-onented environment by ensunng that a significant portion of each
executive's cash and equity compensation 1s based on the achievement of performance targets that are important
to the Company and its shareholders

The Company’s executive compensation program has three main elements base salary, a bonus plan and equity
incentives in the form of share related awards granted under the Company's equity ncentive plans All elements of
key executives compensation are determined by the Compensation and Organisation Committee based on the
achievement of the Group's and indmdual performance objectives

Non-Executive Directors' remuneration

Qutside Directors are remunerated by way of Directors’ fees and are also eligible for participation in the share
option scheme Each Outside Director (excluding the Board Chairman) 1s paid an annual retainer of $60,000 and
additional fees for Board Committee service The Board Charrman 1s paid $563,000 annually and does not receive
additional payment for Board Committee service Qutside Directors are not eligible for performance related bonuses
and no pension contnbutions are made on therr behalf The Compensation and Organisation Committee sets non-
Executive remuneration

Executive Directors' and Key Executive Officers’ remuneration

Total cash compensation 1s dvded into a base salary portion and a benus incentive portion Base salary I1s
established based on peer group and 1s adjusted based on ndmdual performance, expenence and the importance
of the role The Committee targets total cash compensation with regard to Healthcare/ biopharmaceutical
companies of similar market capitalisation and peer CRO companies, adjusted upward or downward based on
individual performance and expenence and lavel of responsibiity The Compensation and Organisation Committee
beligves that the higher the executive’s level of responsibility within the Company, the greater the percentage of the
executive’s compensation that should be tied to the Company's performance Target bonus incentive for executive
officers range between 60% and 100% with actual pay outs ranging from 80% to 150% of salary based on group
and indwdual performance
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8.

Payroll and related benefits (continued)

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 an addihional cash bonus of $5 9 milllon was awarded by the
Compensation and Organisation Committee to Mr Ciaran Murray Chief Executive Officer ($3 6 milion), Mr Brendan
Brennan Chief Financial Officer ($0 9 million) and Dr Steve Cutler Chief Operating Officer ($1 4 milion}, to reflect
their contnbution to the exceptional performance of the Company dunng 2014 The additional bonus 1s Included
within Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2014 This amount has been paid in
2015 to date

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2012 an addiional bonus of $9 5 million was awarded by the Compensation
and Organisation Committee to Mr Ciaran Murray Chief Executive Officer (35 5 million), Mr Brendan Brennan Chief
Financial Officer ($1 5 millon) and Dr Steve Cutler Chief Operating Officer ($2 5 million), to reflect their contnbution
1o the successful turnaround in the performance of the Company dunng 2012 and the creation of a platform to
enable the delivery of long-term sustamable returns to the Gompany's shareholders The bonus was payable in
either cash or ordinary shares of the Company, at the discretion of the Committes, over the penod up to

31 December 2015 $6 4 million was paid under this plan to 31 December 2014 The remaining $3 1 million 1s
ncluded wathin Other Liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet at 31 December 2014 This amount has been
pad in 2015 to date

The Company’s executives are eligible to receive eguity incentives, ncluding share options, restncted share units
and performance share units, granted under the Company’s equity incentive plans If executives receve equity
Incentive grants, they are normally approved annually at the first regularly scheduled meeting of the Committee in
the fiscal year The grant date 1s determined by the Commuiitee, and grants are awarded at the closing pnce on the
day of grant Newly hired executives may recewve sign-on grants, if approved by the Committee In addition, the
Committee may, in its discretion, 1ssue additional equity Incentve awards to executives If the Committee determines
such awards are necessary to ensure appropnate ncentives are in place The number of equity awards granted to
each participant 1s determined pnmarnly by the Committee at the start of each year based on peer groups and
advice from independent compensation consultants The Company granted equity incentive awards to executive
officers In its fiscal years ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2014

All executive officers are eligible to participate in applicable pension plans The Company’s contnbutions are
generally a fixed percentage of therr annual compensation, supplementing contributions by the executive The
Company has the discretion to make additicnal contrnbutions If deemed appropnate by the Committee The
Company's contrbutions are determined at the peer group mechan of comparable Insh companies and peer CRO
companies Contributions to this plan are recorded as an expense in the Consalidated Statement of Operations
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8 Payroll and related benefits (contnued)

The Directors, Executive Officers and Company Secretary have the following interests, all of which are beneficial,
other than as stated, in the shares and share options of the Company or other Group companies at the following

dates
Interest at Interest at
31 December 2014 31 December 2013

Name of company and Number Number
Name descnption of shares of shares Options  of shares Options
Thomas Lynch ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 4 23,000 4 19,000
Ciaran Murray ICON plc

Qrdinary Shares €0 06 15,149 353,901 - 368,873
Brendan Brennan ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 3,025 58,996 - 43,233
Dr Steve Cutler ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 - 138,299 - 103,539
Dr John Climax ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 1,357,568 78,500 1,357,568 80,500
Dr Ronan Lambe ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 400 22,500 400 14,500
Prof Dermot Kefleher ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 - 18,500 - 16,500
Declan McKecn ICON plc

Qrdinary Shares €0 06 - 19,500 - 9,500
Prof Wilham Hall ICON pilc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 - 17,500 - 7,500
Mary Prendergast ICON plc

Ordinary Shares €0 06 - 10,000 - -
Dr Hugh Brady ICON ple

Ordinary Shares €0 06 - 10,000 - -
Diarmaid Cunningham  ICON ple

Ordnary Shares €0 06 - 25,825 - 22,075
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. Payroll and related benefits {continued)

Further detalls regarding the above share options are as follows

Name Options Exercise price Grant date Expiry date
Thomas Lynch 2,000 $35 33 26 February 2008 26 February 2016
2,000 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
2,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnl 2020
5,000 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Ciaran Murray 14,000 $35 33 26 February 2008 26 February 2016
3,400 $o2 26 25 February 2009 25 February 2017
12,000 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
18,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2018
90,000 $16 80 31 Cctober 2011 31 October 2019
40,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnl 2020
77,873 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
31,344 $47 03 3 March 2014 3 March 2022
67,284 $48 67 17 March 2014 17 March 2022
Brendan Brennan 420 $22 26 25 February 2009 25 February 2017
3,000 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
4,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
20,000 $20 59 22 February 2012 22 February 2020
15,813 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
5,014 $47 03 3 March 2014 3 March 2022
10,749 $48 67 17 March 2014 17 March 2022
Dr Steve Cutler 18,000 $17 17 7 November 2011 7 November 2019
27,000 $20 59 22 February 2012 22 February 2020
43,539 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
15,823 $47 03 3 March 2014 3 March 2022
33,937 $48 67 17 March 2014 17 March 2022
Dr John Climax 10,000 $35 33 26 Febnuary 2008 26 February 2016
50,000 $1584 30 Apnl 2009 30 Apni 2017
2,000 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
2,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnl 2020
2,500 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Or Ronan Lambe 2,000 $35 33 26 February 2008 26 February 2016
2,000 $22 26 25 February 2009 25 February 2017
2,000 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
2,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnl 2020
2,500 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

8. Payroll and related benefits (continued)

ICON pfc and Subsidiaries Annual Report 2014

Name Options Exercise price Grant date Expiry date
Prof Dermot Kelleher 2,000 $24 48 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
2,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnt 2020
2,500 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Declan McKeon 3,000 $29 45 29 Apnl 2010 29 Apnl 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2019
2,000 $22 30 27 Apnl 2012 27 Apnl 2020
2,500 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Professor Willam Halt 7,500 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Mary Pendergast 10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
DOr Hugh Brady 10,000 $40 83 23 May 2014 23 May 2022
Diarmasd Cunningham 400 $24 46 4 March 2010 4 March 2018
2,000 $20 28 3 March 2011 3 March 2018
3,000 $20 59 22 February 2012 22 February 2020
6,275 $32 37 1 May 2013 1 May 2021
2,591 $47 03 3 March 2014 3 March 2022
5,559 $48 67 17 March 2014 17 March 2022

The following Restncted Share Units (‘RSUs”) and Performance Share Units (“PSUs") have been awarded to the

Drrectors, Executive Officer and Company Secretary

Name RSUs Award date Vesting Date PSUs! Award Date Vesting date
Ciaran Murray 50,000 10 February 2011 10 February 2016 62,299 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
31,149 1 May 2013 1 May 2015 63,638 3 March 2014 3 March 2017

31,149 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
Brendan Brennan 20,000 21 February 2012 3 March 2015 12,650 1 May 2013 1 May 216
6,325 1 May 2013 1 May 2015 10,179 3 March 2014 3 March 2017

6,325 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
Steve Cutler 30,000 21 February 2012 3 March 2015 34,831 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
17,415 1 May 2013 1 May 2015 32,125 3 March 20614 3 March 2017

17,415 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
Diarmaid 10,000 21 February 2012 3 March 2015 5,020 1 May 2013 1 May 2016
Cunningham 2,510 1 May 2013 1 May 2016 5183 3 March 2014 3 March 2017

863 3 March 2014 3 March 2015

863 3 March 2014 3 March 2016

865 3 March 2014 3 March 2017

(1) Of the issued PSUs, performance conditions will determine how many of them vest and, if performance fargels are

axceeded, additional PSUs will ba rssued and vest in accordance with the terms of the relevant PSU award
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8 Payroll and related benefits (continued)

Directors' and Comparniy share and share option transactions

Detalls of transactions entered into by the Directors, Executive Officers and Company Secretary 1n shares and
shares options of the Company dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 were as follows

Share options exercised

Average
Average Market pnce
Number of exercise on date
Name share options pnce of exercise
Thomas Lynch* 6,000 $21 59 $46 78
Dr John Chimax** 12,000 $2125 $52 38
Ciaran Murray™ 113,600 $19 52 $45 96
Steve Cutler™ 15,000 $17 85 $53 19
Dermot Kelleher** 8,000 $32 60 $49 11
Dr Ronan Lambe** 2,000 $21 25 $54 94
Diarmaid Cunningham ** 4,400 $20 87 $47 1
* Options exercised and shares held
** Options exercised and resulting shares sold
Shares sold
Average
Market
Number Price of
of shares Shares Sold
Thomas Lynch 6,000 $46 18

RS8Us vested and sold
Average
Number Market Price
of shares of Shares Sold

Steve Cutler 47,415 $49 11
Brendan Brennan 3,300 $38 52
Ciaran Mumay 116,000 $49 77

The market prnice of the Company’s ordinary shares dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 moved in the range
of $35 33 to $59 81 (year ended 31 December 2013 in the range of $26 70 to $44 23} The closing share price at
31 December 2014 was $50 99 (at 31 December 2013 $40 42)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

9. Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates a number of defined contnbution schemes and a defined benefil pension scheme The Group
accounts for pensicns in accordance with IAS 19R Employee Benefits {("IAS 19R")

()  Defined Contnbution Schemes

Certan ermmployees of the Group are eligble to participate n a defined contnbution plan {the “Plan®} Participants in
the Plan may elect to defer a portion of their pre-tax earnings inte a pension plan, which 1s run by an independent
party The Group matches each participant’s contnbutions typically at 6% of the participant’s annual compensation
Contnbutions to thrs plan are recorded, as a remuneration expense in the consolidated Income Statement
Contnbutions for the year ended 31 December 2014 and year ended 31 December 2013 were $22,582,000 and
$20,293,000 respectvety

The Group's United States operations maintain a retirement plan (the “U S Plan®} that qualifies as a deferred salary
arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code Participants in the U S Plan may elect to defer a
portion of therr pre-tax earnings, up to the Internal Revenue Service annual contnbution imit The Group matches
50% of each participant’'s contnbutions and each participant can contnbute up to 6% of their annual compensation
Contnbutions to the U S Plan are recorded, in the year contnbuted, as an expense In the consolidated Income
Statement Contnbutions for the year ended 31 December 2014 and year sended 31 December 2013 were
$10,514,000 and $9,816,000 respectvely

{)  Defined Benefit Plans

One of the Group's subsidianes, ICON Development Solutions Limited, which was acquired by the Group in 2003,
operates a defined benefit pension plan in the United Kingdom for certain of its employees, which i1s now closed to
new members

The plan 1s managed externally and the related pension costs and habilities are assessed n accordance with the
advice of a professicnally qualfied actuary Plan assets at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 consist of
units held in independently administered funds

Financral assumptions

The following assumptions were used in determining the fair valua of the plan assets and the present value of the
projected benefit obligation at 31 December 2014

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Discount rate 3.60% 470%
Infiation rate 3.10% 3 50%
Future pension increases 3.00% 3 40%
Future salary increases 3.60% 4 00%

The discount rate 1s determined by reference to UK long dated government and corporate bond yields at the
balance sheet date This I1s represented by the iboxx corporate bond over 15 year index plus 20 basis points At
31 December 2014 the Company, with input from its actuanal adwisors, refined its estimate of the discount rate
used in calculating the benefit obligation and reduced the premium over iboxx from 30 basis points to 20 to reflect
the change in the shape of the yield curve This change had an impact of reducing the net abhgation by $779,000
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

9. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

The following assumptions were used at the commencement of the year in determining the net penodic pension
cost for the year ended 31 December 2014

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Discount rate 4.70% 4 60%
Future salary increases 4.00% 3 40%

Mortality assumptions

Assumptions regarding mortality expenence are set based on actuanal advice in accordance with published
statistics and expenence The mortality assumptions adopted at 31 December 2014 are 130% of the standard
tables PNxAQQ, Year of Birth, no age rating for males and females, projected using long cohort improvements with
a floor of 1 00% pa These imply the following lfe expectancies, for persons retinng at age 62

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Male retinng in 2014 24.8 years 24 8 years
Female retirng in 2014 27.4 years 27 4 years
Male retinng in 2034 26.8 years 26 8 years
Fernale retinng in 2034 29.3 years 29 3 years

Consolidated Financial Statements
Movement in the net benefit obligation recognised in non-current other liabiliies was as follows

Present Value Fair Value of Total
of Obligations Plan Assets $'000
$'000 $°000

At 1 January 2014 {24,958) 21,422 (3,536)
Current service costs (91} - (91)
Interest expense/(income) {1,235} 1,004 (231}
Past Service Cost {359} - (359)
(26,643} 22 426 {4,217}

Re-measurements
Expenence adjustment {1,030} 4,420 3,380
Gain or loss from change (n demographic assumptions - - -
Gain or loss from change in financial assumptions {7,240} - (7,240}
(8,270) 4,420 {3,850}
Exchange differences 2,014 (1,568) 446

Contnbutions:

- Employers - 155 185
- Plan participants (44) 44 -
Benefit payments 68 (68) -
24 131 155
At 31 December 2014 (32,875) 25,409 {7,466)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

9. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)

Present Value

Fair Value of

of Obligations Plan Assets Total
$'000 $'000 $'000
At 1 January 2013 (22,527) 17,807 (4,720}
Current service costs (251} - {251}
Interest expense/(income) (1,005} 796 {209}
{23,783) 18,603 (5,180)
Re-measurements
Expenence adjusiment - 2,119 2,119
Gain or loss from change m demegraphic assumptions - - -
Gain or loss from change in financial assumptions (680} - {680)
(680) 2,119 1,439
Exchange differences (525} 505 (20)
Contnbutions.
- Employers - 225 225
- Plan participants {75} 75 -
Benefit payments 105 (105) -
30 185 225
At 31 December 2013 (24,958) 21,422 {3,536)

Re-measurerments are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Other Comprehensive Income are as follows

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
\
| Return on Pian Assets {excl amounts inctuded in Interest income/expense) 3,390 2,119
[ Loss from change in financial assumptions (7,240) (680)
| Comprehensive income at end of year (3,850) 1,439
i

52 {CON plc and Subsidianes Annual Report 2014




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

9. Retirement benefit abhgations (continued)

Defined benefit penston expense recognised In the Conschidated Income Staterment was as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $000

Current service cost recognised in profit or loss N 251
Net Interest expense recognised in profit or loss 23 209
Past Service Cost 359 -
Net penodic pension cost 681 460

Plan Assets Fair Value
The farr value of plan assets at 31 December 2014 is analysed as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $000
Unit funds 25,409 21,422

The assets of the scheme are invested in a unitised with profits policy The plan’s assets do not include any of the
Group’s own financial instruments, nor any property occupied by, or other assets used by the Group

At 31 December 2014 the long-term expected return on corperate bonds and gilts (fixed interest and index Iinked)
was determined by reference to bond yields and gilt yields

The underlying asset split of the funds at 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 was as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Equities - 70%
Corporate Bonds 26% 30%
Gilts T4% -

The assets of the scheme are invested with Legal and General and held in a combination of the Active Carporate
Bond Over 10 Year fund, Gilt, and Index Linked Gilt funds The overall Investment strategy 1s that approximately
70% of investments are in government bonds (poth fixed interest and index linked) and approximately 30% of
investments held in corporate bonds This resulfs in a concentration of Investments in bond type assets, although
invested n a number of diffarent bond funds
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 Decernber 2014

9. Retirement benefit cbligations {(continued)

Sensitvity assumptions
The sensitivity of the defined benefit ocbligation to changes in the weighted pnncipal assumptions 15

Change in Assumption Change in Liabilihes
Biscount Rate Decrease of 025% p a Increase by 6 2%
Rate of Inflation Increase of 0 25% pa Increase by 1 4%
Rate of Salary Growth Increase of 0 25% p a Increase by 0 2%
Rate of Mortality Increase in Ife expectancy of 1 year Increase by 3 2%

The sensitivities shown above are approximate Each sensitvity considers one change in isotation The inflation
sensitivity Includes the impact of changes to the assumptions for revaluation, pension iIncreases and salary growth
The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the penod ending 31 December 2014 15 25 years

The ptan typically exposes the Company to actuanal nsks such as investment nsk, interest rate nsk, salary growth
nsk, mortalty nsk and longewity nsk A decrease in corporate bond yields, a nse in inflation or an increase n hfe
expectancy would resuft in an increase to plan liabilities This would detnmentally impact the balance shest position
and may give nse 10 Increased charges In future ncome statements This effect would be partially offset by an
increase in the value of the plan’s bond holdings, and in qualifying death in service insurance policies that cover
mortality nsk  Additicnally, caps on inflatonary increases are in placs to protect the plan against extreme nflation

Cash flows and Matunty Profiles

The Group expects to contnbute approximately $0 1 millon of normal contnbution to the defined benefit pension
scheme for the year ended 31 December 2015 The average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the penod
ending 31 December 2014 13 25 years

10 Share based payments

Share Options

Cn 21 July 2008 the Company adopted the Employee Share Option Plan 2008 {the “2008 Employee Plan™}
pursuant to which the Compensation and Organisation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors may grant
options to any employee, or any director holding a salaned office or employment with the Company or a Subsidiary
for the purchase of ordinary shares On the same date, the Company also adopted the Consultants Share Option
Plan 2008 (the “2008 Consultants Plan"), pursuant to which the Compensation and Crganisation Committee of the
Company's Board of Directors rmay grant options to any consultant, adviser or non-Executive director retamned by
the Company or any Subsichary for the purchase of ordinary shares Each option granted under the 2008
Employees Plan or the 2008 Consuitants Plan {together the “2008 Oplion plans™ will be evidenced by a Stock
Option Agreement between the optionee and the Company The exercise price will be specified in each Stock
Option Agreement, however option pnces will not be less than 100% of the farr market value of an ordinary share
on the date the option 1s granted

An aggregate of 6 0 millon ordinary shares have been reserved under the 2008 Employes Plan as reduced by any
shares ssued or to be 1ssued pursuant to options granted under the 2008 Consultants Plan, under which a irit of
400,000 shares apples The options are awarded at the share price on grant date and vest over a service penod
Further, the maximum number of ordinary shares with respect to which options may be granted under the 2008
Employee Option Plan dunng any calendar year to any employee shall be 400,000 ordinary shares There 1s no
indmdual imi under the 2008 Consultants Option Plan No options may be granted under the plans after 21 July
2018
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

10 Share based payments (continued)

On 17 January 2003 the Company adopted the Share Option Plan 2003 (*the 2003 Plan™), pursuant to which the
Compensation and Organmsatton Committee of the Company’s Board of Director’s could grant options to employees
of the Company or its subsidianes for the purchase of ordinary shares Each grant of an option under the 2003 Plan
was to be ewidenced by a Stock Option Agreement between the optionee and the Company The exercise pnce
was to be specified in each Stock Option Agreement, however option prnces could not be less than 100% of the
farr market value of an ordinary share on the date the option was granted

An aggregate of 6 0 million ordinary shares were reserved under the 2003 Plan, and, 1n no event could the number
of ordinary shares that may be 1ssued pursuant to options awarded under the 2003 Plan exceed 10% of the
outstanding shares, as defined in the 2003 Plan, at the time of the grant Further, the maximum number of ordinary
shares with respect to which options could be granted under the 2003 Plan dunng any calendar year to any
employee was 400,000 ordinary shares The 2003 Share Option Plan expired on 17 January 2013 No new options
may be granted under this plan

Share option awards are granted with an exercise pnce equal to the market pnce of the Company's ordinary shares
at date of grant Share options typically vest over a penod of five years from date of grant and exprre eight years
from date of grant

Set out below 13 a summary of the total number of options outstanding and number of options avallable to grant
under each plan as at 31 December 2014

Outstanding Avallable to Grant
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2014 2013 2014 2013
1998 Long Term Incentive Plan 16,540 167,550 - -
2003 Stock Option Plan 776,200 1,295,528 - -
2008 Stock Option Plans 1,434,960 1,510,710 3,954,173 4,205,840
Total 2,227,700 2,973,788 3,954,173 4,205,840

The 1998 Long Term Incentive Plan expired on 14 January 2008 and no further options may be granted under this plan
The 2003 Share Option Pian expired on 17 January 2013 and no further ootions may be granted under this plan
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10 Share based payments {continued)

The total number of share oplions cutstanding and exercisable at 31 December 2014 i1s as follows

Weighted

Average

Number of Exercise

Options Price

Qutstanding at 31 December 2012 4,350,631 $23.01
Granted 264,950 $33 09
Exercised (1,249,759} $21 60
Forferted (392,034) $25 27
Cutstanding at 31 December 2013 2,973,788 $24.20
Granted 366,885 $45 82
Exercised {926,407) $24 02
Forfeited {186.666) $22 17
Qutstanding at 31 December 2014 2,227,700 $28.00
Exercisable at 31 December 2014 1,024,550 $25 03

The weighted average market pnce of the Company’s shares on date of exercise of share options durng the year

ended 31 December 2014 was $48 82 (31 December 2013 $36 21)
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

10. Share based payments {continued)

At 31 December 2014, the range of exercise pnces and weighted average remaining contractual Ife of outstanding
and exercisable options was as follows

Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average

Range Exercise Number Remamning Exercise Number Exercise
Price of Shares  Contractual Life Price of Shares Price
$1584 50,000 233 $15 84 50,000 $15 84
$16 80 90,000 483 $16 80 30,000 $16 80
$17 17 18,000 485 $17 17 6,000 $1717
%1898 600 187 $18 908 600 $1808
$1945 6,000 382 $19 45 - $19 45
$20 16 600 387 $20 16 200 $20 16
$20 28 344 811 417 $20 28 187,539 $2028
$20 59 115,200 514 $20 59 23,400 $20 59
$2125 19,741 012 $21 25 19,741 $2125
$22 26 125,637 215 $22 26 125,637 $22 26
$22 30 352,793 532 $22 30 113,729 $22 30
$23 66 8,720 557 $23 66 3,380 $23 66
$24 25 50,000 318 $24 25 50,000 $24 25
$24 46 217,907 317 %24 46 145,419 $24 486
$26 20 2,400 338 $26 20 1,920 $26 20
$26 71 4,450 570 $26 71 1,780 $26 71
$29 45 3,000 332 $29 45 2,400 $29 45
$31 49 11,650 616 $31 49 1,690 $31 49
$32 37 187,498 633 $32 37 38,608 $32 37
$3533 211,756 115 $3533 211,756 $35 33
$36 22 34,630 646 $36 22 6,921 $36 22
$37 90 10,300 693 $37 90 2,060 $37 90
$40 83 111,463 739 $40 83 680 $40 83
$41 25 1,000 167 34125 1,000 $41 25
$47 03 82,147 717 $47 03 - $47 03
$48 67 163,367 72 $48 67 - 34867
35135 4,030 760 $51 35 - $5135
$15.84 - $51.35 2,227,700 458 $28.00 1,024,550 $25.03
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10 Share based payments (continued)

Share option fair values

The overall weighted average far value of share options granted by the Company dunng the year ended 31

December 2014 was $14 13 based on the following grants

Grant Date Number of Weighted Average

Shares exercise prce
3 Mar 14 82,147 47 03
17 Mar 14 163,367 48 67
23 May 14 117,441 40 83
8 Aug 14 4,030 5135

366,985 45 82

The overall weighted average far value of share options granted by the Company dunng the year ended

31 December 2013 was $12 17 based on the following grants

Grant Date Number of Weighted Average

Shares exercise pnce
1 Mar 13 12,450 3149
1 May 13 200,203 32 37
18 June 13 40,997 3622
5Dec 13 11,300 37 90

264,950 3309

Fair value of share options — Assumptions

The farr values of options granted dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 and the year ended 31 December
2013 were calculated using a binomial option-pncing-model, using the following assumptions

Year ended

31 December

2014

Weighted average share pnce $45 82
Weighted average exercise prce $4582
Expected volatiity (1} 30%
Expected dvidend yeld -
Risk-free rate (2) 20%-21%
Rate of forced early exercise 10% p a.
Minimum gam for voluntary early exercise 25% of exercise pnce
Rate of voluntary early exercise at minimum gain 75% per annum

Year ended
31 December
2013

$33 09

$3309

40%

0 8%-2 3%

10% pa

25% of exercise pnce
75% per annum

{1) Expected volatility has been determined based upon the volatility of the Company's share pnce over a perod

which 1s commensurate with the expected termn of the ophons granted
(2) Risk-free rate 1s dependent on the grant date
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10. Share based payments (continued)

Restricted share umts

On 21 July 2008 the Company adopted the 2008 Employees Restncted Share Unit Plan (the *2008 RSU Plan”)
pursuant to which the Compensation and Organisation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors may select
any employee, or any director holding a salaned office or employment with the Company or a Subsidiary to receive
an award under the plan An aggregate of 1 0 million ordinary shares have been reserved for 1ssuance under the
2008 RSU Plan The shares are awarded at zero cost and vest over a service penod Awards under the 2008 RSU
Plan may be settled in cash or shares at the option of the Company

On 23 Apnl 2013 the Company adopted the 2013 Employees Restricted Share Unit Plan (the “2013 RSU Plan”)
pursuant to which the Compensation and Crganisation Committee of the Company's Board of Directors may select
any employee, or any director holding a salaned office or employment with the Company, or a Subsidiary to receve
Restricted Share Units {(“RSUs"} and/or Performance Share Units ("PSUs"} under the plan An aggregate of

1 6 millien ordinary shares have been reserved for 1Issuance under the 2013 RSU Plan The shares are awarded at
zero cost and vest over a service penod Awards under the 2013 RSU Plan may be settled in cash or shares at the
option of the Company

The Company has awarded RSUs and PSUs to certain key indmduals of the Group The farr value of RSU's are
based on the share price at the date of grant, with the expense spread over the vesting period The following table
summanses RSU and PSU actwvity for the year ended December 31, 2014

RSU PSU
Qutstanding Weighted Qutstanding Weighted
Number Average Number Average
of Shares Fair Value of Shares Fair Value
Qutstanding at 31 December 2013 846,459 $27 05 353,244 $33 04
Awarded 521,926 $41 84 346,108 $46 34
Shares Vested (233,726) $21 11 - -
Forferted (95,663) $32 68 (30,181) $34 62
Outstanding at 31 December 2014 1,038,996 $3519 669,171 $3078

The PSUs vest based on service and specified EPS targets over the penod 2013 — 2016 and 2014 — 2017 Since
2013, the Company has awarded a fota! of 337,738 PSUs (net of forferitures) Further PSU's up to a total of
331,433 PSU's may also be awarded depending upon actual EPS outturn from 2013 to 2017

Share based payrment expense

Operating profit for the year ended 31 December 2014 1s stated after charging $22 4 million In respect of share
based payment expense Share based payment expense has been allocated as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$°000 $'000

Direct costs 12,320 7,567
Other operating expenses 10,039 6,167
Total 22,359 13,734
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 20714

12. Intangible assets - goodwill and other (continued)

Impairment review of goodwill

Cash generating units

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to individual cash-generating units (*CGU's”)
that are expected to benefit from the combination The CGU's identified represent the lowest level within the Group
at which goodwill 1s monrtored and are not larger than the operating segments determined in accordance with
IFRS 8 Cperating Segments

The Group has identified one CGU in accordance with the provisions of IAS 36 Imparment of Assets as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $°000

Goodwill
Clinical research 478,070 371,532
478,070 371,532

impairment testing methodology and resuits

Goodwill s subject to imparment testing on an annual basis or more frequently If facts or circumstances warrant
such a review

The recoverable amount of the CGU 1s determined using a valug-in-use computation based upon discounted net
present value cash flow projections for the CGU The cash flow projections are for a penod of five years forward
together with a terminal value calculated in accordance with the Gordon’s terminal value mode! In calculating the
termminal value a long-term growth rate of 2% has been applied to the estimated maintanable cash flow in the
termenal year

Management's estmates of future cash flows are based upon current budgets and strategic plans and are reflectve
of anticipated growth rates within the CRO industry, expected growth in the Group's market share and past
expenence Key assumptions applied in determining expected future cash flows for these plans include
management's estmate of future profitability, replacement capital expendrture requirements, trade working caprtal
Investment needs and tax considerations The Group's cash flow projections are adjusted each year for actual and
expected changes n performance
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year endsd 31 December 2014

12. Intangible assets - goodwill and other {continued)

The following assumptions were applied in determining the five year projected cash flows of the Clinical Research
CGU at 31 December 2014

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Expected revenue growth rate 8% 9%
Expected growth rate for operating costs 6% 7%
Expected effective tax rate 16% 18%
Expected movement in creditors 6% 7%
Expected movement in debtors based on DSO* 45 days 45 days
Expected capital expenditure growth rate 7% 8%

*Days sales outstanding (DSO) is a measure of the number of days in the penod that the comparny takes to collact revenue DSO s
calculated based on trade debtors fess payments on account dvided by gross revenue multiphed by number of days in the penod

Expected revenue growth and the expected growth in operating costs are determined based upon the expected
growth rates used in prepanng the Group’s budgets and strategic plans In estmating budgeted revenug,
consideration Is given to current levels of backlog (| e the value of new business awards not yet recognised In
revenue} and the estimated timeframe over which this 1s expected to be recognised within revenue, together with
an estimate of revenue expected to be generated from new awards not currently within backlog In estimating
revenue from new awards consideration 15 given to current BFP (request for proposals) volumes, expected growth
rates in both the CRO ndustry and the Group’s market share, and past expenence In estimating budgeted
operating costs, consideration is given to reguired staffing levels, project related costs, facility and information
technology costs and other costs Staff costs and project related costs generally increase n Iine with revenue and
are therefore estimated based on revenue growth expectations, while facility and information costs and other costs
are relatively fixed and are thersfore projected based upon a lower growth rate An expected long term average tax
rate of 16% has been appled in determuning the projected after tax cash flows

Working caprtal investment needs are determined based upon anticipated increases in the Group's debtors and
creditors Debtors are expected to increase in line with increases in the Group's DSQ DSO 1s generally a function of
both the timing of contract fee instalments over a study or tna! duration and credit terms afforded to indmdual
customers The DSO used in conducting the impairment review 1s reflective of current and anticipated trends in

the Group’s DSC Expected long term DSO's for the Group are anticipated to be in the range of 40 to 50 days
Creditors’ are expected to increase in line with operating costs Capital expenditure 1S expectad to increase n Iine
with the Group's projected capital expenditure Investment targets

A discount rate of 8% (2013 9%} has been applied to the projected cash flows of the CGU in determuning its value-
n-use This rate 1s reflective of both the time value of money and nsks specific to the CGU The discount rate 1s
based upon the Group's weighted average cost of capital which has been determined by applying the Group’s long
term optimal caprtal structure to its costs of debt and cest of equity The Group’s cost of debt has been calculated
by applying an appropnate margin over the nsk free interest rate The Group's cost of equity has been calculated
using the capital asset pncing model and includes an appropnate equity nsk prermum over the avallable nsk free
interest rate
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

12. Intangible assets — goodwill and other (continued)

The excess of the value-in-use of the CGU at 31 December 2014, based on the assumptions above, has been
calculated as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'m Fm

Value-in use (present value of future cash flows) 5,217 3,055
Camrying amount of the Clinical Research CGU (973) (930)
Excess of value-in-use over carrying value 4,244 2,125

Senstivity Analysis

A sensitmity analysis to determine if reasonable changes in key assumptions could lead to an mpairment was
conducted at 31 December 2014 using the following revised assumptions

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
Expected revenue growth rate 5% 6%
Expected growth rate for operating costs 4% 5%
Expected capital expenditure growth rate 2% 3%
Discount rate 13% 14%

ARl other inputs remamed constant

The revised excess of the value-in-use of the CGU at 31 December 2014, using the alternative assumptions above,
has been calculated as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'m $'m

Rewvised value-in use {present value of future cash flows) 2,330 1,335
Carrying amount of the Clinical Research CGU (973) (S30)
Rewvised excess of value-in-use over carrying value 1,357 405

As the excess of the recoverable amount over the carrying value of the cash generating unit was mantained
desprte changes in key assumptions, management have concluded that no reascnable change in key assumptions
would result in an mpairment of the CGU
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 20714

13. Business Combinations

The acquisitions below have been accounted for as business combinations in accordance with the revised
IFRS 3 Business Combinations

(a) Acquisitions of Aptiv Solutions

On 7 May 2014, the Company acquired 100% of the common stock of Aptiv Solutions ("Aptiv™}, a global
biopharmaceutical and medical device development services company and leader in adaptive clinical tnals for

a cash consideration of $143 5 million including certain payments to be made on behalf of the company on
completion totallng $22 4 milion Aptw offers full-service clinical tnal consultng and regulatory support for drugs,
medical devices and diagnostics with a spectfic focus on strategy to increase product development efficiency and
productvity It 1s a market leader 1n the integrated design and execution of adaptive clinical tnals for exploratory and
late phase development as well as being an industry leader in medical device and diagnostic development in key
medtcal technology segments

The acquisition of Aptiv Solutions has been accounted for as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3
Business Combinations The following table summanses the prehminary estmated farr values of the assets acquired
and the habilities assumed

Carrying Fair Value Fair
Value Adjustment Value
$'000 $'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 3,571 - 3,571
Goodwill* - 121,946 121,946
Intangible assets — custormer relationships - 21,400 21,400
Intangible assets — order backlog - 7,900 7,800
Intangible assets — computer software 3,353 3,353
Cash and cash equivalents 3,527 - 3,627
Accounts recevable 25,091 - 25,001
Unbilled Revenue 21,154 - 21,154
Other current assets™ 5,254 - 5,254
Other non-current assets 2,911 - 2,911
Accounts payable {9,565) (2,565)
Current habidities (29,903} - (29,903)
Payrments on account {31,094} - (31.094)
Non-current other labiies ™ (24,444} - {24,444)
Purchase pnce 121,101
Cash consideration 143,500
Adjustments to cash consideration**** (22,399)
Net purchase consideration 121,101

*  Goodwill represents the acquistion of an established workforce with expenence in clinical tnal consulting and regulatory support for
drugs, madical devices and diagriostics with a specific focus on strategy to ncrease product development efficiency and productivity
Goodwifl refated to the US portion of the busmess acquired s tax deductible The Company is completing the purchase price
alfocation which will rasult in an element of the purchase pnce currently recorded as goodwill being ascnbed to separataly identifiable
mitangible assets

**  The Company has included a provisional assessment of uncertan tax benefits relating to certan histonc net operating losses
camyforwards This 1s currently under review and will be finalised within the 12 month penod from the date of acquisttion

*** The Company has a defined benefit plan covenng its employees in Switzerland as mandated by the Swiss govemment Benefits are
based on the employee's years of service and compensation Benefits are pard directly by tha Company when they becornie dug, in
conformity with the funding requirements of apphicable government reguiations An estimata of the habiiity at the date of acquisition 15
included within non-current other habiities

"t Adustments to cash considaration: represent certain one-time habilities identified at the acquisition date
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13. Business Combinations (continued)

The carrying values of accounts recevable, unbilled revenue and other current assets above are camed at
amortised cost and assumed to be approximate to therr farr values due to the short term nature of these balances

There 15 no evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due

The proforma effect of Aptv Solutions acquisition f completed on 1 January 2013 would have resulted in net
revenue and profit for the financial years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Net revenue 1,543,820 1,451,682
Profit for the year 175,066 106,103

{b) Acquisition of Chnical Thal Services Division of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc

On 15 February 2013 the Company acquired the clinical tnal services dwision of Cross Country Healthcare Inc for
an inthal cash constderation of $51 9 millon Cross Country Healthcare’s Chimical Thal Services dvision includes US
resourcing providers, ChinForce and Assent Gonsulting, whose services nclude contract staffing, permanent
placement and functional seriice provision The dvision also Includes AKOS, a leading US and EU prowder of
pharmacowvigilance and drug safety services ClinForce and Assent have been combined with ICON’s functional
service provision (*FSP"} division, DOCS, creating a leader in global resourcing and FSP, while AKOS will enhance

the services offered by ICON's medical and safety services team

The acquisition agreement also provided for certain working capital targets to be achieved by the clinical tnal
services division of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc on complstion In October 2013 the Company recewved

$0 2 mulllon on completion of this review

The acquisiion of the clinical tnal services division of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc has been accounted for as a
business combination it accordance with IFRS 3 Business Combinations The following table summanses the far

values of the assets acquired and the labilities assumed

Carrving Fair Value Fair

Value Adjustment Value

$'000 $'000 $'000

Property, plant and equipment 293 - 293
Goodwill - 36,922 36,922
Intangible asset - computer software - 46 46
Intangible asset - customer relationships - 3,300 3,300
Intangible asset - order backlog - 600 600
Cash and cash equivalents 1,039 - 1,039
Accounts receivable 9,200 - 9,200
Unbilled Revenue 2,128 - 2,128
Other current assets 465 - 465
Other non-current assets 6 - 6
Current liabiliies (2,285) - (2,285}
Non-cumrent other liabilities (16) - (16}
Purchase prce 51,698
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13. Business Combinations {continued)

Goodwill represents the acquisition of an established workforce with expenence in the clinical research industry,
thereby allowing the Company to enhance its capabiliies mn global resourcing and FSP and also medical and safety
services Goodwill related to the US portion of the business acquired 1s tax deductible

The carrying values of accounts receivable, unbilled revenue and other current assets above are camed at
amortised cost and assumed to be approximate to therr farr values due to the short term nature of these balances
There 1s no evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due

The proforma effect of the clinical tnal services division of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc acquisition If completed on
1 January 2012 would have resulted in net revenue and profit for the financial years ended December 31, 2012 and
December 31, 2013 as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2013 2012

$'000 $000

Net revenue 1,343,996 1,182,734
Profit for the year 107,379 61,648

(c) Prior pertod acquisttion of PriceSpective

On 28 February 2012 the Company acquired 100% of the common stock of PnceSpective LLC (PrniceSpective)
strategy consulting company for an inttial cash consideration of $37 1 mulion Headquartered in Phitadelphia, and
with offices in London, Los Angeles, San Diego, Raleigh and Boston, PnceSpective 1s a premier consultancy that
has a strong reputation for excellence in strategic pncing, market access, Health Economics and QOutcomes
Research ("HEOR"), due dikgence support and payer engagement services Since PnceSpective’s incorporation n
2003, it has developed strategies for dozens of new product launches, and hundreds of development and
in-market products, across 40+ disease areas Further consideration of up to $15 Q millon was payable if certain
performance milestones were achisved in respect of penods up to 31 December 2012 Cn 13 August 2012 the
Company pad $5 0 milion in relation to performance milestones for the year ended 31 Decermber 2011 Cn

29 May 2013 the Gompany pad $10 0 million in relation to the remaining performance milestones for the year
ended 31 December 2012

The acquisition of PnceSpective has been accounted for as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3
Business Combinations The following table summanses the fair values of the assets acquired and the labilities

assumed
Carrying Fair Value Farr
Value Adjustment Value
$'000 $°000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 256 - 256
Goodwil - 42,247 42,247
Intangible asset - customer relationships - 10,237 10,237
Intangible asset - order backlog - 405 405
Intangible asset - non-compete arrangements - 392 392
Cash and cash equivalents 2,311 - 2,311
Accounts recevable 2,662 - 2,662
Unbilled Revenue 1,140 - 1,140
Other current assets 236 - 236
Current liabilties (7,788) - (7,788)
Purchase pnice 52,098
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13. Business Combinations {continued)

Goodwill represents the acquistion of an established workfarce with expenence in strategic pncing, market access,
HEOR, due diigence support and payer engagement services Goodwill related to the US portion of the business
acqurred s tax deductible

The carrying values of accounts recevable, unbilled revenuea and other current assets above are camed at
amortised cost and assumed to be approximate to therr far values due to the short term nature of these balances
There 1s no evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts dus

The proforma effect of the PnceSpective acquistion if completed on 1 January 2011 would have resulted n net
revenug and profit for the financial years ended 31 Decermnber 2011 and 31 December 2012 as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

$'000 $'000

Net revenue 1,118,410 964,388
Profit for the year 58,857 21,713

{d) Prior Penod acquisition of BeyngWits Medical

On 15 February 2012 the Company acquired 100% of the common stock of BeyingWits Medical Consulting Co
Limited (BeyingWits Medical), a leading Chinese CRO, for an initial cash consideration of $9 O million Beyngwits
Madical offers full-service clinical development capabilities and has a strong track record in clinical tnal execution in
China It s a renowned expert in Chinese regulatory processes and a leading advocate of International Conference
on Harmornusation Good Chnical Practice {YICH GCP") m China In addition to boosting the Company's service
capabilities in the region, BeyingWits Medical also strengthened the Company's presence through the addition of
over 100 highly qualified and expenenced professionals in Beying, Shanghai, Chengdu, Guangzhou, Wuhan and
Hong Kong Further consideration of up to $7 O milion was payable f certain performance milestones were
achieved in respect of penods up to 31 December 2013 On 13 June 2013 the Company paid $3 8 million in
relation to performance milestones for the year ended 31 December 2012 On November 7, 2014 the Company
pad $3 2 million n relation to performance milestones for the year ended December 31, 2013

The acquisition of BenngWits has been accounted for as a business combination in accordance with IFRS 3
Business Cornbinations The following table summanses the far values of the assets acquired and the liabilities

assumed
Carrying Fair Value Fair
Value Adjustment Value
$'000 $'000 $'000
Property, plant and equipment 172 - 172
Goodwil - 13,512 13,512
Intangible asset - customer relatonships - 1,761 1,761
Intangible asset - order backlog - 376 376
Intangible asset - non-compete arangements - a7 97
Cash and cash equivalents 587 - 587
Accounts recevable 8657 - 657
Unbilled revenue 176 - 176
Other current assets 228 - 228
Deferred tax hability - (559) {559)
Current labilities {1,007} - {1.007)
Purchase price 16,000
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13 Business Combinations {continued)

Goodwill represents the acquisition of an established workforce with expenence in clinical tnal execution and

regulatory processes in China Goodwill 1s not tax deductble

The carrying values of accounts receivable, unbitled revenue and other current assets in the above table are carned
at amorhised cost and assumed to be approximate to therr farr values due to the short term nature of these
balances There 1s no evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due

The proforma effect of the BeyingWits acquisttion f completed on 1 January 2011 would have resulted mn net
revenue and profit for the financial years ended 31 Decemnber 2011 and 31 December 2012 as follows

Year Ended Year Ended

31 December 31 December

2012 2011

$'000 $'000

Net revenue 1,115,355 948,942
Profit for the year 58,275 18,899

14. Inventories

Laboratory inventones

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $'000
1,664 2,198

The cost of inventones 1s recogrised as an expense and included in direct costs i the income statement $22 6
million (2013 $29 6 millon) was charged in the Income statement for the year ended 31 December 2014

15 Accounts receiwvable

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Accounts recevable 376,414 345,729
Less amounts provided for doubtful debts {5,458} (3,148)
Accounts recewvable, net 370,956 342,581
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15 Accounts receivable (continued)

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

A provision for impairment 1s recognised where there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect
all amounts due according to the onginal terms of the receivable At 31 December 2014, the Group maintained an
imparment prowision of $5 5 milllon {2013 $3 1 milllon) Movement on the accounts recevable imparment provision

dunng the year was as follows

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Accounts receivable impairment provision
Balance at start of year 3,148 5,047
Amounts used dunng the year {502) (3,132}
Amounts provided for dunng the year 2,874 1,368
Amounts released dunng the year (62) {135}
Balance at end of year 5,458 3,148
All recenablas are due within twelve months of the year ended 31 December 2014
Further analysis of Group's accounts recewvable balances at 31 December 2014 1s as follows
Gross Net Gross Net
accounts accounts accounts accounts
receivable Impawrment receivable receivable Imparrment receivable
2014 2014 2014 2013 2013 2013
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Not past due 291,265 (252) 291,013 275,246 {11) 275,235
Past due O to 30 days 40,079 (65) 40,014 36,947 {738) 36,209
Past due 31 to 60 days 12,401 (626) 11,775 2,956 {238) 2,718
Past due 61+ days 32,669 (4,515) 28,154 30,580 (2.161) 28,419
Accounts recevable 376,414 (5,458) 370,956 345,729 (3,148) 342,581

The carrying amounts of the Group’s accounts recevables are denominated in the following currencies

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

Currency $'000 $'000
US Dollar 286,746 117,029
Euro 61,273 208,848
Sterling 11,943 8,768
Other currencies 10,994 7,936
370,956 342,581
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16.

17.

Other assets

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000

Non-current other assets
Lease deposits 8,484 6,427
Deferred employee savings scheme assets 8,605 5,880
17,089 12,307

Lease deposits patd in respect of certan premises leased by the Group are refundable on expiry of the related
leases Discounting of the non-current element has not been apphed because the discount would be rmmatenal
However, discounting may apply in the future if the non-current element becomes significant such that the

discounting impact would be matenal

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $000

Other current assets
Personnel related prepayments 414 419
Facility and information system related prepayments 14,511 8,893
General overhead prepayments 9,841 11,068
Sales tax recoverable 9,636 6,316
Other recevables 4,384 4,610
Total 38,786 31,306

Other current assets do not contain any impaired assets The maximum exposure to credit nsk at the reporting date
15 the carrying value of each recewable The Group does not hoid any collateral as secunty

Current asset investments

31 Decemntber

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

At start of year 138,317 76,183
Addittons 61,328 172,168
Disposals (102,565) (109,795)
Unrealised capital (foss)/gain - nvestments 20 (239)
At end of year 97,100 138,317

Current asset investments are reported at far value, with unrealised gams or losses recorded in other
comprehensive ncome Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 an unrealised gan of $0 02 milhon
(2013 unrealised loss of $0 2 million} was recorded Current asset Investments compnse highty liquid investrments
with matunties of greater than three menths and mimmum “A-" rated fixed and floating rate securties
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18. Cash and cash equivalents
31 December

31 December

2014 2013
$°000 $'000
Cash at bank and in hand 59,905 52,830
Short term deposits 58,995 129,689
Cash and cash eguivalents 118,900 182,519

19. Accrued and other liabilities
31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $000
Non-current other labilities
Personrel related labilities 1,059 4,278
Deferred government grants (note 21) 1,116 1,359
Retrement benefit plan net obligation {ncte 9) 7,466 3,536
Deferred employee savings scheme labilities 4,654 3,384
Total 14,295 12,657

Personnel related labilities and deferred employee savings scheme habilities are payable between 1 and 2 years
from the reporting date (see note 25) Discounting of the non-current element has not been applied because the
discount would be immatenal However, discounting may apply in the future if the non-current element becomes

significant such that the discounting impact would be matenal

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $000
Current accrued and other habilities
Personnel related liabilities 167,362 138,639
Facility and information system related habilitres 19,862 16,205
General overhead liabilibes 33,422 31,034
Other liabilhes 26,632 3,049
Short term government grants (note 21) 110 240
Total 247,388 189,167
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20. Provisions

21,

31 December

31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $000
Current provisions
Restructunng prowvision {note 7} 3,704 2,430
Acquisition consideration payable {note 13) - 3,245
Total 3,704 5675

Deferred government grants

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
At beginning of year 1,599 1,662
Additions - 225
Amortised dunng the year (213) (349)
Foreign exchange movement (160) 61
At end of year 1,226 1,599
Current 110 240
Non-current 1,116 1,359
Total 1,226 1,599

Under grant agreements amounts receved may become repayable in full or in part should certain circumstances
specified within the grant agreements occur, including downsizing by the Group, disposing of the related assets,
ceasing to carry on its busmness or the appointment of a receiver over any of its assets

. Bank credit hnes and loan facilities

On June 30, 2014 the Company entered into a five year committed muit currency revohang credit facility for
$100 0 milion with Cittbank, JP Morgan, Santander and Barclays Bank Each bank subject to the agreement has
committed $25 miliion to the facility, with equal terms and conditions in place with all institutions  The facility bears

interest at LIBOR plus a margin and includes certain composite guarantees, indemnities and pledges in favor of the

banks Amounts avallable to the Group under the facility amounted to $100 0 million at 31 December 2014
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23. Share capital

Group and Company

Authonsed share capital- No. of Ordinary Shares
Ordinary shares of par value €0 06 100,000,000
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$000 $'000
Allotted, called up and fully pard
60,106,780 (31 December 2013 61,587,257) ordinary shares of €0 06 each 5,037 5,168
Issued, fully paid share capital
At beginning of year 9,168 5,067
Employee share options exercised 74 1M
Repurchase of ordinary shares (205) -
At end of year 5,037 5,168

Holders of ordinary shares will be entitled to receive such dmdends as may he recommended by the Board of
Directors of the Company and approved by the Shareholders and/or such intenm dmdends as the board of
Directors of the Company may decide On liguidation or a winding up of the Company, the par value of the ordinary
shares will be repaid out of the assets avallable for distnbution among the holders of the ordinary shares of the
Company Holders of ordinary shares have no conversion or redemption nghts On a show of hands, every holder
of an ordinary share present in person or proxy at a general meeting of shareholders shalt have one vote, for each
ordinary share held with no indvidual having more than one vote

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 926,407 options were exerctsed by employees at an average exercise
price of $24 02 per share for total proceeds of $22 3 milion During the year ended 31 December 2014 233,726
ordinary shares were ssued In respect of certain RSU's previously awarded by the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2013 1,249,759 options were exercised by employees at an average exercise
prce of $21 60 per share for total proceeds of $27 0 milion During the year ended 31 December 2013 50,000
ordinary shares were I1ssued In respect of certan RSUs previously awarded by the Company

Share repurchase programme

On 27 October 2011 the Company announced its ntention to commence a share repurchase program of up to
$50 mullion On 22 November 2011 the Company entered into two separate share repurchase plans of up to

$10 mullion each, covenng the penods 23 November 2011 to 31 December 2011 and 1 January 2012 to 20
February 2012 respectively On 21 Febneary 2012 the Company entered mto a further share repurchase plan of up
to $20 million, covenng the penod 22 February 2012 1o 22 Apnl 2012 On 27 Apnl 2012 the Company entered into
a fourth share repurchase plan of up to $20 milllon, covenng the penod 27 Apnl 2012 1o 18 July 2012 On 30 July
2012 the Company entered into a fifth share repurchase pfan of up to $10 milion, covenng the penod 30 July 2012
10 26 October 2012 On 19 September 2014 the Company announced that it had completed a $40 milhion
redemption of the Company’s crdinary shares and that it had entered into a further program under which the
Company can acquire up to an additional $100 million of its outstanding ordinary shares {by way of redemption),

in accordance wath United States secunties laws through open market share acquisitions
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23,

24,

Share capital (continued)

Under the repurchase program, a broker purchased the Company's shares from time to time on the open market or
In prvately negotiated transactions in accordance with agreed terms and Imitations The program was designed to
allow share repurchases dunng penods when the Company would ordinanly not be permitted to do so because it
may be in possession of matenal non-public or price-sensiive Information, applicable insider trading laws or self-
imposed trading blackout perods The Company's instructions 1o the broker were irrevocable and the trading
decisions in respect of the repurchase program were made independently of and uninfluenced by the Company
The Company confirms that on entenng the share repurchase plans it had ne matenal non-public, pnce-sensitive or
inside information regarding the Company or its secunties  Furthermore, the Company will not enter into additional
plans whilst in possession of such information The tming and actual number of shares acquired by way of the
redemption will be dependent on market condihions, legal and regulatory requirements and the other terms and
kmitatrons contained in the program In addihion, acquisitions under the program may be suspended or
discontinued In certain circumstances in accordance with the agresd terms  Therefore, there can be no

assurance as to the tirming or number of shares that may be acquired under the program

Dunng the year ended December 31, 2014 2,640,610 ordinary shares were repurchased by the Company for a
total consideration of $140 O milhon There were no share repurchases completed dunng 2013 Dunng the year
ended 31 December 2012 738,341 ordinary shares were repurchased by the Company for a total consideration of
$15 6 milion Al ordinary shares repurchased by the Company were cancelled, and the nominal value of thess
shares transferred to a capital redemption reserve fund as required under Insh Company Law

Capital and reserves
31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Share based payment reserve 70,178 52,407
Capital redemption reserve 305 100
Other reserves 6,741 8,068
Foreign currency translation reserve (31,205} 4,205
Current asset investment — fair value reserve 20 -
Retaned earnings 700,154 659,817
Total 746,193 724,597

Share based payment reserve

The share based payment reserve i1s used to account for share-based payments The farr value of share based
payments i1s expensed to the income staternent over the period the related services are recewved, with a
corresponding increase in equity At 31 December 2014 the Group has recognised a cumulative charge for share
based payments of $104 5 milion net of dsferred tax (2013 $80 2 millon} The Group has also recognised a
cumulative charge of $15 6 milion (2013 $13 2 million) in reserves for the current and deferred tax effects of the
tax benefits relating to the exercise of smployee share options in excess of related cumulative compensation
expense The Group has reclassified a cumulative credrt of $49 9 millon (2013 $41 0 million} to retaned earnings
in respect of exercised and exprred share based awards
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Capital and reserves (continued)

Capital redemption reserve

The capital redemption reserve compnses the nominal value of shares repurchased and cancelled by the Group
and transferred from share capital to the capital redemption reserve fund as required under Insh Company Law
Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014, 2,640,610 (31 December 2013 nif) ordinary shares were repurchased
and cancelled by the Group

Other reserves

The Group has recogrised a non-distributable reserve of $0 8 million 1n accordance with agreements made
betwsen the Group and Enterpnse Ireland, an Insh government agency The requiremant for these non-distnbutable
reserves will expire between the penod 2014 and 2017 In 2005 the Group also recognised a capital contribution of
$6 1 millon being the farr value of outstanding ordinary shares transferred to Mr Peter Gray, formerly Vice Chairman
of the Beard of Directors and formerty Chief Executive Officer, by founding Directors, Dr John Chrmax and Dr Ronan
Lambe

Currency reserve

The currency reserve compnses all foreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the financial |
statements of foreign currency denominated opsrations of the Group since 1 June 2004, the date of transition to

IFRS As at 31 December 2014, this amounted to a cumulative gain of $21 9 milion (2013 $23 1 millon} In

addition the Group has recognised a cumulative gain for the currency impact of long termn funding amounting

10 $10 2 milion at 31 December 2014 (2013 loss of $20 O million) This 1s offset by a cumulative charge of i
$0 9 milton (2013 credit of $1 1 millon) for the related tax on the currency tmpact on long term funding

Current asset investments - fair value reserve

The current asset nvestment - farr value reserve compnses unrealised far value gamns and losses on current asset
Investments held as avatlable-for-sale The Group has recogrised a gan dunng the year ended 31 December 2014
of $0 02 milkon (2013 loss of $0 2 milion} Unrealised gains and losses are released to the Consolidated Income
Statement on disposal of the related asset

Retained earmings

In addiion to the profit for the financial year the Group has also recognised the re-measurement of the defined
benefit pension scheme in this reserve In 2014, the Group recognised a re-measurement on the defined benefit
penston scheme of $(4 1} million (31 December 2013 a re-measurement of $1 4 mithon) The Group has also
recognised a credit of $8 9 millon (2013 $11 1 miilon) I respect of exercised and expired share based awards
that have been transferred from the Option Reserve

Financial Instruments

The Board of Directors have overall responsibiity for the establishment and oversight of the Group's nsk
management framework The Group s exposed to varnous financial nsks in the normal course of its business The
pnnciple financial nsks to which 1t 1s exposed include credit nsks related to the creditworthiness of its customers
and counterparties wath which it invests surplus cash funds, Iquidity nsk associated with the avalability of sufficient
capital resources, foreign currency nsks, ncluding both translation and transaction nsk, and interest rate ngk
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25 Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group's nsk management polcies are established to identify and analyse the nsks faced by the Group, to set
appropnate nsk imits and controls, and to monitor nsks and adherence to imits Risk management policies and
systerms are reviewed regularly to reflect changes m market conditions and the Group's actvities The Group,
through its trainng and management standards and procedures, ams to develop a disciplined and constructive
control environment in which all employees understand therr roles and obhgations The Audit Committee of the
Board oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s nsk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the nsk management framework in relation to the nsks faced by the Group

Credit nsk

The Group's exposure to credit nsk anses predominately in respect of the creditworthiness of its customers in
relation to amounts due from them for the value of work performed and the creditworthiness of counterparties with
which it nvests surplus cash balances

Credit nsk pertaining to customers I1s managed by ensunng stnct credit procedures are in place, in particular
through evaluation of all new custormers and ongoing account menitonng  The Group earns revenues from
contracts with ts customers based upon certain activities and performance specifications Contract terms may
range from several weeks to several years depending on the nature of the work to be performed Such contracts
are generally ether fixed pnce or units-based In most cases, a small portion of the contract fee 1s paid at the ime
the study or tnal 1s started The balance of the contract fee 1s generally payable in instalments over the study or tnal
duration and may be based on the achievement of certain performance targets or “milestones” or, based on units
delivered, or on a fixed monthly payment schedule For instance, instalment payments may be based on patient
enroiment or delivery of the database Where customers request changes in the scope of a tnal or in the services to
be prowded, a change order or amendment s 1ssued which may result either in an increase or decrease in the
contract value The Group also contracts on a “feg-for-service” or “ime and matenals” basis

Dunng the course of the study, the Group will generally iIncur expenses which are fully reimbursable by customers
Reimbursable expenses are typically estmated and budgeted within the contract and invoiced on a monthly basis
Reimbursable expenses include payments to investigators, travel and accommodation costs and vanous cther
direct costs incurred in the course of the clinical tnal wihich are fully rembursable by the customer

Most of the Group's contracts are terminable immediately by the customer with justifiable cause or with 30 to

90 days notice without cause In the event of termination, the Group s usually entitled to all sums owed for work
performed through the notice of termination and certain costs associated with termination of the study Terrmination
or delay in the performance of a contract occurs for vanous reasons, including, but not imited to, unexpected or
undesired results, production problems resulting in shortages of the drug, adverse patient reactions to the drug, the
customer’s decision to de-emphastse a particular tnal or Inadequate patient enroliment or Investigator recruitment

The Group's top five customers accounted for approximately 53% of net revenue during the years ended 31
December 2014 and 31 December 2013 Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 31% of the Group's net
revenues were denved from its top customer With the exception of this customer no customer contnbuted mere
than 10% of net revenues dunng the penod Dunng the year ended 31 December 2013 26% of the Group's net
revenues were denved from its top customer with 10% of net revenues being denved from the Group's second
largest customer With the exception of these two customers no customer contnbuted more than 10% of net
revenues dunng this penod

The maximum exposure of credit nisk pertaning to customers 15 the camying value of accounts recewvable and
untnlled revenue balances The carrying value of accounts recevable and unbilled revenue balances, by geographic
region, at 31 December 2014 was as follows
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Accounts Receivable Unbilled Revenue

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2013 2014 2013

$'000 $'000 $°000 $'000

Europe 241,158 221,356 58,599 58,596
United States 124,159 117,546 80,403 53,256
Rest of World 5,642 3,679 7,161 1,387
Total 370,956 342,581 146,163 113,238

Creditt nsk exposure also anses due to the investment of Group surplus cash in various financial instruments The
Group's treasury function actively manages cash resources and invests surplus cash balances with vanous financral
institutions i accordance with strict credit nsk management policies and controls as specified by the Group’s Board
of Directors  Credit nsk 10 relation to these balances 1s managed through on-going monitoring of the credit quality
ensuring that funds are invested as per agreed mnvestment guidelines These balances are classiied as cash and
cash equivalents or current asset investments depending on the matunty of the related investment Invested cash
compnses of cash and cash equivalents with a matunty of three months or less and credit qualty 15 set at a
minimum credit ratng of BB+ for overmight maturties and a minimum of A- for any bank deposits greater than
overnight and up to three morths Current asset investments compnse investments with matunties of greater than
three months The raimimum ratings required for each class of nvestment are as foliows bank deposits (A-), money
market funds (AAA), iquidity funds {(AAA} and fixed rate corporate bonds or floating rate notes (A- non-financial,
AA- financial)

Liguid and Capital Resources
The Group's ligud and caprtal resources at 31 December 2014 were as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$°000 $°000
Current asset investments (note 17} 97,100 138,317
Cash and cash equivalents [ncte 18) 118,900 182,519
Total iguid resources 216,000 320,836
Shareholders’ equity 973,195 929,550

The pnncipal operating cash requirements of the Group include payment of salanes, office rents, travel expenditures
and payments to mvestigators Other cash requirements include capital expenditures for faciities and information
system enhancements and cash required to fund acquisiions and other growth oppartunities The CRO industry 1s
generally not caprtal intensve The Group pnmanly finances its operations and growth through cash flows from
operations, together with amounts drawn under negotiated faciities as required
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25. Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group's pnmary objectives in managing its iguid and capital resources are as follows

* to mantain adequate resources to fund its continued operations,

»  to ensure avalabity of sufiicient resources to sustam future development and growth of the business,

* to mantan suffictent resources to mitigate nsks and unforeseen events which may anse

The Group manages nsks associated with hquid and capital resources through ongeing monitonng of actual and
forecast cash balances and by reviewing the existing and future cash requirements cof the business It ensures that
sufficient headroom 1s avalable under the Group's existing negotiated faciiities and negotiates additional facihities as
required Details of the Group’s negotiated faciity 15 set out In note 22 Bank Creait Lines and Loan Facilities There
were no funds drawn under this facility at 31 December 2014 The Group may raise additional finance through the

1Issuance of ordinary shares or debt as required

The following table sets out details of the matunty of the Group's financial habilities into the relevant matunty
groupings based on the remaining period from the financial year end date to contractual matunty date

Year ended 31 December 2014

Carrying Contractual 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than
Amount months years years b years
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $'000
Non-current other liabilihes® 5,713) - 5,713) - -
Accounts payable (2,793) - - - -
Accrued and other habilities™  {247,279) - - - -
Provisions (3,704) (602) {475) (502} (991}
{259,489) (602) (6,188) {502) (991)

Year ended 31 December 2013
Carrying 6-12 1-2 2-5 More than
Amount months years years 5 years
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-current other liabilhes * (7,662) - (7,662) - -
Accounts payable {4,597) - - - -
Accrued and other habilites™  (188,927) - - - -
Prowvisions (5,675) (3.245) - - -
{206,861) (3,245} {7,662) - -

*Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year comparatives to be consistent with the current year presentation
“Non-current other liabilities above excludes retirement plan net benefit obligation (2014 $7 5 millon and 2013 $3 5 mithon) end deferrad
government grants (2014 &1 1 milhorr and 2013 $1 4 million} Accrued and other habilities excludes deferred government grants

(2014 $0 1 milhon and 2013 $0 2 mifton)
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Foreign currency nsk

The Group 15 subject to a number of foreign currency nsks given the global nature of its operations The pnncipal
foreign currency nsks to which the business i1s subject includes both foreign currency transiation nsk and foreign
currency transaction nsk Although domwciled in Ireland, the Group reports its results n US dollars As a
consequence the results of non-U S based operations, when translated into US dollars, could be affected by
fluctuations In exchange rates between the U S dollar and the currencies of those operations

The Group 1s also subject to foreign currency transaction exposures as the currency in which contracts are pnced
can be different from the currencies in which costs retating to those contracts are ncured The Group's operations
n the United States are not matenally exposed to such currency differences as the majorty of revenues and costs
arein U S dollars However, outside the United States the multinational nature of the Group's activities means that
contracts are usually pnced in a single currency, most often US dollars, Euros or pounds Sterling, while costs anse
In a number of currencies, depending on, among other things, which of the Group’s offices prowide staff for the
contract and the location of investigator sites

Although many such contracts benefit from some degree of natural hedging due to the matching of contract
revenues and costs in the same currency, wherg costs are incurred in currencies other than those in which
contracts are pnced, fluctuations in the relative value of those currencies could have a matenal effect on the results
of the Group's operations The Group regularly reviews its foreign currency exposures and usually negotiates
currency fluctuation clauses in ds contracts which allow for pnce negotiation if certain exchange rate tnggers occur

The following table sets out the Group’s transaction nsk in relation to financial assets and habiities at 31 December
2014

U.S. Dollar Sterling Euro Other Total

2014 2014 2014 2014 2014

$'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'060

Accounts recevable 3,708 6,554 54,079 7,143 71,484
Unbilled revenue/payments on account (1,018} (2,756) (23,311) {283) (27,368)
Cash and cash equivalents 1,312 409 4,721 409 6,851
Cther current assets 1,335 737 16,660 180 18,812
Cther non-current assets 62 - - 5 67
Accounts payable (708) 671) (5.711) {5906) (7,686)
Accrued and other hiabilities (1,492) (789) (37,789) (2,030 (42,110}
Other non-current other habilties - - (1,154) - {1,154)
Current tax payable - - (10,187} - (10,187)
Intergroup transactions (36,002) (10,982) (25,106} (16,093} (88,183)
Total Transaction Risk (32,803) (7,508) {27,798) (11,265) (79,374)

Foreign exchanga gains and losses recognised on the above balances are recorded in "other operating expenses” The total foreign
exchange gam mncurred duning the year ending 31 December 2014 amounted to $5 9 miflion (2013 $1 2 mifhon gan)
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The following table sets out the Group’s transaction nsk in relation to financial assets and llabities at 31 December
2013

U S. Dollar Sterling Euro Other Total

2013 2013 2013 2013 2013

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accounts recevable 148,750 2,704 1,808 o84 154,248

Unbilled revenue /{payments} on account (132,462) (2,395) 1,766 887 {132,204)
Cash and cash equivalents 130,947 8,115 811 1,279 141,152
Other current assets 947 24 573 47 1,591
Other non-current assets g2 - - 5 67
Accounts payable {544) (42) (141} (541) (1,268)
Accrued and other hiabilities (5,865) (67) (239) (143) (6,304)
Current tax payable 8 - 232 14 254
Intergroup transactions {17,710) (2,236} {15,109) (21,745) (56,800}
Total Transaction Risk 124,133 6,113 {10,299) (19,213) 100,734

Foreign exchange gains and losses recogrised on the above balances are recorded in “other operating expenses” The tolal foreign
exchange gan incurred dunng the year ending 31 December 2013 amounted to 81 2 mifion (2012 $1 2 milhon gam)

The following significant exchange rates applied dunng the year

Average Rate Closing Rate
2014 2013 2014 203
Euro 1 3 1.3361 13254 1.2098 13743
Pound Stering 1 $ 1.6548 1 5653 1 6577 18557

A simultaneous ten percent strengthening or weakening of the US Dcllar, Euro and Sterling against all other
currencies (which remained constant) would have increased or decreased profit and equity by $6 19 milion

(31 December 2013 $11 26 million) as a consequence of the retranslation of foreign currency denominated financial
assets and labilities at those dates This change in profit and equity 1s excluding the effect of foreign currency
denominated long term loans

Interest rate risk

The Group 1s exposed to interest rate nsk in respect of its cash and cash equivalents, current assst investments
and amounts drawn under negotiated faciities which are subject to vanable rates of interest The Group's treasury
function actively manages its avallable cash resources and invests significant cash balances in vanous financial
nstruments to try to ensure optimum returns for the Group’s surplus cash balances Financial instruments are
classified either as cash and cash equivalents or current asset investments depending upon the maturty of the
refated investment Funds may be invested in the form of floating rate notes and medium term minimum “A-" rated
corporate secunties The Group may be subject to Interest rate nsk in respect of interest rate changes on amounts
invested The Group manages interest rate nsk in respect of these balances by monitonng the composition of the
Group's investment portfolio on an ongoing basis having regard to current market interest rates and future trends
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in addition to interest rate nsk on surplus cash balances invested, the Group may also be subject to interest rate
nsk on amounts drawn under negotiated faciities which are subject to vanable rates of interest Details of the
Group's negotiated facility 1s set out In note 22 Bank Credit Lines and Loan Faciities There were no amounts
drawn down under this at 31 December 2014 or at 31 December 2013 The Group manages Iinterest rate nsk in
respect of amounts under negotiated faciiies through ongoing monitoning of actual and forecast cash balances,
reviewing existing and future cash requirements of the business and by reviewing existing levels of borrowings
having regard to current market interest rates and future trends

The sensitivity analysis below represents the revised amount following the hypothetical change in our interest
mncome and interest expense based on an immediate 1% movement in market nterest rates

Interest Income Interest Expense
2014 2013 2014 2013
$'000 $000 $000 $'000
As reported 1,151 086 - -
1% Increase 3,800 3,214 - -

1% Decrease - - - -

interest expense ncluded in note 4 relates to commitment fees on bank overdraft and credit faciiies and non-cash finance charges ‘
relating to acquisiian contingent consideration and therefora is not included in the abova sensitvity analysis The above analysis assumes
that afl othar vanables remain constant

Fair Values

Certain financial iInstruments are measured in the statement of financial postion at fair value using a farr value
hierarchy of valuation inputs The hierarchy prioritises the inputs into thres levels based on the extent to which
nputs used N measunng far value are observable in the market Each farr value measurement 1s reported in one of
three levels, which is determined by the lowest level input that 1s signficant to the fair value measurement In its
entirety These levels are

Level 1 Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical instrumenits traded 1n active markets

Level 2 Inputs are based upon quoted pnces for simiar nstruments In active markets, quoted prices for
dentical or similar instruments In markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques
for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or llabilities

Level 3 Inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management's estimates of assumptions that
market participants would usse i pnoing the asset or liabihty
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The far value of financial assets together with the camying amounts shown in the Statement of Financial Posttion
are as follows

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 Becember

2014 2014 2013 213
Carrying Fair Value Carrying Farvalue
Amount Level 1 Amount Level 1
$'000 $'000 $°000 $060

Financial Assets
Current asset investments 97,100 97,100 138,317 138,317
97,100 97,100 138,317 138,317

The carrying values of accounts recewvable (less iImpaiment provision), unbilled revenue, other current assets, cash
and cash equivalents and other non-current assets are carned at amortised cost and assumed to be approximats
to therr farr values due to the short term nature of these balances As such ther far values have not been disclosed

Current assst investments are stated at farr value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised n the statement of
comprehensive Income The farr value of curent asset investments Is their market pnce at the financial year end
date They are measured on the basis of level 1 nputs

The farr value of financial habilites, togsther with the camying amounts shown in the Statement of Financial Posttion
are as follows

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2014 2013 2013
Carrying Fair Value Carrying Far Value
Amount Level 3 Amount Level 3
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial Liabdrhes
Contingent consideration - - (3.245) (3.245)
- - (3,245) {3,245)

The carrying values of accounts payable, accrued and other liabilities and provisions (excluding contingent
consideration} and other non-current fiabilities, non-current provisions {excluding contingent consideration) are
camed at amortised cost and assumed 1o be approximate to their far values due to the short term nature of these
balances As such therr far values have not been disclosed

Each category of asset and hability has remained within the same level of hisrarchy as the pnor year as there has
been no change n the extent to which the inputs used in measunng farr value are or are not observable within the
market
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The following table shows a reconciiation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 far values

Contingent Contingent

Consideration Consideration

2014 2013

$'000 $000

Opening balance 3,245 46,506
Gamn included in OCI

Net change in farr value - -

Assumed in a business combination - -

Payments made dunng the year (3,245) (43,261)

Transfers out of Level 3 - -

Closing balance - 3,245

The following table shows the valuation techrigues used in measuring Level 3 far values, as well as significant

unobservable inputs used

Type Valuation Technique Significant
Unabservable Inputs

Inter-relationship between
significant unobservable inputs
and fair value measurement

Contingent The valuation model (1) Forecast future

Consideration considers the estimated cashflows
future cashflows of the {2) Forecast annual
entity growth rate

The estimated farr value would
Increase (decrease) If the forecasted
future cashflows were higher {lower)
or if the entity missed agreed targets

26 Lease commitments

The Group has several non-cancellable operating leases, pnmanly for facilties, that expire over the next 10 years
These leases generally contan renewal options and require the Group 1o pay all executory costs such as
maintenance and insurance Future minimum rental commitments for operating leases with non-cancellable terms

are as follows

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Less than one year 43,122 36,070
Between one and two years 34,733 31,815
Between two and three years 24,096 25,993
Between three and four years 19,049 17,013
Between four and five years 14,000 12,704
More than five years 54,824 40,224
Total 189,824 163,819
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27. Commitments and contingencies

(a) Capital commitments

The following capital commitments for the purchase of property, plant and equipment wers authonsed by the Group
at 31 December 2014

31 December 31 December

2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Contracted for 16,789 15,720
Not-contracted for 3,609 2,338
Total 20,398 18,058

{t) Guarantees

Where the Group enters into financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies wathin
the Group, the Group considers these to be insurance arrangements and accounts for them as such The Group
treats the guarantee contract as a contingent lliability until such time as it becomes probable that the Group will be
required to make a payment under that guarantee

The Group has guaranteed the liabilities referred to in Section 5 (¢} {i) of the Companies {Amendment) Act, 1986
N respect of the financia! year ending 31 December 2014 for the subsichary companies listed below These
subsidianes are avaiing of the exemption under Section 17 of the Companies (Amendment) Act, 1986 not

to file statutory financial statements

- ICON Clinical Research Limited

- ICON Chnical Research Property Holdings (Ireland) Limited

- ICON Chnical Research Property Development (reland) Limited
- ICON Chnical Property Holdings Limited

- ICON Clinical Property Developrnent Lirnited

- ICON Holdings Chnical Research international Limited

- Timpani

- ICON Chinical International

- Firecrest Climical bmited

- ICON Holdings

(c) Contraciual oblgations
The following represents Group contractual obligations and commercial commitments as at 31 December 2014

Payments due by penod

Less than 1t0 3 3to5 More than

Total 1 year years years 5 years

$'000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Operating lease commitments 189,824 43122 58,829 33,049 54,824
Capital commitments 20,308 20,398 - - -
Total 210,222 63,520 58,829 33,049 54,824
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27

29.

Commitments and contingencies (continued}

The Group expects to spend approximately $45 to $50 milion in the next 12 months on further INvestments n
infermation techneology, the expansion of existing factities and the addrion of new offices The Group believes that 1t
will be able to fund additional foreseeable cash needs for the next twelve months from cash flow from operations
and exssting cash balances In the future, the Group may consider acquinng businesses to enhance service
offenngs and global presence Any such acquistions may require additional external financing and the Group may,
from time to time, seek to obtan funds from public or pnvate 1ssues of equity or debt secunties There can be no
assurance that such financing will be avallable on terms acceptable to the Group

Litigatien

The Group s not party to any litigation or other legal proceedings that the Group belisves could reasonably be
expected to have a matenal adverse effect on the Group's business, results of operations and financial position

Related Parties

(1) Transactions with Directors and Executive Officer

The total compensation of the Directors and Executive Officers (key management remuneration) for the years ended
31 December 2014 and 2013 was as follows

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$’000 $'000

Salary and fees 3,527 2,758
Bonus 9,051 2,588
Other benefits 107 100
Pension contributions 383 343
Share based payments 10,073 5,771
Total 23,141 11,560

Details of ordinary shares, shares options, RSUs and PSUs held by the Directors and Executive Officers are set out
In note 8
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Details of transactions entered into by Directors and Key Executive Officer in shares and shares options of the

Company during the year ended 31 December 2014 were as follows

Share options exercised

Average Average Market

Number of exercise  pnce on date
Name share options pnce of exercise
Thomas Lynch* 6,000 $2159 34678
Cr John Clhmax*™ 12,000 $2125 $62 38
Ciaran Murray** 113,600 $1952 $4596
Steve Cutler* 15,000 $17 85 $53 19
Dermot Kelleher* 8,000 $32 60 $49 11
Dr Renan Lambe™ 2,000 $2125 $54 94
* Options exercised and shares held
** Options exercised and resulting shares sold
Shares sold
Average
Market
Number Pnce of
of shares Shares Sold
Thomas Lynch 6,000 $45 18
RSUs vested and sold Average
Market
Number Price of
of shares Shares Sold
Steve Cutler 47,415 $49 1
Brendan Brennan 3.300 $38 52
Ciaran Murray 116,000 $49 77

() Other Related Party Transactions

On 19 July 2012, Mr Peter Gray retred as a Director and employee of the Company The Company subsequently
entered into an agreement with Integntum Limited, a company controlled by Mr Gray, for the provision of
consultancy services for a penod of two years from 1 August 2012, at an agreed fes of €265,000 ($350,000}

per annum
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30. Subsequent Events

Acquisttion of MediMedia Fharma Solutions

On February 27, 2015 the Company acquired MediMedia Pharma Solutions for a total cash consideration of

$120 0 mihon Headquartered in Yardley, Pennsylvania, MediMedia Pharma Solutions includes MediMedia Managed
Markets and Complete Healthcare Communications MediMedia Managed Markets 1s a leading provider of strategic
payer-validated markst access solutions Complete Heatthcare Communications is cne of the leading medical and
scientific communication agencies working with medical affarrs, commercial and brand development teams within
Iife science companies

The following table summanses the Company's provisitonal estimates of the fair values of the assets acquired and
labiities assumed

27 February

2015

$'000

Property, plant and equpmant 796
Accounts recevable 4,877
Unbifled revenue 4,826
Prepayments and other current assets 721
Accounts payable B71)
Cther habifities (4,763)
Payments cn account {4,376)
Net assets acquired 1,410

It 18 anticipated that goodwill ansing from the acquisition of the MediMedia Managed Markets will compnse an
established workforce with experience In the provision of strategic payer-validated market access solutions white
the acquisiion of Complete Healthcare Communications will compnse an established workforce with significant
communication expenence working with medical affairs, commercial and brand development teams within the life
science Industry Other intangible assets are expected to compnse customer refationships
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31. Subsidiary Undertakings

As at 31 December 2014 the Group had the foltowing principal subsidiary undertakngs

Name Registered Office Proportion held by Group
ICON Clirucal Research Limited South County Business Park, 100%"

Leopardstown,

Dublin 18,

ICON Holdings

ICON Hoeldings Clinical Research

International Limited

DOCS Resourcing Limited

ICON Clirucal International

ICON Development Sclutions, LLC

ICON Clirucal Research, LLC

ICON Laboratory Semvices, Inc

Beacon Bioscience, Inc
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Republic of Ireland

South County Business Park,
{eopardstown,

DOublin 18,

Republic of ireland

South County Business Park,
Leopardstown,

Dubthn 18,

Republic of Ireland

South County Business Park,
Leopardstown,

Oublin 18,

Republic of Ireland

South County Business Park,
Leopardstown,

Dublin 18,

Republic of reland

7740 Milestone Parkway,
Suite 150, Hanover,

MD 21078,

USA

2100 Pennbrook Parkway,
North Wales,

PA 19454,

USA

123 Smith Street,
Farmingdale,

NY 11735,

USA

2800 Kelly Road,
Surte 200,
Warnngton,

PA 18976,

USA

100%*

100%

100%

100%

100%

o
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31. Subsidiary Undertakings {continued)

Name
ICON Eary Phase Services, LLC

PnceSpective, LLC

DOCS Global, Inc

ICON US Holdings Inc

DOCS International Belgum N V

ICON Clhinical Research EQQD

ICON Research Ltd

{lspitvanja ICON d 0 o)

ICON Clintcal Research sro

DOCS Intermational Nordic Countnes A/S

DOCS International Finland Oy

ICON Clinical Research SAR L
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Registered Office

8307 Gault Lane,
San Antonio,

TX 78209-1015,
USA

2100 Pennbrook Parkway,
North Wales,
PA 19454

2100 Pennbrook Parkway,
North Wales,

PA 19454,

USA

2100 Pennbrook Paricway,
North Wales,

PA 19454,

USA

Pegasuslaan 5,
1831 Diegem,
Belgiurm

2A, Saborna Str,
4th floor, Sofia - 1000,
Republic of Bulgana

Radnicka cesta 80,
10000 Zagreb,
Croatia

Praha 4 - Chodow,
V parku 2335/20,
PSC 148 00,
Czech Republic

Havnegads 29,
1058 Kebenhavn K,
Denmark

Mannerheiminte 12 B 5th Floor,

FIN-00100 Helsink,
Fintand

55 Avenue des Champs Pierreux,

Le Capitole Building,
92000 Nantens,
France

Proportion held by Group
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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31. Subsidiary Undertakings {continued)

Name
DOCS International France SAS

ICON Clinical Research GrmbH

DOCS International Germany GmbH

ICON Kiintkar Kutatd Korlatolt Feleldsségi
Tarsasag (ICON Chnical Research Limited
Liability Company)

ICON Clhinical Research |srael Limited

DOCSitala SRL

ICON tnvestments Linnited

DOCS International BV

DOGCS Insourcing BV

DOCS International Poland Sp zo o
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Registered Office

55 Avenue des Champs Pierreux,
Le Caprtole Building,

92000 Nanterre,

France

Heinnch-Hertz-StralBe 26,
63225,

Langen,

Hessen,

Germany

Theresienhohe 28,
80339 Munchen,
Gemnany

1037 Budapest,
Szépvolgy ut 39
Hungary

6 Haba'al Shem Tov Streat,
Led,

Zip Code 71289,

Northern Industral Area,
|srael

Via Benigno Crespi, 23
20159 Milang,

Itaty

PO Box 76,

Kleinwoert Benson House,
Wests Centre,

St Heler,

JE4 8PQ,

Jersey

Handelsweg 53,
1181 ZA Amstelveen,
The Netherlands

Handelsweg 53,
1181 ZA Amstelveen,
The Netherlands

Ul Grojecka 5,
02-019 Warsaw,
Poland

Proportion held by Group
100%

100%

100%

100%"

100%
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for the year ended 31 December 2014

31 Subsidiary Undertakings {(continued)

Name
ICON Chinical Research Sp 200

ICON Climical Research SR L

ICON Chinical Research d 0 o Beograd

IGON Clinical Research Slovakia, sro

ICON Climical Research Espana, S L

DOCS International Sweden AB

ICON Medical Imaging AG

DOCS International Switzerland GmbH

{CON Ankara Khinik Arastirma Dis
Ticaret Anonim Sirketi

ICON Clinical Research LLC

ICON pic and Subsidianies Annual Report 2014

Registered Office

Al Jerozolmskie 56C,
00-803, Warsaw,
Poland

Calea Floreasca,
Nr 133-137,

Et 3,
Bucuruesti,
Sector 1,
Romania

4th Foor,

Zorana Dyndjica 64a,
11070 Belgrade,
Serbia

Suché myto 1, 811 03,
Bratislava,
Slovak Republic

Calle Josep Pla,

Numero 2, Torre Diagonal Mar,
Piso 11,

Modulo 1,

Barcelona,

Span

Gustav Il s Boulevard 34, 5th floor,
SE-169 73 Solna,
Sweden

Gewerbestrasse 24,
4123 Allschwil,
Switzerland

Bahnhofstrasse 98/100,
CH-8001 Zunch,
Switzerland

Bestepe Mahallest Dumiupinar Butvan,
No 6/1211 06520,

Yenimahalle / Ankara,

Turkey

4th Floor,

St Poleva 24,
Kiev,

Ukraine, 03056

Proportion held by Group
100%"

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2014

31. Subsidiary Undertakings (continued)

Name
ICON Development Solutions Limited

DOCS International UK Limited

ICON Chnical Research (U K} Limited

ICON Clinical Research, S A

IGON Pesquisas Clinicas LTDA

ICON Chnical Research (Canada} Inc

Oxford Outcomes Limited

ICON Chile Limitada

ICON plc and Subsidarigs Annual Report 2014

Registered Office

Concept House,

6 Stoneycroft Rise,
Chandlers Ford,
Eastlegh,
Harmpshire,

S053 3LD,

United Kingdom

Concept House,

6 Stoneycroft Rise,
Chandlers Ford,
Eastleigh,
Hampshire,

3053 3LD,

United Kingdom

Concept House,

6 Stoneycroft Rise,
Chandlers Ford,
Eastleigh,
Hampshire,

8053 3LD,

United Kingdom

Avenida Leandro N Alem 1110,
Piso 13°,

Cwudad Auténoma de Buenos Arres,
Argentina

Av |birapuera 2332,
Torrs |l 4° Andar,
S&0 Paulo,

SP Brazl

7405 Trans-Canada Highway,
Surte 300 Saint-Laurent,
Quebec HAT 122,

Canada

19th Floor 885 West Georgia Street,
Vancouver BC VBC 3H4,
Canada

Huerfanos 770,

Piso 4,

Oficina 402 Santago,
Chile

Proportion held by Group
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

31. Subsidiary Undertakings (continued)

Name

ICON Clinical Research Mexico,
SA deCV

ICON Chinical Research Peru S A

ICON Climical Research PTY Limited

Aptiv Solutions {Australia} PTY Ltd

ICON Chinical Research Austna GmbH

ICON Clirucal Research
(Beyng) Co , Limited

ICON Clinical Research

{Beyng No 2} Co , Limited

Aptiv Solutions

Aptiv Solutions GmbH

{CON pic and Subsidiaries Annual Report 2014

Registered Office

Barranca del Muerto 329 3rd Floor,
Col San Jose Insugentes,
03900 Mexico O F

Av 28 de Julio 150,
Piso 6,

Miraflores,

Lima 18,

Peru

Surte 201,

Level 2,

2-4 Lyon Park Road,
North Ryde,

NSW 2113,
Austrahia

SCHWEIZER KOBRAS,
Level 5,

23-25 O’'Connell Sireet,
Sydney NSW 2000,
Australia

Pyrkergasse 10/6,
1190 Vienna,
Austna

Room B1101,

Tower No 1,

No 36 Nerth 3rd Ring Road East,
Dong Cheng Distnict,

Beypng,

China

Room 335,

No 8, An Ning Zhuang East Road,
Haidian Distnct,

Bering,

China

5 Rue de Talus,

67400 illkarch-Graffenstaden,
478 619 950,

RCS Strasbourg,

France

Rabert-Perthel-Str 77a,
50739 Koeln,
Germany

Proportion held by Group
100%

100%

100%"

100%

100%

100%

100%



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2013

31. Subsidiary Undertakings {continued)

Name

ICON Clinical Research India Private
Limited

ICON Clirical Research Korea Yuhan
Hoesa

ICON Clinical Research Hong Kong
Limited

ICON CRO Malaysia SDN BHD

ICON Chrical Research (Rus) LLC

ICON Clinical Research (Switzedand)
GbrmH

ICON Clinical Research (New Zealand)
Limited

ICON Clinical Research Services
Philippines, Inc

tCON plc and Subsicharies Annual Report 2014

Registered Office

RMZ Millenia Busingss Park,
Block 3A - 2nd Floor,

#143 Dr MGR Road,
Kandanchavady,

Chennai,

Tarmil Nadu,

India 600 096

18th Floor,

Capital Tower,

142, Teheran-ro,
Gangnam-gu,

Seoul,

135-924 Republic of Korea

Unit 3608, 36th/F,
Skyline Tower,

39 Wang Kwong Road,
Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Level 10, 1 Sentral, Jalan Travers,
Kuala Lumpur Sentral,

PO Box 10192,

50706 Kuala Lumpur,

Malaysia

24D Smolnaya Street,
Moscow, 125445,
Russian Federation

Gewerbestrasse 24,
4123 Allschwil,
Swatzerland

Plaza Level,

AXA Centre,

41 Shortland Street,
Auckland,

New Zealand 1010

24th Floor Salcedo Towers,
169 H V Dela Costa Street,
Salcedo Village,

Makati City,

Philippines 1227

Proportion held by Group
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

31. Subsidiary Undertakings {continued}

Name Registered Office Proportion held by Group

ICON Climical Research {Pte) Limited 24 Raffles Place #24-03 Cifford Centre, 100%
Singapore 048621

ICON Clinical Research (Thaland} Limited 1 Empire Tower, 100%
24th Floor,
Unit No 2408,
South Sathorn Road,
Yannawa,
Sathorn,
Bangkok, 10120
Thaland

ICON Clinical Research Tawan Lmited 2F, No 96, Sec 1, 100%
Chien Kou North Road,
Taiper 10495,
Tawan, RQ C

ICON Japan KK 6F-7F MD Kanda Building, 100%
9-1 Kanda Mitoyocho,
Chiyoda-ku,
Toyko 101-0053,
Japan

Niphix K K 21-7 Kabutocho, 100%
Nihonbasht,
Chuo-ku,
Toyko 103-0026,
Japan

Aptiv Solutions Ukraine LLC 4th Floor, 100%
St Poleva 24,
Kiev,
Ukraine, 03056

Aptiv Solutions (UK) Ltd 100 Park Dnve, 100%
Milton Park,
Abingdon,
Oxfordshire, OX14 4RY

Addplan Inc 2100 Pennbrook Parkway, 100%
North Wales,
Montgomery County PA 19454,
United States

* held directly

32. Approval of financial statements

The Beard of Directors approved these financial statements on 23rd Apnlt 2015
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Company Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 2014

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

Note $000 $'000
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 1 614 1,048
Intangible assets 2 197 504
Investment in subsidianes 3 468,124 524,810
Deferred tax asset 4 410 395
Total non-current assets 469,345 526,757
Current assets
Other current assets 5 2,951 2,727
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 148,272 137,072
Current taxes recewvable 151 174
Cash and cash equivalents 4,516 3,833
Total current assets 155,890 143,806
Total assets 625,235 670,563
EQUITY
Share capital 5,037 5,168
Share premmwm 221,965 199,785
Capital redemplion reserve 305 100
Share based payment reserve 58,614 44,785
Other reserves 6,071 6,071
Functional currency translation reserve (59,038) 25,885
Retaned earnings 368,553 365,282
Attnbutable to equity holders 601,507 647,076
Total equity 601,507 647,076
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabihties
Non-current other habilities & - 2,865
Total non-current habilities - 2,865
Current labilities
Accounts payable 27 608
Accrued and other labilibes & 23,701 20,014
Current taxes payable - -
Total current habiliies 23,728 20,622
Total habilities 23,728 23,487
Total equity and habihties 625,235 670,563

On behalf of the Board

Declan McKeon
Director

Ciaran Murray
Director

ICON pic and Subsichanes Annual Report 2014
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Company Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 December 2074

Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
Note $'000 $'000
Profit for the financial year 135,437 176,618
Adjustments to reconcile net iIncome to net cash generated from
operating activities
Depreciation 1 423 511
Amortisation of intangible assets 2 186 265
Share based payment 7,567 5,783
Interest on ntercompany loans 3 - {695)
Income tax expense 976 1,600
Operating cash inflow before changes in working capital 144,589 184,080
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets {224) 524
Increase in accounts payable and accrued and other labilities 263 8,595
Increase/(decrease} In iIncome taxes payable 7 {33}
Cash provided by operations 144,635 193,166
Interest paid on Group factity - (935)
Income taxes paid (976) (2,186)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 143,659 190,045
Investing activities
Purchase of computer software (a0} (250)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (106) (385)
Increase in Investment m subsidianes (13,283} (132,102)
Net cash used by investing activities (13,479) (132,737)
Financing activities
Increase in amecunts due from subsidiary undertakings {10,667) (81,544)
Proceeds from exercise of share options 22,2974 26,993
Share 1ssuance costs (20) (70
Repurchase of ordinary shares (140,030) -
Share repurchase costs {1,032) -
Net cash used in financing activities (129,475) {54,621)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 705 2,687
Effect of exchange rate changes {22) 88
Cash and cash equivalents at start of year 3,833 1,058
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,516 3,833
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Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

1. Property, plant and equipment

Office
Leasehold Computer furniture &
improvements equipment fixtures Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost
At 1 January 2014 980 2,017 1,563 4,560
Additions 2 85 3 90
Foreign currency movement (130) (268) (196) (594)
At 31 December 2014 852 1,834 1,370 4,056
Depreciation
At 1 January 2014 817 1,636 1,059 3,512
Charge for the year 55 194 174 423
Foreign currency movement (116) (228) {149) {493)
At 31 December 2014 756 1,602 1,084 3,442
Net book value
At 31 December 2014 96 232 286 614
At 31 December 2013 163 381 504 1,048
Office
Leasehold Computer furniture &
improvements equipment fixtures Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Cost
At 1 January 2013 806 1.777 1,462 4,045
Addrtions 150 182 53 385
Foreign currency movement 24 58 48 130
At 31 December 2013 980 2,017 1,563 4,560
Depreciation
At 1 January 2013 648 1,387 874 2,809
Charge for the year 161 204 156 51
Foreign currency movement 18 45 29 92
At 31 December 2013 817 1,636 1,059 3,512
Net book value
At 31 December 2013 163 381 504 1,048
At 31 December 2012 158 390 588 1,136

ICON pic and Subsidignes Annual Report 2014



Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

2. Intangible assets

Computer
Software
$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2013 1,100
Additiong 250
Foreign exchange movement 46
At 31 December 2013 1,396
Addittons 106
Elminated on disposals (192)
Foreign exchange movement (162)
At 31 December 2014 1,148
Amortisatiocn
At 1 January 2013 600
Ansing dunng the year 265
Foreign exchange movement 27
At 31 December 2013 892
Ansing during the year 186
Fareign exchange movement {127}
At 31 December 2014 951
Net book value
At 31 December 2013 197
At 31 Decernber 2013 504
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Notes to Company Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2014

3

Investment in subsidiaries

Long Term

Investment Advances to

in Subsidiary Subsidiary
Undertakings Undertakings Total
$000 $'000 $°000

Cost

At 1 January 2013 285,785 77,198 362,983
Imputed interest on long term ntercompany loans - 695 695
Additions {1) 278,793 - 278,793
Disposals / repayments (2) {30,085) {43,077) (133,162)
Share based payment 7,951 - 7,951
Share subscnption payment from subsidiary companies {13,529) - (13,529)
Foreign exchange movement 19,422 1,657 21,079
At 31 Becember 2013 488,337 36,473 524,810
Additions (3) 13,283 - 13,283
Share based payment 15,160 - 15,160
Share subscnption payment from subsicdiary companies (20,497) - {20,497}
Foreign exchange movement {60,253) (4,379) (64,632)
At 31 December 2014 436,030 32,094 468,124

(1} In September 2013, the Company invested $81 8 milllon for “A” shares In ICON Holdings In November 2013,
following an nterna! Group restructunng, the Company made a capital contnbution to ICON Holdings and ICON
Clrical Research UK Limited of $42 6 milhicn and $38 2 million respectively The Company also made an

nvestment in ICON Clinical International of $116 2 million

(2) In December 2013, the Company received a repayment of $43 1 millon in respect of long term advances Also

in December 2013, the Company redeemed shares n ICON Holdings amounting to $90 1 million

(3) In December 2014, the Company made a capital contnbution of $13 3 miflion to its subsidiary ICON Medical

Imaging AG

(4) The Dirsctors are satisfied that the fair value of investments in and loans to subsidiary undertakings s equal to or

greater than ther camying value

ICON pie and Subsidianes Annual Report 2014
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Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014

4 Deferred taxation

The net deferred tax assst at 31 December 2014 was as follows

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets
Accrued expenses and payments on account 274 270
Property, plant and equipment 106 105
Share based payment - -
Loans to subsidianes 52 52
Total deferred taxation assets 432 427
Deferred taxation habihities
Property, plant and equipment 21) (29)
Accrued expenses and payments on account (1) {3)
Total deferred taxation abilites (22) (32)
Net deferred taxation asset 410 395

The movement in temporary drifferences dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 and year ended 31 December

2013 was as follows

Balance Balance
1 January Recogrnised 31 December
2014 in Income 2014
$'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets

Accrued expenses and payments on account 270 4 274
Property plant and equipment 105 1 106
Share based payments - - -
Loans to subsichanes 52 - 52
Total deferred taxation assets 427 5 432

Deferred taxation hiabilities
Property, plant and equipment {29) 8 21)
Accrued expenses and payments on account 3) 2 {1)
Total deferred taxation liabilities {32) 10 (22)
Net deferred taxation asset 395 15 410

ICON pic and Subsriaries Annual Regport 2014




Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

4 Deferred taxation (continued)

Batance Batance
1 January Recognised in 31 December
2013 Income 2013
$'000 $'000 $'000
Deferred taxation assets

Accrued expenses and payments on account 77 193 270
Property plant and equipment 213 (108} 105
Share based payments - - -
Loans to subsidianes 142 (80} 52
Total deferred taxation assets 432 (5) 427

Deferred taxation habilities
Property, plant and squipment (29) - {29}
Accrued expenses and payments on account {7} 4 8
Total deferred taxation habilthes {36) 4 (32
Net deferred taxation asset 396 {1) aag5

At 31 December 2014 and 31 December 2013 the Company had no operating loss cary forwards for ncome tax
purposes and there were no deferred tax assets that have not been recognised

5. Other current assets

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Prepayments 1,668 1,465
Other recavables 1,283 1,262
Total 2,951 2,727

ICON pic and Subsicharnies Annual Repcrt 2014

107



108

Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

6 Accrued and other habilities

31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Non-current other habilities
Non-current other labilties - 2,865
Total - 2,865
Current liabilities
Accruals and other habiibes 23,701 20,014
Total 23,701 20,014
7. Related parties
The Company entered into the following transactions with subsidiary companies dunng the penod
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2014 2013
$'000 $'000
Income Statement
Expenses recharged to subsidiary companies 35,750 43,978
Dividend recewved from subsiciary company 140,030 -
Profit on disposal of interest in subsidianes (a) - 179,545
Imputed interest on loans charged to subsicdhary companes - 695
Total 175,780 224,218
Cash Flow Statement
Increase In intercompany debtors and investments {10,667) (213,646}
Total {10,667) (213,646}

(a) Dunng 2014, the Company receved a dividends of $140 0 mifion from its subsidiary ICON Chnical Research

Limited

(b} In May 2013, the Company disposed of its interest in ICON Germany resulting in a profit on disposal of
$58 5 milion In Novermber 2013, following an nternal Group restructunng, the Company disposed of it's interest

in ICON Clinical Research UK Limited resulting in a profit of $121 0 milion

Directors and Executive Officers of the Parent Company are the same as those for the Group For mformation oni
transactions with Directors and Executive Officers see note 28 to the Group financial statements, and for

information on Birectors’ remuneration see note 8
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Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

8.

10

Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases

The Company has several non-cancelable operating leases that expire over the next 4 years These leases generally
contain renewal options and require the Company to pay all executory costs such as maintenance and insurance
The Company recognised $3 2 millon and $3 2 million n rental expense (including rates) for the years ended
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 respectively Future mimimum rental commitments for operating
leases with non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are as follows

Minimum rental

payments

$000

2015 2,773

2016 2,432

2017 1,800

2018 1,109

Thereafter -

Total 8,214
Litigation

The Company Is not party to any Itigation or other legal proceedings that the Company believes could reasonably
be expected to have a materal adverse sffect on the Company’s business, results of operations and financial
position

Financial instruments

The Company 15 exposed to various financial nsks N the normal course of the business The Company's financial
Instruments typically compnse, cash, bank borrowings and accounts payable The main purpose of these financial
Instruments is to provide finance for the Company’s operations The main rnisks ansing from the Company’s financial
nstruments are credit nsk, quidity nsk, interest rate nsk, and foreign exchange nsk

Credit nsk

Credit nsk i1s the nsk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial Instrument fails

to meet its contractual obligations Credit nsk in respect of the Company anses on balances due from group
companies, and as the group 1s financially sound and the subsidiary entities that iCON Plc the company trades with
are In a position to make payments as and when they fall due, the Company has assessed the exposure to credit
nsk as low

Liquidity nsk

Liquidity nsk 15 the nsk that the Company will not be able to mest its financial obligations as they fall due The
Company's lquidity nsk anses from the repayment of short term debt and other obligattons as they fall due The
Company minimises iquidity nsk by ensunng that sufficient cash balances and committed bank lings of credrt are
avallable to meet its obligations as they fall due The Company's bank credit Ines and facilities are the same as
Group Details of the Group's bank credit ines and faciities are set out In note 22

ICON plc end Subsidianres Annual Report 2014
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Notes to Company Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 Decemnber 2014

10 Financial instruments (continued)

The following table sets out detaills of the matunty of the Company's financial iabilities into the relevant matunty
groupings based on the remaining penod from the financial year end date to the contractual matunty date

At 31 December 2014

Carrving Contractual 6 mths 6to 12 1to 2 2to 5 More than
Amount or less mths years years 5 years
$000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000 37000
Accounts payable (27) @7) - - - -
Accruals and other liabilities (23,701) (23,701) - - - -
(23,728) (23,728) - - - .

At 31 Decernber 2013
Carrying Contractual 6 mths 6to 12 1to2 2to 5 More than
Amount or less mths years years 5 years
$'000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000 $000
Accounts payable (608} (608) - - - -
Accruals and other habilibes (20,014} (20,014) - - - -
Non-current other habilities (2,865) - - (2.865) - -
(23,487} (20,622) - (2,865) - -

Foreign currency nsk

While the functional currency of the Company I1s Euro, the Company reports its results n U S dollars As a
consequence, the results, when translated into U S dollars, could be affected by fluctuations in exchangs
rates aganst the U S dollar At 31 December 2014 the Company had $nil US dollar denominated bank loans

{2013 $nil)

Interest rate risk

The Company finances its operations through a mixture of shareholders’ funds, borrowings and working capital
The Company borrows in desired currencies at both fixed and floating rates of interest In general the Cormpany
borrows at floating rates of interest but may borrow at fixed rates depending on rates avalable The Cormpany
determines the level of borrowings at fixed rates of interest having regard to current market rates and future trends
At 31 December 2014, the Company did not have any borrowings drawn down
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Notes to Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2014

10. Financial instruments (continued)

Fair Values

Financial instruments are measured in the statement of financial postion at far value using a far value hierarchy of
valuation inputs  The hierarchy pnontises the nputs into three levels based on the extent to which Inputs used I
measuring farr value are observable in the market Each far value measurement 1s reported in one of three levels,
which 1s determined by the lowest level input that 1s significant to the far value measurement in its entirety These

levels are

Leval 1 Inputs are based upon unadjusted quoted prices for identical nstruments traded in active markets

Level 2 Inputs are based upon quoted paces for similar instruments tn active markets, quoted pnces for
identical or similar instruments In markets that are not active and model-based valuation techniques
for which all significant assumptions are cbservable in the market or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantally the full tenm of the assets or liabilities

Level 3 Inputs are generally unobservable and typically reflect management's estimates of assumptions that

market participants would use In pncing the asset or iiability

The farr valus of the Company's financial assets and habiltres, together with the carrying amounts, which are shown
in the Statement of Fnancial Posthion, are as follows

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2014 2013 2013

Fair Fair

Carrying Value Carrying Value

Amount Leve! 3 Amount Level 3

$'000 $'000 000 $°000

Loans to/from subsichanes 32,094 32,094 36,473 36,473
32,094 32,094 36,473 36,473

The carrying values of amounts due from subsidiary undertakings, cash and cash equivalents, other current assets,
accounts payable and accruals and other liabilities are camed at amortised cost and assumed to be approximate to
tharr far values due to the short term nature of these balances

The fair value of loans to/from subsidianes for disclosure purposes 1s calculated based on the present value of
future pnnecipal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date They are
measured on the basis of level three inputs

Each category of asset and liability has remained within the same level of tnerarchy as the pnor year as there has
been no change In the extent to which the inputs used in measunng fair value are or are not observable within the
market

11. Approval of financial statements
The Board of Directors approved the Company financial staterments on 23rd Apnl 2015
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Reconciliation from IFRS to US Accounting Policies

The financial staterments of the Group set out on pages 12 to 98 have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards {*IFRS"), as adopted by the European Union (*EU IFRS"), which differ in certan signsficant
respects from generally accepted accounting pnnciples applicable mthe US (*U S GAAP"} The matenal differences as
they apply to the Group’s financial statements are as follows

{a) Financial statement format

The format of the financial statements and certan note disclosures differ under U S GAAP from those under EU IFRS
The Group prepared a ) S Secunties and Exchange Commission Form 20-F Report which was made avalable to all
sharehglders in March 2015 The financial statements included in such Form 20-F are prepared in accordance with
US Gaap

{b) Merger with PRAI

The Group accounts for business combinations under EU IFRS in accordance with the IFRS 3 Busmess Combinations
As permitted by IFRS 1 First Time Adoption of international Financial Reporting Standards the Group has only restated
business combmations from 1 June 2001 onwards Business combinations prior to this date have not been restated In
addition, goodwill has no longer been amortised since 1 June 2001, but rather Is tested annually for mparment U S
GAAP adopts different catena to EU IFRS for establishing the method of accounting to be adopted for business
combinations On 28 January 2000 the Group completed a transaction with Pacific Research Associates Inc ("PRAI"),
a Group speciahsing in data management, statishcal analysis and medical and regulatory consutting based in San
Francisco, USA The merger with PRAl was accounted for using acquisiion accounting pnnciples in accordance with
EU IFRS whilst U S GAAP required that the merger be accounted for using the pooling-of-interest method of
accounting US GAAP pooling-of-interest accounting has resulted in a number of adjustments Most significantty

) the Group's histonic US GAAP financial statements have been restated to reflect the combined results of ICON
and PRAI,

{n) the costs of the merger were expensed for U S GAAP purposes and included in the cost of acquisthion for IFRS,

{m) goodwll ansing on IFRS has been amortised over its expected ussful Ife up to 31 May 2001 No goodwill arose
on the merger under U S GAAP,

{v) the tax charge ansing on the conversion of PRAI from an S-Corporation to a C-Corporation 15 treated as a pre
acquisition charge under IFRS

(c) Share based payment expense

IFRS requires that the farr value of share based payments be expensed to the mcome statement over the penod the
related serwices are received, with a comasponding increase n equity In the year ending 31 December 2014, the Group
has accounted for share based payments under U S GAAP 1n accordance with FASB ASC 718, Compensation — Stock
Compensation, which also requires that the farr value of share based payments be expensed to the income statement
over the penod the related services are receved, with a corresponding increase In equity There 1s a difference In
recorded expense because firstly different penods are in scope for both treatments due to the different effective dates
under both standards and secondly due to different models used tc calculate the farr value of options Under US GAAP
the Black-Scholes model was used for the calculation of the expense whereas under IFRS this model 1s not the
preferred model and as such the binomial model has been used
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Reconciliation from IFRS to US Accounting Policies (continued)

{d) Deferred tax assets

IFRS requires that the far value of share based payments, including share options 1ssued to employees, 1s expensed to
the Income statement over the penod the related services are receved, with a corresponding increase in equity Under
U S tax law the Group receves a tax deduction when U § employee share options are exercised This deduction is
measured as the intnnsic value of the share options at the date the options are exercised Therefore, the tax deduction
generally anses in different amounts and in different pencds from compensation cost recogrised in the financial
statements

Under US GAAP, FASB ASC 740, Income Taxes, the Group has recognised a deferred tax asset for the cumulative
amount of compensation cost recognised in the financial statements for options that will result in a future tax deduction
A similar deferred tax asset 1s also recognised under IFRS for options that will resuit in a future tax deduction, however,
under IAS 12 income Taxes If the tax deduction avalable in future penods 1s not known at the end of the penod 1t 18
estimated based on information avatlable at the end of the penod As the tax deduction 1s dependent upon the Group's
share pnce at the exercise date, the measurement of the deductible temporary difference 1s based on the Group's share
price at the end of the penod Where the amount of the estimated future tax deducton exceeds the amount of the
related cumulative remuneration expense, the deferred tax associated with the excess Is recognised directly In equity

(e) Forward-looking statements

To the extent any statements made in this annual report deal with information that 15 not histonical, these statements are
necessanly forward-looking Because forward-looking statements relate to the future, they are subject to 1nherent
uncertanties, nsks and changes in circumstances that are difficult to predict and many of which are outside of the
Group's control  Any forward-looking statement made by the Group 1s based only on information cumently avaltable as
at the time of publication of this report Farward-looking statements are subject to the occurrence of many events
outside of the Group's control and are subject to various nisk factors that would cause our resuits to differ matenally
from those expressed in any forward-looking statement These nsk factors descnbed in Appendix A on pages 116 to
126 include, without imitation, the inherent nsk of dependence on phamaceutical and biotechnology industnes and
certan clients, termination or delay of large contracts, nsk of cost overruns, the nsk of clincal outcomes, regulatory
nsks, and market competition

{f} IAS 19R Defined Benefit Pensions

The main impact of the adoption of IAS 19R on the financial results of the Group 18 In the calculation of finance income
and charges in respect of post-employment benefit obligations The Group has recognised the net interest expense of
the defined benefit pension scheme within payroll costs {operating expenses) in the income statement under IAS19R
which consistent with the US GAAP treatment of this cost

The following 1s a summary of the materal adjustments to profit for the financial year and shareholders' equity, which
would be required, had the financial statements been prepared in accordance with US GAAP
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Reconciliation from IFRS to US Accounting Policies (continusd)

(1) Effect on profit for the financial year

Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000

Profit for the financiat year attnbutable to equity holders as stated under IFRS 175,026 107,058
US GAAP adjustments

Share based payment expense under IFRS 22,359 13,734

Share based payment expense under US GAAP (22,742) {14,220)

Deferred tax adjustments on share based payments (2,450) (3,819)

Addrtional costs defined benefit pension scheme 275 59

Net income as stated under U S GAAP 172,468 102,812

Basic earnings per Ordinary Share under U.S. GAAP $2.80 $169

Diluted earnings per Ordinary Share under U.S. GAAP $2.73 $165

() Effect on shareholders’ equity

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Shareholders’ equity as stated under IFRS 973,195 929,550
US GAAP adjustments
Goodwill ansing on merger with PRA! {15,010) (15,010)
Amortisation of goodwill ansing on merger with PRAI 1,001 1,001
Deferred tax adjustments on share based payments (8,980) (4,992)
Cther adjustments on share based payments - 30
Shareholders’ equity as stated under US GAAP 950,206 810,579
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Reconcilation from IFRS to US Accounting Policies (continueq)

() Effect on total assets

31 December

31 December

2014 2013

$'000 $'000
Total assets as stated under [FRS 1,542,399 1,450,741
US GAAP adjustments
Goodwill ansing on merger with PRAI (15,010) (15,010)
Amortisation of goodwill ansing on merger with PRAI 1,001 1,001
Deferred tax adjustments on share based payments (8,980) (4,992)
Oifset between deferred tax assets and habilies 9,440 10,720
Total assets as stated under U S GAAP 1,528,850 1,442,460
(v} Effect on total habilities

31 December 31 December

214 2013

$'000 $'000
Total habilities as stated under IFRS 569,204 521,131
US GAAP adjustments
Offset between deferred tax assets and habilities 9,440 10,720
Other adjustments on share based payments - (30}
Total habilities as stated under U S GAAP 578,644 531,881
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Appendix A: Risk Factors

Risk related to our business and operations

We depend on a mited number of chents and a loss of or significant decrease in business from them or
one or more of them could affect our business,

The increased use of strategic partnership arrangements n recent years has resufted in a greater proportion of our net
revenues being denved from a relatively imited number of customers Dunng the year ended 31 December 2014 53%
of our net revenues were denved from our top five customers, with one customer contributing more than 10% of our
net revenues dunng the penod (31%} No other customer contnbuted more than 10% of our net revenues dunng this
penod Dunng the year ended 31 December 2013 53% of our net revenues were denved from our top five customers,
with two customers indmidually contnbuting more than 10% of our net revenues dunng the penod (26% and 10%
respectively) No other customer contnbuted more than 10% of our net revenues during this penod Dunng the year
ended 31 December 2012 48% of our net revenues were denved from our top five customers, with two customers
indmadually contnbuting more than 10% of our net revenues dunng the pencd (18% and 12% respectively) No other
customer contnbuted more than 10% of net revenues dunng this penod The loss of, or a significant decrease in
business from one or more of these key customers could have a matenal adverse impact on our resulis of operations
and financial results

Many of our contracts are long-term fixed-fee contracts. We would lose money in perforrming these
contracts if the costs of performance exceed the fixed fees for these projects and we were unable to
negotiate a change order for the value of work performed

Many of our contracts are long-term fixed fee contracts Revenues on these contracts are agreed in the contract
betwaen the Group and the customer and are based on estmated time nputs to the contract Factors considered n
estimating time requirements include the complexity of the study, the number of geographical sites where trials are to be
conducted and the number of patients to be recruited at each ste The Group regularty reviews the estimated hours on
each contract to determine if the budget accurately reflects the agreed tasks to be performed taking into account the
state of progress at the tme of review The Group further endeavours to ensure that changes In scope are approprately
monitered and change orders for additional revenue are promptly negotiated for additional work as necessary If we
were to fall to recognise and negotiate change orders for changes in the resources required or the scope of the work to
be performed and the costs of performance of these contracts exceeded therr fixed fees it could matenally adversely
affect our operations and financial results

If our citents discontinue using our services, or cancel or discontinue projects, our revenue will be adversely
affected and/or we may not receve therr business in the future or may not be able to attract new clents.

Our chents may discontinue using our services completely or cancel some projects either without notice or upon short
notice The termination or delay of a large contract or of muttiple contracts could have a matenal adverse effect on our
revenue and profitabiity Histonically, clients have cancelled or discontinued projects and may in the future cancel therr

contracts with us for reasons including, amongst others

¢ the falure of products being tested to satisfy safety or efficacy requirements,

= unexpected or undesired clinical results of the product,

* adecision that a particular study 1s no longer necessary or viable,

* poor project performance, quality concerns, insufficient patient enroliment or Investigator recrutment, and
* production problems resutting in shortages of the drug

if we lose clients, we may not be able to attract new ones, and # we lose individual projects, we may not be able to
replace them
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continued)

if we fail to attract or retain qualified staff, our perfermance may suffer.

Cur business, future success and ability to continue to expand operations depends upon our ability to attract, hire, tran
and retain qualified professional, scientific and technical ocperating staff We compete for qualified professionals with
other Clinical Research Organisations “CRQOs”, temporary staffing agencies and the in-house departments of
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical dewce companies An inability to attract and retain a sufficient number of
high calibre chrical research professionals (in particular, key personnel and executives) at an acceptable cost would
impact our ability to provide our services, our future performance and results of operations

Qur ability to perform clinical trials 1s dependent upon the ability to recruit suitable willing patients.

The successiul completion of clinical tnals 18 dependent upon the ability to recruit suitable and wiling patients on which
10 test the drug under study The availability of suitable patients for enrolment on studies 1s dependent upon many
factors including, amongst others, the size of the patient population, the design of the study protocot, eligibility critena,
the referral practices of physicians, the perceived nsks and benefits of the drug under study and the avalability of
alternative medication, including medication undergoing separate clinical tnal Insufficient or inappropriate patient
enrolliment may result in the termination or delay of a study which could have a matenal adverse impact on our results
of operations

Our abilily to perform clinical trials is dependent upon our ability to recruit suitable willing investigators.

Wa contract with physicians located in hosprtals, climics or other similar sites, who serve as investigators in conducting
chinical tnals to test new drugs on therr patients Investigators supervise administration of the study drug to patients
dunng the course of the climical tnal The successful conduct of a clinical tnal 1s dependent upon the ntegnty, expenence
and capabiities of the nvestigators conducting the tnal Insufficient investigator recruitment, which in turn may lead to
insufficient or inapproprate patient enrolment, may result n the termination or delay of a study which could have a
matenal adverse impact on our results of operations

We rely on third parties for important products and services.

Wae depend on certain third parties to prowide us with products and services cntical to our business Such services
include, amongst others, suppliers of drugs for patients participating i tnats, suppliers of kits for use n our central
laboratory business, supplers of reagents for use in our testing equipment and providers of maintenance services for
our equipment The failure of any of these third parties to adequately provide the required products or serices or the
significant ncrease In the costs of such products could have a matenal adverse effect on our business

Our business depends on the confinued effectiveness and avallabiiity of our information systems, inciuding
the information systems we use to provide our services to our clients, and any system failures of, security
breaches of or cyber-attacks to these systems may matenally imit our operations or have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations.

Due to the global nature of cur bustiness and cur rellance on iNformation systems to provide our services, we use web-
enabled and other integrated information systems in delivering our services We intend to further increase the use of
these systems and such systerns will be erther developed internally or prowided by or in conjunction with ihird parties
We also provide access to similar information systems to certain clients in connection with the services we provide
them As the use, scope and complexity of our information systems continue to grow, we are exposed to and will
increasingly be exposed to the risks inherent in the development, integration and ongoing operation of evalving
information systems, ncluding

» disruption, mpament or falure of data centers, telecommunications facilities or cther key infrastructure platforms,

* secunty breaches, cyber-attacks or other falures or malfunctions in our application or information systems or their
associated hardware or other systems that we have access to or that we rely upon, and

* excessive costs, excessive delays or other deficiencies in or problems with systems development and deployment
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Appendix A' Risk Factors continued)

The matenalisation of any of these nsks may impede our ability to provide services, the processing of data, the delivery
of databases and services, and the day-to-day management of our business and could result in the corruption, loss or
unauthonzed disclosure of proprietary, confidential or other data While we have disaster recovery plans in place, they
might not adequately protect us n the event of a system fallure, secunty breach or cyber-attack Despite any
precautions we take, damage from fire, floods, humcanes, power loss, telecommunications falures, computer viruses,
information system securty breaches, cyber attack and similar events at or that impact on our vanous computer
faciliies could result m interruptions in the flow of data to our servers and from our servers to our chents Corruption or
loss of data may result in the need to repeat a tna! at no cost to the client, but at significant cost to us, or result n the
termmination of a contract or damage to our reputation  Addhionally, significant delays in system enhancements or
nadequate performance of new or upgraded systems once completed ¢ould damage our reputation and harm our
business Long-term disruptions in the infrastructure caused by events such as secunty breaches, cyber attack, natural
disasters, the outbreak of war, the escalation of hostilities and acts of terronsm, particularly invong cities in which we
have offices, could adversely affect our business

Unauthonsed disclosure of sensitive or confidential data, whether through system fallure or employee negligence, fraud
or misappropnation, could damage our reputation and cause us to lose chents Simularty, unauthonsed access to or
through our information systems or those we develop for our chients, whether by cur employees or third parties,
ncluding a cyber-attack by computer programmers and hackers who may develop and deploy viruses, worms or other
malicious software programs could result in negative publicity, significant remediation costs, legal labiity and damage to
cur reputation and could have a matenal adverse effect on our results of opsrations [n addition, our lability insurance
might not be sufficient in type, the cover provided or amount to adequately cover us aganst clarms related to secunty
breaches, cyber-attacks and other related breaches

Upgrading the information systems that support our operating processes and evoiving the technology
platform for our services pose rnisks to our business.

Continued efficient operation of our business requires that we implement standardised global business processes and
evolve our information systems to enable this implementation We have continued to undertake signrficant programs to
optimize business processes with respect to our services Our inability to effectively manage the implementation and
adapt to new processes designed into these new or upgraded systerms in a timely and cost-effective manner may resuft
In disruption to our business and negatively affect our operations

We have entered into agreements with certain vendors to provide systems development and integration senices that
develop or license to us the IT platform for programs to optimise cur busingss processes If such vendors fal to perform
as required or if there are substantial delays in developing, Implementing and updating the IT platform, our customer
delivery may be impaired, and we may have to make substantial further investments, internally or with third parties, to
achieve our objectives Additionally, our progress may be Iimited by parties with existing or claimed patents who seek to
enjon us from using preferred technology or seek license payments from us

Mesting our objectives 1s dependent on a number of factors which may not take place as we anticipate, including
obtaning adequate technoiogy-enabled services, creating IT-enabled services that our customers will find desirable and
mplementing our business model with respect to these services i we do not keep pace with rapid technological
changes in the CRO mdustry, our products and services may become less compettive or even obsolete This applies

In particular to our ICONIK and Firecrest services Also, mcreased T-related expenditures may negatively impact our
financial condition, including profitability
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continued)

We rely on our interactive response technologies to provide accurate information regarding the
randomisation of patienis and the dosage required for patients enrolled in the tnals.

We develop and maintain computer run and web based interactive response technologies to automatically manage the
randomisation of patients in tnals, assign the study drug, and adjust the dosage when required for patents enrolled in
trials we support An error in the design, programming or vahdation of these systems could lead to inappropnate
assignment or dosing of patients which could give nse to patient safety issues, incorect dosing of patients, invalidation
of the tnal and/or hability clarms against the Company among other things any of which could have a materal effect on
our financial conditions and operations

Our operations might be impacted by a disruption to travel systems.

Many of our operations rely on the avalability of arr or other transportation for the distnbution of clinical tnal matenals,
study samples and personnel While we have developed contingency plans to minimise the impact of such events, a
disruption to the avarability of arr transportation or other travel systems could have a matenal adverse impact on our
ability to provide services and results of operations

We may make, or be unable to make, acquisitions in the future, which may lead to disruptions to our
ongoing business.

We have made a number of acquisihions and will continue to review new acquisition opportunities If we are unable to
identify sutable acquisition targets, consummate an acquisition or successfully integrate an acquired company or
business, our business may be disrupted The success of an acquisition will depend upon, among other things, our
ability to

« effectively and quickly assimilate the operations and services or products of the acquired company or business,
* Integrate acquired personnel,

* retain and motivate key employees,

* retan customers, and

*  minimise the diversion of management's attention from other business concerns

In the event that the operations of an acquired company or business do not meet our performance expectations, we
may have o restructure the acquired company or business or wnte-off the value of some or all of the assets of the
acquired company or business

Senous adverse events can occur in Phase | trials

We conduct Early Phase and Proof of Pnnciple clirical tnals including fimst-in human and healthy volunteer studies
Although we have policies and procedures in place, due to the expenmental nature of these studies, serous adverse
events may anse
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continueq)

Our relationships with existing or potential customers who are in competition with each other may
adversely impact the degree to which other customers or potential customers use our services, which may
adversely affect our results of operations

The briopharmaceutical industry is hughly competitive, with biopharmaceutical companies each seeking to persuade
payers, prowiders and patients that therr drug therapies are better and more cost-effective than competing therapies
marketed or being developed by competing firms In addition to the adverse competitive interests that
biopharmaceutical companies have with each other, biopharmaceutical companies also have adverse interests with
respect to drug selection and reimbursement with other participants in the healthcare industry, including payers and
prowviders Biopharmaceutical companies also compete to be first to market with new drug theraples We regularty
prowide services to biopharmaceutical companies who compete with each other, and we sometimes provide senices
to such customers regarding competing drugs in development Qur existing or future relationships with our
biopharmaceutical customers may therefore deter cther biophamaceutical customers from using our services or may
result i our customers sesking to place limits on our ability to serve cther biopharmaceutical industry participants

In addition, our further expanston into the broader healthcare market may adversely impact our relationships with
biopharmaceutical customers, and such customers may elect not to use our services, reduce the scope of services that
we provide to them or seek to place restnctions on our ability to serve customers in the broader healthcare market with
interests that are adverse to theirs Any loss of customers or reductions in the level of revenues from a customer could
have a matenal adverse effect on our results of operations, business and prospects

We have only a limited ability to protect our intellectual property rights, and these rights are important to
our success

Our success depends, in part, upon our abiity to develop, use and protect our propnetary methodologies, analytics,
systems, technologies and other intellectual property Existing laws of the vanous countries in which we provide services
or solutions offer only imited protection of our mtellectual property nghts, and the protection in some countnes may be
very imited We rely upeon a combination of trade secrets, confidentiality policies, nondisclosure, invention assignment
and other contractual arrangements, and patent, copynght and trademark laws, to protect our intellectual property
nghts These laws are subject to change at any time and certain agreements may not be fully enforceabile, which could
further restnct our ability to protect our innovations  Our intellectual property nghts may not prevent competitors from
independently developing services smitlar to or duplicative of ours Further, the steps we take in this regard might not be
adequate te prevent or deter infingement or cther misappropnation of our intellectual property by competitors, former
employees or other third parties, and we night not be able to detect unauthonsed use of, or take appropnate and
timely steps to enforce, our intellectual property nghts Enforcing our nghts mught also require considerable time, money
and oversight, and we may not be successful in enforcing our nghts

We may, in certain circumnstances, grant a customer greater nights in intellectual property deveioped in connection with a
contract than we would normally grant In such situations, we may forego the use of all Intellectual property nghts we
create or develop, which would limit our ability to reuse or deploy that intellectual property for other customers Any
hmtation on our ability to prowde a service or solution may result in us losing revenue-generating opportunities and may
also resutt in us Incurnng additional expenses to develop or license new or modified solutions for other projects or
customers

The biopharmaceutical industry has a history of patent and other intellectual properly litigation, and we
mught be invoived in costly inteflectual property lawsuits

The biopharmaceutical industry has a history of intellectual property Iitigation, and these lawsuits will likely continue in
the future Accordingly, we may face patent infnngement suits by companies that have patents for similar business
processes or other suits alleging nfnngement of therr intellectual property nghts Legal proceedings relating to
intellectual property could be expensive, take significant ttme and divert management's attention from other business
concerns, regardless of the cutcome of the Imigation If we do not prevaill in an infingement lawsurt brought against us,
we might have to pay substantial damages, and we could be required to stop the infrnging actvity or obtain a license
to use technology on unfavorable terms Any infningement or other legal processing refated to intellectua! property could
have a matenal adverse effect on our operations and financial condtion
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Appendix A- Risk Factors (continued)

We act as legal representative for some chents.

We act as the legal representative for certain clients in certain junsdictions As we beheve that acting as legal
representative of chents exposes us to a higher nsk of liability, there 1s a designated entity within the ICON Group which
15 generally used to prowide this service In relevant junsdictrons subject to certain precondiions being met The
preconditions relate to obtaning specific insurance commitments and indemnities from the chent to cover the nature of
the exposure However, there 15 no guarantee that the specific insurance will respond and provide cover or that a chent
will fuffil its obhgations in relation to ther mdemnity

Risk Related to Our Industry

We are dependent on the continued outsourcing of research and development by the pharmaceutical,
brotechnology and medical device industries.

We are dependent upon the ability and willngness of the pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device comparies
to continue to spend on research and development and to outsource the services that we provide We are therefore
subject to nsks, uncertanties and trends that affect companies in these industrnes and that we do not control We have
benefited to date from the tendency of phanmacsutical, biotechnology and medical device companies to outsource
chnical research projects Any downturn in these industries or reduction in spending or outsourcing could matenally
adversely affect our business The following could each result in such a downturn

¢ if pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical device companies expanded upon therr in-house clinical or
development capabilities, they would be less Itkely to utiise our services,

* If governmental regulations were changed, it could affect the ability of our clients to operate profitably, which may
lead to a decrease In research spending and therefore this could have a matenal adverse effect on our business,
and

= if unfavourable economic conditions or disruptions in the credit and capial markets negatively impacted our
clients

Large pharmaceutical companies are increasingly consolidating their vendor base and entering strategic
partnership arrangements with a limted number of oulsource providers.

Large pharmaceutical companies are continually secking 1o dnve efficiencies in their development processes to both
reduce costs associated with the development ¢f new drug candidates and accelerate time to market As a result, large
pharmaceutical companies in particular are increasingly looking to consolidate the number of outsource providers with
which they engage, with many entenng strategic partnership amangements with a imited number of outsource
providers The fallure to enter strategic partnership arrangements with customers or the loss of existing customers as a
result of them entenng strategic partnershup arrangements with our competitors could have a matenal adverse impact
on our results of operations

Increased collaboration amongst pharmaceutical companies in research and development activities may
lead to fewer research opporturties

Certain pharmaceutical companies have begun to collaborate in seeking to develop new drug candidates Increased
collaboration amongst pharmaceutical companies may lead to fewer research opportunities, which in turn may lead to
fewer outsource opportunities for companies within the CRO industry A reduction In outsource opportunities as a result
of this Increased collaboration could have a matenal adverse impact on our results of operations
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continued)

We operate in a highly competitive and dynamic market

The CRO industry 1s highly competitive In particular, we compete with other large global CROs for strategic
refattonships with large pharmaceutical companies |f we ars unable to retain and renew existing strategic relationships
and win new strategic relationships, there would be a matenal adverse impact on our resufts of operations Similarly, we
compete with other CROs for work which comes outside of these strategic relationships and being unable to win work
outside of these strategic relationships would have a matenal adverse impact on our results of operations

The type and depth of services provided by CROs have changed in recent years Failure to develop and market new
services or expand existing service offenngs could adversely affect our business and operations

Risk Related to Our Financial Results and Financial Position

Our quarterly resulls are dependent upon a number of factors and can fluctuate from quarter to quarter.

Qur results of operations in any quarter can fluctuate or differ from expected or forecasted results depending upon or
due to, among other things, the number and scope of ongoing client projects, the commencement, postponement,
vanation cancellation or termination of projects in a quarter, the mix of revenue, cost overruns, employee hinng and
other factors Our net revenue in any penod 1s directly related to the number and percentage of employees who were
working on projects billable to the client dunng that penod We may be unable to compensate for pencds of
underutiisation dunng one part of a fiscal penod by augmenting revenues during another part of that penod We
believe that operating results for any particular quarter are not necessanly a meaningful indication of future results

Also, If in future quarters, we are unable to achieve efficiencies and our expenses grow faster than our net revenues, our
operatng margins, profitabiity and overall financial condition will be matenally adversely impacted

Our exposure to exchange rate fluctuations could adversely affect our resuits of operations.

Our contracts with clients are sometimes denominated Iin currencies other than the currency in which we ingur
expenses related to such contracts Where expenses are incurred in currencies other than those in which contracts are
priced, fluctuations i the relative value of those cumrencies could have a matenal adverse effect on our results of
operations

In addition, we are also subject to translation exposures as our consohdated financial results are presented in U S
dollars, while the local results of certain of our subsidianes are prepared in currencies other than U S dollars, including,
amongst others, the pound sterling and the euro Accordingly, changes in exchange rates between the U S dollar and
those other currencies will affect the translation of a subsidiary's finanoial resufts into U S dollars for purposes of
reporting our consolidated financial results

Our effective tax rate may fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter, which may adversely affact our results of
operations.

Our quarterly effective tax rate has depended and will continue to depend on the geographic distnbution of cur taxable
earnings amongst the multiple tax junsdictions In which we operate and the tax law in those Junsdictions Changes in
the geographic mix of our resufts of operations amongst these junsdictions may have a significant impact on our
effective tax rate from quarter to quarter Changes in tax law n one or more junsdictions could also have a significant
impact on our tax rate and results of operations In addition, as we operate in multiple tax junsdictions, we may be
subject to audits in certarn junsdictions  These audits may involve complex issues which could require an extended
penod of time for resolution The resolution of audt 1ssues may lead to differences, additional taxes, fines or penalties
which could have a matenal impact on our effective tax rate and our financial condstion and results of operations
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (contnueq)

Our backlog may not convert to net revenus and the rate of conversion may slow,

Our backlog consists of potentiat net revenue vet to be earned from projects awarded by clients Qur backlog at any
date 1s not necessarily a meaningful predictor of future results, due to the potential for the cancellation or delay of
projects included in the backlog No assurances can be given that we will be able to realise this backlog as net revenue
A farlure to realise backlog as net revenue could have a matenal adverse mpact on our results of operations In addition,
as the length and complexity of projects underying our backlog increases, the rate at which backlog converts to net
revenue may be slower than in the past A significant reduction in the rate at which backiog converts to net revenue
could have a matenal impact on our resufts of operations

The Group is exposed to vartous risks in relation to our cash and cash equivalents and short term
investments.

The Group’s treasury function achively manages our avallable cash resources and invests significant cash balances in
vanous financial institutions to try to ensure optimum retums for our surplus cash balances Thess balances are
classified as cash and cash equivalents or short term investments depending on the matunty of the related investment
Cash and cash equivalents compnse cash and highly iguid investments with matunties of three months or less Short
term investments compnse highly iquid investments wath matunities of greater than three months and mirimum “A-"
rated fixed and floating rate secunties

Given the global nature of cur business, we are exposed 10 vanous rnsks in relation to these balances including hguidity
nsk, credit nsk associated with the counterparties with which we invest, interest rate nsk on floating rate secunties,
sovereign nsk (our pnnciple sovereign nsk relates to investments in U S Treasury funds), and other factors

Although we have not recognised any significant losses to date on our cash and cash equivalents or short term
nvestments, any significant declines in their market values could have a matenal adverse effect on our financial position
and operating results

Risk Related to Palitical, Legal or Regulatory Environment

We may lose business opportumities as a result of health care reform and the expansion of managed care
organisations.

Numerous governments, including the U S government and governments outside of the U S have undertaken efforts
to control growing health care costs through legislation, regulation and voluntary agreements with medical care
providers and drug companies [f these efforts are successful, pharmaceutical, biotechnclogy and medical device
companies may react by spending less on research and developrment and therefore this could have a matenal adverse
effect on our business

In addition to healthcare reform proposals, the expansion of managed care organisations in the healthcare market may
result In reduced spending on research and development Managed care organisations’ efforts to cut costs by limiting
expenditures on pharmaceuticals and medical devices could result n pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device
companies spending less on research and development If this were to occur, we would have fewer business
opportunities and our revenues could decrease, possibly matenally

We may lose business as a result of changes in the regulatory environment

Various regulatory bodies throughout the world may enact legislation, rules and guidance which could introduce
changes to the requlatory enviranment for drug development and research The adoption and implementation of such
legislation, rules and guidance 1s difficult to predict and therefore could have a matenal adverse effect on our business
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continued)

Fatlure to comply wrth the regulations of the U S. Food and Drug Administration and other regulatory
authorties could result in substantial penalties and/or loss of business

The US Food and Drug Adrmunistration, or FDA, and other regulatory authonties inspect us from time t¢ time to ensure
that we comply with their regulations and guidelines, including environmental and health and safety matters We must
comply with the applicable regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical tnals in all countnes in which we
operate If we tall to comply with any of these requirements we could suffer some or all of

= terminaton of or delay in any research,
¢ disqualfication of data,

= denial of the nght to conduct business,
e cnminal penalties,

= other enforcement actions,

* loss of clients and/or business, and

* [itigation from chents and resutting matenal penalties, damages and costs

We are subject to poitical, reguiatory, operational and legal risks associated with our international
operations.

We are one of a small group of organisations with the capability and expertise to conduct clinical tnals on a global basis
We believe that this capability to prowide our services globally in most major and developing pharmaceutical markets
enhances our ability to compete for new business from large multinational pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical
device companies We have expanded gecgraphically in the past and intend to continue expanding in regions that have
the potential to mcrease our chent base or increase our investigator and patient populations We expect that revenues
earned in emerging markets will continue to account for an increasing portion of our total revenues However, emerging
market operations may present several nsks, including cvil disturbances, health concerns, cultural differences such as
employment, regulatory and business practices, volatlity in gross domestic product, economic and governmental
nstabiity, the potential for nationalisation of private assets and the imposion of exchange controls In addition,
cperating globally means the Group faces the challenges associated with coordinating its services across different
countries, time zohes and cultures

Changes in the political and regulatory ervironment in the international markets n which we operate such as price or
exchange controls could impact our revenue and profitability, and could lead to penalties, sanctions and reputational
damages If we are not compliant with those regulations Political uncertainty and a lack of instituttonal continurty In some
of the emerging, developing or other countnes in which we operate could affect the orderly operation of markets in
these economies In addition, In countnes with a large and complicated structure of government and administration,
naticnal, regional, local and other governmental bodtes may 1ssute inconsistent decistons and cpinions that could
increase our cost of regulatory comphiance and/or have a matenal adverse effect on our business

Uncertanty of the legal environment in some emerging countries could aiso hrmit our ability to enforce our nghts In
certan emerging and developing countries we enjoy less comprehensive protection for some of our nghts, including
mntellectual property nghts, which could undermine our competitive posrtion

Finally, we operate in some countnes where national laws may require not only proper books and records, but also
sufficient controls, policies and processes to ensure business 1s conducted without the influence of bnbery and
corruption Given the high level of complexity of some of these laws, the large number of employees and contractors
and the large amount of pass through costs we have in many junsdictions, there 15 a nsk that some provisions may
inadvertently be breached by the Group, for example through neglgent or corrupt behaviour of indvidual employees, or
falure to comply with certain formal documentation requirements or otherwmise Any violation of these laws or allegations
of such violations, whether mented or not, could have a matenal adverse effect on our reputation and could cause the
trading pnce of our common stock to decline
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Appendix A: Risk Factors continued)

If any of the above nsks or similar nsks associated with our international operations were to materialise, our results of
operations and financial condrtion could be matenally adversely affected

Data Privacy

Current and proposed laws and regulations relating to the confidentiality of personal data of patients and others could
lirit the scope of our services, expose us to Increased risk and lability and increase the cost of doing business, any of
which could have a matenal adverse impact on our financial condrtion and results of operations

Lrability claims brought against us could resuft in payment of substantial damages, costs and labilitres and
decrease our profitability

Chent Claims

If we breach the terms of an agreement with a clhent (for example If we fal to comply with the agreement, all applicable
regulations or Good Clinical Practice) this could result in claims against us for substantial damages which could have a
matenal adverse effect on our business As we are a “people business” in that we provide staff to provide our services
in hospitals and other sites, there 1s a nsk that our management, quality and control structures fail to quickly detect
should one or more employees or contractors fall to comply with all applicable regulations and Good Clinical Practice
and thereby expose us to the nsk of claims by clients

Clains relating to investigators

We contract with physicians who serve as investigators 1n conducting clinical tnals to test new drugs on therr patients
This testing creates the nsk of habity for personal injury to or death of the patients Although investigators are generally
required by law to maintan ther own habilty insurance, we could be named n lawsuits and incur expenses ansing from
any professional malpractice or other actions against the investigators with whom we contract

Indemnification from Chents

Indemnifications provided by cur clients against the nsk of liability for personal injury to or death of the patients ansing
from the study drug vary from client to client and from tnaf to tnal and may not be sufficient n scope or amount or the
chent may not have the financial ability to fulfill ther ndemnification obligations Furthermore, we would be hable for our
own neghigence and negligence of our employees and such negligence could lead to litigation from clients or action or
enforcement by regulatory authornties

Insurance

We maintain what we believe 1s an appropnate level of worldwide Professional Liability/Error and Omissions Insurance
We may n the future be unable to maintan or continue our current INsurance coverage on the same or similar terms  If
we are lable for a clam or settlement that 1s beyond the level of insurance coverage, we may be responsible for paying
all or part of any award or settlement amount Also, the nsurance policies contamn exclusions which mean that the
policy will not respond or provide cover in certain crcumstances

Claims to Date

To date, we have not been subject to any liability claims that are expected to have a matenal effect on our business,
however, there can be no assurance that we will not become subject to such clams in the future or that such claims will
not have a matenal effect on our business
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Appendix A: Risk Factors (continued)

Risk Related to Our Common Stock

Volatiity in the market price of our common stock could lead to losses by investors

The market price of our common stock has expenenced volatility in the past and may expenence volatility in the future
which could lead to losses for investors Factors mpacting volatiity in the market pnce of our common stock include,
amongst others, our results of operations, analyst expectations, developments impacting the industry or our
competitors and general market and economic condittons  In addition, stock markets have from tme to tme
expenenced significant price and volume fluctuations unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies
Future fluctuations in stock markets may lead to volatility in the market pnce of our common stock which could lead to
losses by investors
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